Investigation of the microbial community composition and functional potential in Namib Desert soils

by

Yashini Naidoo

Thesis presented in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Science at the University of Pretoria

Supervisors: Donald A Cowan and Rian E Pierneef

November 2020

Investigation of the microbial community composition and functional potential in Namib Desert soils

by

Yashini Naidoo

Supervisors:	Prof. Don Cowan and Dr Rian Pierneef
Department:	Department of Biochemistry, Genetics and Microbiology
University:	University of Pretoria
Degree:	PhD in Microbiology
Keywords:	Namib Desert, shotgun metagenomics, microbiome, precipitation gradient, resistome, mobilome, One Health.

Deserts constitute one-fifth of the Earth's total surface area and represent one of the harshest environments. Soil microbial communities are considered the dominant ecological drivers of these ecosystems as they are major contributors to several processes that are vital for carbon and nutrient cycling. Changes in precipitation regimes have been shown to alter soil microbial communities by causing shifts in community composition. Therefore, gradients of precipitation have been suggested as good systems to evaluate the impact of precipitation on microbial communities, which is largely unexplored in in desert ecosystems. Using 16S rRNA gene highthroughput sequencing and shotgun metagenome sequencing, the taxonomic composition and functional potential of soil prokaryotic communities across two zones with contrasting precipitation history in the Namib desert was investigated. Alpha-diversity of both taxonomic and functional profiles were not impacted by precipitation across the two zones. However, beta-diversity patterns differed significantly between the two zones. Interestingly, a small set of microbial taxa, many of which were present in low abundance, were responsible for these changes. Altogether, these results indicate that precipitation is an important factor in shaping taxonomic and functional attributes of the arid soil microbiome. Microbes in soil are known to produce antibiotics that are used to inhibit the growth of or to kill off other microbes. This gives antibiotic producers an advantage to compete for nutrients and other limited resources. Antibiotic producers encode antibiotic resistance genes that protect them from the molecules they produce. Soil is therefore the most prominent reservoir of resistance genes, harbouring up to 30% of the genes that confer resistance to antibiotics, metals and biocides, which together make up the soil resistome. Many studies have focused on the resistomes of grassland, agricultural and even cold desert soils. However, little is known about the resistome of hot deserts. With the use of shotgun metagenomics, the resistome and the mobilome in Namib Desert soils across the two above mentioned zones were identified and characterized. A variety of antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) (e.g., inhA, katG, rpoB) were detected in low abundance including those that were horizontally acquired (e.g., AAC (3')). The presence of metal/biocide resistance genes (MRGs) (e.g., arsC, MexK) in close proximity to ARGs indicated a potential co-selection of resistance to antibiotics and metals/biocides. A decoupling between bacterial community composition and ARG profiles was identified, most likely attributed to the presence of mobile genetic elements and horizontally acquired ARGs. These results showed that bacterial communities in Namib Desert soils host a number of resistance elements and that horizontal gene transfer, rather than phylogeny, could play an essential role in their dynamics.

The One Health concept is a holistic and interdisciplinary approach based on the idea that human and animal health are linked to the health of the environment. Indeed, the exhaustive use of antibiotics in humans, animal farming and other agricultural practices has resulted in the frequent appearance of antibiotic resistant bacteria in human-impacted habitats. However, antibiotic resistance in less impacted habitats (e.g., Deserts) is not well understood. A more indepth investigation of the acquired ARGs reported earlier revealed the presence of a clinically significant extended spectrum β -lactamase (*bla*_{TEM}-116). This ARG was carried on a ColE1-like plasmid also hosting a metal resistance gene coding for arsenate reductase (*ars*C). The coselection of resistance to antibiotics and metals encoded on a single mobile genetic element increases the probability of dissemination of these resistance determinants and the potential selection of multiple resistance mechanisms. In addition to these two resistance genes a P7 entero-bacteriophage was found on the same plasmid. This bacteriophage may represent a new vehicle for the propagation of the gene cluster (*bla*_{TEM}-116 and *ars*C) in these soil communities. These results highlight the importance of less impacted environments in the One Health initiative.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 The taxonomic composition of the dominant phylotypes in soils across the globe.
Re-printed from (Delgado-Baquerizo et al., 2018)2
Figure 1.2 The One Heath concept illustrating that human, animal and environmental health is
intrinsically linked and processes that affect one sector have an effect on all components of this
triad. The figure describes some of the key factors that are involved in the transmission of
resistance determinants. AB - antibiotic, AR - antibiotic resistance, ARD - antibiotic
resistance determinants. Reprinted from (Nielsen et al., 2018)
Figure 1.3 Thesis conceptual figure outlining the methodology used in the study and
highlighting the main themes of each experimental chapter14

Figure 2.1. Environmental characterization of high-rainfall (HR) and mid-rainfall (MR) Figure 2.2. Venn diagram (a) showing the number of shared and the number of unique OTUs in the high rainfall zone and the mid-rainfall zone respectively and a taxonomic heat tree (b) displaying the differences in taxon abundance between the two zones......40 Figure 2.3. Relative abundance of the major phyla based on 16S rRNA gene sequences in both rainfall zones (a), showing the significant increase of Acidobacteriota (P < 0.05) in the high Figure 2.4. The distribution of Acidobacteriota at the genus level between the high and mid-Figure 2.5. Amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) in soil communities that significantly increased (positive log2-fold change values) or decreased (negative log2-fold change values) in relative abundance in high-rainfall (HR) compared to the mid-rainfall zone (MR).......43 Figure 2.6. Alpha diversity measures (richness, phylogenetic diversity and Shannon diversity) Figure 2.7. PCoA ordination of Bray-Curtis distances (after Hellinger transformation) between microbial communities in the mid-rainfall and high-rainfall zones (PERMANOVA: F ratio = Figure 2.8. Distance-based redundancy analysis (db-RDA) plot of the prokaryotic communities in the high and mid-rainfall zones. The two significant environmental variables explaining the variability in microbial community structure are represented by the

Figure 2.9. Alpha diversity measures, richness and Shannon diversity for the two rainfall zones. Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences between means using Kruskal-Figure 2.10. PCoA ordination of Bray-Curtis distances (after Hellinger transformation) between functional profiles (SEED level 3) in the mid-rainfall and high-rainfall zones Figure 2.11. Relative abundance of functional categories (SEED subsystem level 1) for the high-rainfall and mid-rainfall zones. Statistical differences of the functional profiles were determined by STAMP, corrected P-values were calculated using the Benjamini-Hochberg Figure 2.12. Relative abundance of functional categories (SEED subsystem level 2) for the high-rainfall and mid-rainfall zones. Statistical differences of the functional profiles were determined by STAMP, corrected P-values were calculated using the Benjamini-Hochberg Figure 2.13. Mean relative abundance of proteins/protein domain families (pFam) in mid-Figure 2.14. Heatmap that shows the core functional profile generated by pFam data in the **Figure 2.15.** Networks based on correlation analysis (Spearman's $\rho > 0.8$, P < 0.01) with the taxonomic and functional profiles in the mid-rainfall (MR) and high-rainfall (HR) zones. Red nodes indicate taxonomic affiliation (at the Class level) and blue nodes indicate functional categories based on subsystems at level 2 (SEED database). 1 - Alphaproteobacteria, 2 -Entotheonella, 3 - Actinobacteria, 4 – Rubrobacteria, 5 – Myxococcia, 6 – Planctomycetes, 7 – Longimicrobia, 8 – Thermoleophilia, 9 – Chloroflexia, 10 – Vicinamibacteria, 11 –

Figure 3.4. The observed ARG alpha diversity indices measured between the two rainfall
zones
Figure 3.5. Plot displaying the correlation of relative abundance of ARGs and relative
abundance of phyla inferred by 16S rRNA data79
Figure 3.6. The mean relative abundance and distribution of MRGs between the two rainfall
zones
Figure 3.7. Plot displaying the correlation of relative abundance of MRGs and relative
abundance of phyla inferred by 16S rRNA data81

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1. The number of each ARG detected in the study according to the antibiotic resistance
gene family and the corresponding resistance mechanism

DECLARATION

By submitting this thesis electronically, I declare that the entirety of the work contained therein is my own, original work and has not been submitted by me towards a degree at this or any other tertiary institution.

Yashini Naidoo

November 2020

for aid oo

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like express my gratitude and appreciation to:

- The NRF for funding this research.
- My supervisor, Don and my co-supervisor Rian for their valuable insight, advice, guidance and for supporting and helping me develop my ideas.
- The CMEG Namib research team for assistance with sampling and the sharing of their data.
- Errol Cason for bioinformatics assistance at the very beginning. Thank you for that solid foundation.
- The strong women in my life, my Mom, my Godmother, Sharlene, my friends who became my sisters: Alacia, Rozeanne and Nikita. Thank you for your encouragement. Especially for the emotional support, the love and the laughter, xoxo.
- My brother, Darryl. For always believing in me and being my biggest cheerleader. Thank you for being the better part of long and difficult days, I love you.
- Angel, for walking right beside me every step of the way on this long and at times, difficult journey. You inspire me every day, thank you for sharing your passion for science with me. None of this would have been possible without you, I love you.

"When you want something, **all the universe conspires** in helping you to achieve it."~ Paulo Coelho

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: General Introduction	
1.1 The soil microbiome	1
1.2 The Desert soil microbiome	4
1.3 Antibiotic resistance in the environment	6
1.3.1 The origins and mechanisms of antibiotic resistance	6
1.3.2 A One Health approach to antibiotic resistance	7
1.3.3 The soil resistome	8
1.3.4 The soil resistome of deserts	11
1.4 Research questions	12
1.5 References	15

Chapter 2: Historical differences in precipitation shape microbial composition and function in Namib desert soils 33 2.1 Abstract 33 2.2 Introduction 33

2.2 Introduction	.33
2.3 Materials and methods	.35
2.3.1 Study site and sampling	.35
2.3.2 Sample preparation and DNA sequencing	.35
2.3.3 Metagenome assembly and functional annotation	.36
2.3.4 Amplicon sequence analysis	.37
2.3.5 Statistical analyses	.37
2.4 Results	.38
2.4.1 Soil chemistry and climate	.38
2.4.2 Soil taxonomic profiles	.39
2.4.3 Sources of community variation	.44
2.4.4 Soil functional profile	.46
2.4.5 Core functional profile	.49
2.4.6 Relating microbial taxonomy and function	.51
2.5 Discussion	.53
2.5.1 The effect of the environment on the diversity of the soil microbiome	.53
2.5.2 Soil functional profile	.55

2.5.3 Coupling between taxonomy and function	56
2.6 Conclusion	57
2.7 References	. 59
Chapter 3: Characterization of the soil resistome and mobilome in Namib Des	ert
soils	68
3.1 Abstract	68
3.2 Introduction	. 68
3.3 Materials and methods	71
3.3.1 Sampling, soil chemistry and climate data	71
3.3.2 DNA extraction and sequencing	72
3.3.3 Metagenome assembly and ARG annotation	72
3.3.4 Mobile genetic elements, metal resistance genes and ARG host phyla	
annotation	73
3.3.5 Amplicon sequence analysis	73
3.3.6 Data analyses	73
3.4 Results	74
3.4.1 Characterization and distribution of ARGs	74
3.4.2 Linking the microbiome and the antibiotic resistome	77
3.4.3 Identification of probable ARG hosts	78
3.4.4 Metal and biocide resistance genes (MRGs)	79
3.4.5 The mobilome	81
3.5 Discussion	81
3.5.1 Low diversity and abundance of ARGs across the transect	
3.5.2 Potential co-selection of resistance to metals/biocides and antibiotics	84
3.5.3 The occurrence of mobilome-related antibiotic resistance determinants i	n
desert soils	86
3.5.4 Decoupling between the microbiome and the resistome	87
3.6 Conclusion	88
3.7 References	89

Chapter 4: A clinically important plasmid-borne antibiotic resistance gene (β -		
lactamase TEM-116) present in desert soils		
4.1 Introduction		
4.2 Materials and methods		
4.2.1 Study site and sampling		
4.2.2 Sample preparation and DNA sequencing		
4.2.3 Metagenomic assembly and acquired ARG identification		
4.2.4 Mobile genetic elements and taxonomic identification		
4.2.5 Phage identification and metal resistance gene annotation		
4.3 Results and Discussion		
4.4 References		
Chapter 5: Conclusion and future direction		
Appendix 1		
Appendix 2		

Appendix 3

CHAPTER ONE: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER 1: General Introduction

1.1 The Soil Microbiome

Soil microbial communities are central to life on Earth, as they drive several processes that are vital for carbon and nutrient cycling and to sustain plant growth (Bahram et al., 2018; Jansson and Hofmockel, 2020). Indeed, estimates suggest that approximately 20,000 plant species are completely dependent on microbial symbionts for growth and survival (Van Der Heijden et al., 2008).

Research into the soil microbiome has revealed that soils possess an extensive range of taxa from all three domains of life (Archaea, Bacteria and Eukarya) (Islam et al., 2020). Bacterial species form the biggest group by number and diversity, most of which remain undescribed because they cannot be cultured in a laboratory. A recent study using high-throughput sequencing has found that soil bacterial communities are typically dominated by a relatively small group of phylotypes (Figure 1.1) belonging to the phyla Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Actinobacteria, Planctomycetes and few others such as the Firmicutes (Delgado-Baquerizo et al., 2018). Although, it has been shown that these groups are not equally abundant in all soils. For instance, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes and Cyanobacteria seem to be more abundant in semi-arid and desert soils compared to grassland, forest and tundra soils (Fierer et al., 2012); as opposed to Proteobacteria, Verrucomicrobia and Acidobacteria that showed the opposite trend (Noronha et al., 2017).

Considerable effort has been invested into identifying the biotic and abiotic factors that shape soil microbial communities, which will allow us to predict how microbes react to the changing environment. Soil pH has been described as the strongest factor driving bacterial diversity in soils (Bartram et al., 2014; Fierer and Jackson, 2006; Wu et al., 2017), with higher bacterial diversity in neutral soils and lower diversity in more acidic or alkaline soils. Soil moisture has also been shown to be an important driver of overall microbial activity, since soil water content helps to determine soil texture, oxygen availability and connectivity within soils (Brockett et al., 2012; Mansson et al., 2014). In addition to influencing microbial activity, changes in soil moisture can also cause shifts in both bacterial and fungal community structures in several terrestrial ecosystems (Brockett et al., 2012; Cregger et al., 2012; Y. Li et al., 2017). For

example, flooding creates physical and chemical barriers to aerobic respiration selecting for anaerobic microorganisms (Balser et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2018). On the other hand, soil desiccation creates a nutrient-poor environment with negative effects on the metabolic state of microorganisms thus decreasing microbial activity (Wang et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2016).



Figure 1.1 The taxonomic composition of the dominant phylotypes in soils across the globe. Reprinted from (Delgado-Baquerizo et al., 2018).

Other major factors that also influence bacterial community composition and diversity are carbon (Rasche et al., 2011), land use (Lauber et al., 2013) and the application of fertilizers (Herzog et al., 2015). Overall, it is clear that there are important disparities in the patterns of diversity and composition of soil microbial communities across different climates and historical contexts at both spatial and temporal scales (Hendershot et al., 2017).

The assembly of microbial communities depends largely on four fundamental processes: diversification, selection, dispersal and ecological drift (reviewed by Zhou and Ning, 2017). Diversification, dispersal and drift are considered to be stochastic processes, whereby communities are assembled randomly (Johnson et al., 2017). In contrast, selection (niche partitioning, environmental filtering) is a deterministic process, whereby microorganisms are present wherever a suitable niche exists (Shi et al., 2018). It is now widely accepted that stochastic and deterministic processes can act concurrently to regulate community assembly (Yuan et al., 2019). However, the relative importance of these two processes may vary in different environmental contexts and with time (Zhao et al., 2019). In soil ecosystems, it has been repeatedly demonstrated that microbial assembly is principally driven by deterministic processes (Gombeer et al., 2015; Johnson et al., 2017; Ronca et al., 2015), although deterministic disturbances may promote random community assembly. Studies have shown that disturbance promotes a time-dependent shift in the stochastic/deterministic balance (Dini-Andreote et al., 2015; Ferrenberg et al., 2013; Zhou et al., 2014). For instance, a wildfire event was shown to reset assembly processes by drastically altering bacterial community structure and diversity, thereby creating an environment in which stochastic processes briefly governed community assembly at initial succession stages with deterministic selection becoming stronger toward later successional stages (Ferrenberg et al., 2013).

A central goal of microbial ecology is to understand how changes in microbial community structure and composition relates to ecological functions (Bell et al., 2009; Fetzer et al., 2015; Kuang et al., 2016; O'Brien et al., 2017). Indeed, the relationship between microbial community composition and function remains controversial because microorganisms are suggested to be functionally redundant. It is therefore unclear whether soil functioning is influenced by microbial diversity and composition (Zhou et al., 2020). As a few grams of soil can contain hundreds of thousands of bacterial taxa, it is usually thought that the loss of a few species will not generally affect soil functions because the same functions can be performed by multiple species (Jia and Whalen, 2020). Therefore, in soil systems, redundancy may be high enough to assume that community composition and diversity are uncoupled from function (Bardgett and van der Putten, 2014; Maron et al., 2018).

This decoupling was corroborated, for example, by a study carried out in soils across forest ecosystems (Purahong et al., 2014), which showed a disconnection between microbial community structure and function due to a high degree of functional redundancy. In contrast, several studies support the notion that soil microbial diversity is positively associated with ecosystems functioning, with no evidence of functional redundancy (Delgado-Baquerizo et al., 2018). Nevertheless, despite the growing amount of data supporting the positive microbial diversity-function relationship, there is evidence that not all soil microorganisms are equally important for maintaining ecosystem functioning. For instance, network analyses have

revealed that co-occurring species are often organized into groups or modules of functional significance (Banerjee et al., 2018 and references therein). For example, microbial taxa from the same module were involved in specific functions such as C and N-cycles and organic contaminant degradation in contaminated soils from five oil refineries (Jiao et al., 2016). Similarly, functional modules in Antarctic aquatic systems contained key metabolic potential capacities including photoheterotrophy (Vick-Majors et al., 2014).

1.2 The desert soil microbiome

More than 45% of the Earth's terrestrial surfaces are permanently or seasonally arid and are considered deserts (Guerra et al., 2020; Šťovíček et al., 2017). Deserts are characterized by high levels of solar radiation, low levels of rainfall, extreme temperatures, low abundance of nutrients and high salt concentrations, and, therefore, are considered one of the harshest terrestrial ecosystems on the planet (Eida et al., 2018).

The soil communities of deserts have been increasingly studied over the last decade with specific interest in microbial biodiversity (Andrew et al., 2012; Belov et al., 2018; van der Walt et al., 2016), their adaptive mechanisms (McHugh et al., 2017; Šťovíček et al., 2017) and their biotechnological applications (Maza et al., 2019). There are a few variables that are frequently implicated as the main drivers of microbial diversity in deserts such as salinity (Rath et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2019), plant cover (Fernández-Gómez et al., 2019; Marasco et al., 2018) and soil chemistry (Gombeer et al., 2015; Ronca et al., 2015). Several studies have also shown that water availability is a key factor shaping microbial community composition and function (Neilson et al., 2017; She et al., 2018; Šťovíček et al., 2017). A survey of global dryland soils revealed that increasing aridity reduces microbial abundance and diversity (Maestre et al., 2015). Similarly, studies in the Atacama desert revealed that while low levels of microbial activity occur under extreme hyper-arid conditions, there was a rapid response in metabolic activity following episodic increases of water (Jones et al., 2018; Schulze-Makuch et al., 2018). Nevertheless, our understanding of the shifts in desert soil bacterial communities in response to changing environmental factors remains limited (Rath et al., 2019).

The adaptation of microbial communities to environmental stress in arid soils may include survival at the surface of hot arid soils (temperatures up to 60 °C), desiccation and intense ultraviolet (UV) radiation, which would require specific and/or unusual adaptive mechanisms

(Heulin et al., 2017). For example, members of the genus *Modestobacter* (phylum Actinobacteria), isolated from the surface of rocks in the Tunisian desert, have the ability to produce black melanin-like pigments, which serve as a source of sunscreens enabling the bacteria to tolerate high solar radiation (Essoussi et al., 2010). Interestingly, *Modestobacter* isolates from the Atacama desert soils were found to have genes that encode a 'carbon starvation protein A', which allows for the uptake of peptides during energy starvation enabling the bacteria to use alternative energy sources (Busarakam et al., 2016).

One of the most extensively documented adaptations to UV radiation is in reference to bacteria from the order Deinococcales, which interestingly also have extreme tolerance to desiccation and other oxidative stress conditions (Heulin et al., 2017). Several species of *Deinococcus* isolated from different desert soils and hot springs (reviewed by Cox and Battista, 2005; Daly, 2009) encode DNA repair proteins which are key to enabling extreme UV radiation tolerance (Yuan et al., 2012). These proteins, as the name suggests, allow the repair of stress-induced DNA damage including hundreds of DNA double-strand breaks (Slade and Radman, 2011; Yuan et al., 2012).

Water is essential to all cellular processes and microorganisms experiencing long periods of desiccation need to be adapted to moisture stress (Pointing and Belnap, 2012). Bacterial dormancy (where energy is directed at persistence rather than growth) and the production of bacterial spores (endospores of Firmicutes, exospores of Actinobacteria) and akinetes (Cyanobacteria) have been well-documented mechanisms implicated in bacterial desiccation tolerance (Bay et al., 2018; Heulin et al., 2017; Lebre et al., 2017 references therein). Indeed, Actinobacteria and the Firmicutes are among the more dominant bacterial communities in desert soils globally (Leung et al., 2020). Furthermore, it has been shown that genes relating to dormancy and sporulation are commonly found in high abundance in arid soils (Fierer et al., 2012; Noronha et al., 2017; Tripathi et al., 2017).

Soil creates an environment for microbes where competitive mechanisms are used as strategies for survival (Stubbendieck and Straight, 2016). In soils with high levels of functional redundancy, bacterial species may use the same energy sources for growth and persistence, therefore increasing the inter-specific competition for resources (Tyc et al., 2014). An important competitive strategy is the production of secondary metabolites (e.g., antimicrobials,

toxins and biosurfactants). The high level of antimicrobials in the soil environment allows microorganisms to inhibit competitors that occupy the same niche (Yan et al., 2018). This differential inhibition of the growth of certain soil microorganisms can influence community composition, which can result in alterations of ecological functionality (as reviewed by Cycon et al., 2019). For example, the soil bacterium *Pseudomonas protegens* produces many antibiotics and toxins (Yan et al., 2017) that are known to suppress soil-borne plant pathogens and promote plant growth (Ortíz-Castro et al., 2009). Furthermore, a recent study showed strong fungal-bacterial antagonism inferred from the abundance of antibiotic resistance genes detected in topsoil (Bahram et al., 2018). Many fungal taxa secrete antibiotics to outcompete bacteria which increases the relative abundance of antibiotic resistance genes in the environment (Bahram et al., 2018).

1.3 Antibiotic resistance in the environment

Antibiotic resistance (AR) is the inherited ability of bacteria to grow in the presence of antibiotics, it is also a mechanism of bacterial self-defence, either against naturally occurring antibiotics or antibiotics introduced by human activities (Holmes et al., 2016; Pallecchi et al., 2008). However, there has been little evidence to suggest that antibiotics produced naturally in environmental settings are the key drivers in the selection of resistant microorganisms in the environment, specifically because they exist in very low concentrations (Gillings et al., 2017). More likely, the key drivers in the development of AR can be attributed to the co-selection of resistance with other compounds such as heavy metals and biocides as well as the incorrect use and overuse of antibiotics (Vikesland et al., 2019) in those environments that are highly impacted by human activities. The overuse of antibiotics in the health and agricultural sectors has seen the global consumption of antibiotics rise by a substantial 65% over the last two decades (Klein et al., 2018; Ventola, 2015). Antibiotics used as animal growth promoters have been frequently detected in animal manure (Jechalke et al., 2014) and it has been demonstrated that land application of animal manure increases the diversity and abundance of ARGs in agricultural soils (Wichmann et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2017). Altogether, the overuse of antibiotics not only increases the pool of resistance genes but also enhances resident soil antibiotic-resistant microorganisms (Udikovic-Kolic et al., 2014).

1.3.1 The origins and mechanisms of antibiotic resistance

Resistance to antibiotics often occur shortly after the clinical use of the drug, although in the case of penicillin, resistance was reported before the widespread use of the antibiotic (Abraham

and Chain, 1940). It has since been established that antibiotic resistance has an ancient origin and evolution (Perry et al., 2016; Song et al., 2005). Most antibiotics used in clinical and agricultural sectors today are produced or have been derived from soil-dwelling bacteria from the phylum Actinomycetes, especially from members of the genus *Streptomyces* (Perry and Wright, 2014; Rangseekaew and Pathom-aree, 2019). Actinomycetes are prolific producers of secondary metabolites, including several classes of antibiotics such as aminoglycosides, β lactams, glycopeptides, tetracyclines and the very important β -lactamase inhibitor, clavulanic acid (Barka et al., 2016). In order to protect themselves these organisms must be resistant to the antibiotics they produce, and thus may have been the origin of the resistance genes and mechanisms found in clinical pathogens today (Finley et al., 2013).

Resistance in bacteria can be intrinsic or acquired. Intrinsic resistance occurs naturally as a result of structural or functional characteristics (Blair et al., 2015). For example, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, a gram negative pathogen is intrinsically resistant to several antibiotics (e.g., aminoglycosides, erythromycin, polymyxin) due to a relatively impermeable outer membrane (OM), which surrounds a thin peptidoglycan layer (Cox and Wright, 2013). In contrast, bacteria can acquire or develop resistance due to changes in the genetic material as a result of spontaneous mutation or via horizontal gene transfer (HGT) by transformation, transduction and conjugation (Munita and Arias, 2016). Acquired resistance via mutation is mediated by several mechanisms such as reduced permeability, increased efflux, changes in antibiotic targets and inactivation of the antibiotic (Blair et al., 2015). Since horizontal gene transfer occurs between different bacterial clones and taxa, the acquisition of resistance determinants via this mechanism is one of the most important drivers of antibiotic resistance (Blair et al., 2015; Munita and Arias, 2016).

1.3.2 A One Health approach to antibiotic resistance

Surveillance strategies tracking AR on local and global scales help to deepen our understanding of resistance and find ways to circumvent it (Thakur and Gray, 2019). Most of this work has been carried out in hospital and community settings as well as in food-producing animals (including fish), companion animals and wildlife (Queenan et al., 2016). Therefore, current surveillance programs of AR have largely neglected the environment (Thakur and Gray, 2019). The World Health Organisation has recognised that antibiotic resistant bacteria may spread across global borders between the human, animal and environmental sectors (World Health

Organisation, 2015). In response to this, the One Health concept was created. This is a holistic and interdisciplinary approach based on the idea that human and animal health are linked to the health of the ecosystems that they are a part of (Figure 1.2) (Hernando-Amado et al., 2019).

The importance of a One Health approach to AR is clear especially with respect to the rapid dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes that have crossed habitat boundaries. One of the first examples relates to the New Delhi metallo-beta-lactamase 1 (NDM-1), which was first discovered in 2008 in a clinical isolate of Klebsiella pneumonia (Yong et al., 2009). The NDM-1 gene was subsequently detected in environmental samples in Bangladesh (Islam et al., 2017) and in pristine Arctic soil (McCann et al., 2019), indicating the worldwide spread of this gene and its variants (White and Hughes, 2019). A more recent example follows the first plasmidmediated polymyxin resistance mechanism (MCR-1), conferring resistance to the 'last resort' antibiotic colistin, which was isolated from chickens in China in late 2015 (Liu et al., 2016). The MCR-1 gene has since been observed in a variety of plasmids isolated from environmental samples in China (Yang et al., 2017) and Brazil (Fernandes et al., 2017) despite these two countries banning the use of colistin in agriculture and hospital settings (Wang et al., 2018). Finally, Hedman et al., (2019) described a spill-over of ARGs from commercially bred chickens treated with high levels of antibiotics to free-grazing animals with no previous exposure to antibiotics. The study highlights the pivotal role of the environment in the transmission of AR since the environment may act as a reservoir of resistance determinants (Hedman et al., 2019).

1.3.3 The soil resistome

Soil is the most prominent reservoir of resistance genes, harbouring up to 30% of the genes that confer resistance to antibiotics, metals and biocides (Nesme and Simonet, 2015). These resistance genes, originating from diverse groups of bacteria, constitute the soil resistome (Cytryn, 2013; Nesme and Simonet, 2015). Therefore, soil has been recognized as a reservoir of antibiotic resistance genes that can be transferred to clinical pathogens (D'Costa et al., 2006; Forsberg et al., 2012). For example, it has been shown that three of the four known clusters of plasmid-mediated class A β -lactamases (i.e., CTX-M-1, CTX-M-2 and CTX-M-9) originated from different species belonging to the genus *Kluyvera*, which were rarely reported in clinical settings (Decousser et al., 2001; Humeniuk et al., 2002; Poirel et al., 2002). Members of *Kluyvera spp*. are usually found in soil and sewage systems and are generally not present in

high enough numbers in the human body to be considered pathogenic (Mutoh et al., 2019). Therefore, an understanding of resistance in the environment might help to discover potential new ARGs that could emerge as clinically relevant and to evaluate antibiotic resistance at the community level (Wang et al., 2020).



Figure 1.2. The One Heath concept illustrating that human, animal and environmental health is intrinsically linked and processes that affect one sector have an effect on all components of this triad. The figure describes some of the key factors that are involved in the transmission of resistance determinants. AB – antibiotic, AR – antibiotic resistance, ARD – antibiotic resistance determinants. Reprinted from (Nielsen et al., 2018).

Antibiotic resistance genes have been detected in 30,000-year-old permafrost from the Canadian high north (D'Costa et al., 2011), in arctic soil from 5,000 years ago (Perron et al., 2015) and in the microbiome of a cave that was isolated for over four million years (Bhullar et al., 2012). However, there is evidence that antibiotic resistance in the environment has increased significantly since the 1940s (Knapp et al., 2010) concomitantly with the rapid

production of antibiotics to treat bacterial infections (Dungan et al., 2019) and the introduction of antibiotic use in the agricultural and animal farming sectors (Cytryn, 2013; Davies, 1996).

Anthropogenic antibiotic resistance genes have even reached the pristine polar areas (McCann et al., 2019; Hernández and González-Acuña, 2016; Higuera-Llantén et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2016), probably mediated via hosts such as birds. Indeed, studies have revealed the presence of human associated bacteria carrying multi-drug resistant genes in seals, penguins and other birds from Antarctica and sub-Antarctic islands (Griekspoor et al., 2009; Palmgren et al., 2000), indicating that ARGs have reached a high level of global distribution. Over the past 10 years, research into the environment as a source and dissemination route of resistance has increased widely (Bengtsson-Palme et al., 2014; Finley et al., 2013; Larsson et al., 2018; Pal et al., 2016; Pruden et al., 2013; Scott et al., 2020; Willms et al., 2019; Wright, 2010). However, environmental resistomes are still largely unexplored and it remains unclear how resistance determinants are retained and transferred (Pal et al., 2016).

The mobilization of resistance genes is enabled by the mobilome, the compendium of mobile genetic elements (MGEs) such as plasmids, integrons and bacteriophages (Gaze et al., 2013). While much attention has been focused on the conjugative transfer of plasmids carrying ARGs, recent work has implicated bacteriophages as a vehicle of dissemination of resistance (Ross and Topp, 2015). Antibiotic resistance genes have been found in the bacteriophage DNA fraction in various ecosystems such as urban sewer and river water (Colomer-Lluch et al., 2014, 2011), hospital waste effluent and wastewater treatment plants (Marti et al., 2014) and in agricultural soils (Ross and Topp, 2015). Taking into account the abundance and global distribution of bacteriophages and phage-like particles and their flexible DNA-package mechanisms, phages are well suited for the acquisition, maintenance and transfer of resistance of a relatively high abundance of ARG-containing phage particles in agricultural soils (Larrañaga et al., 2018). Using propagation experiments, the authors found that these phage particles were infectious, suggesting that phage particles may act as vehicles for the transfer of resistance in the soil environment.

It has been reported that there is scope for mobilization of resistance genes within soils that have a high abundance (Pérez-Valera et al., 2019) and high diversity (Lu et al., 2020) of ARGs, as well as in those soils that have higher levels of anthropogenic input (Hall et al., 2017).

Conversely, it appears that, the soil resistome of pristine environments (Van Goethem et al., 2018), and less anthropogenically impacted soils (Saenz et al., 2019) have a limited potential for horizontal gene transfer of ARGs (Forsberg et al., 2014). However, resistance genes could be mobilized, in theory, in any environment. Although this would require a strong selection pressure for the resistance gene/s to remain on a mobile genetic element long enough to be successfully transferred between bacterial hosts (Bengtsson-Palme et al., 2018).

The presence of heavy metals and/or biocides in the soil environment provides the selection pressure required for successful gene acquisition. Therefore, bacterial resistance to antibiotics and metals or biocides are frequently linked (Hu et al., 2016). For instance, low levels of arsenic in paddy field soils gave rise to arsenic resistance and antibiotic resistance to sulphonamide and streptomycin, even though there was no evidence of direct input of these antibiotics into the soil (Cao et al., 2020). These resistance genes were found on genomic islands, indicating a co-selection of resistance. The co-selection of resistance occurs via three mechanisms: 1) coresistance (i.e., genes encoding resistance to metals and antibiotics are located on the same mobile genetic element); 2) cross-resistance (i.e., a single resistance mechanism responsible for the resistance to metals and antibiotics simultaneously) and 3) co-regulation (i.e., expression of resistance mechanisms to antibiotics and metals are controlled by a common regulator), although co- and cross-resistance have been more commonly described (Cao et al., 2020; Pal et al., 2017). Studies have shown that metals (even at very low concentrations) can act as a selection pressure for ARGs in soil environments in the absence of antibiotic pressure (Knapp et al., 2017, 2011). The particular concern is that metals/biocides in soils exert a longstanding co-selection pressure, so that ARGs may persist in environments without obvious exposure to antibiotics (Li et al., 2017).

1.3.4 The desert soil resistome

Many soil resistome studies have focused on anthropogenically impacted soils such as agricultural and grassland soils (Demaneche et al., 2008; Nesme et al., 2014; Xie et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2017). Consequently, little research has been undertaken in less impacted or pristine soils, specifically deserts, although it is known that both cold (Van Goethem et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2016; Wei et al., 2015; (Diaz et al., 2017; McCann et al., 2019) and hot desert soils (Belov et al., 2018; Saenz et al., 2019; Nowrotek et al., 2019) do harbour resistance genes.

Desert soils have only very recently been suggested as promising sources of antibacterial compounds (Rateb et al., 2018). Bacteria adapted to stressful conditions such as those that prevail in desert ecosystems could have developed unique physiological features such as novel antibiotics and ARGs to ensure their survival under those conditions. Indeed, bacteria inhabiting harsh environments have the capacity to produce a large number of secondary metabolites, including antibiotics (Nunez-Montero and Barrientos, 2018). For example, in Saharan desert soils, researchers identified a novel *Nocardia* species encoding antimicrobial compounds against a broad range of indicator strains (Selama et al., 2014). Furthermore, several actinobacterial strains from desert soils of Saudi Arabia showed broad spectrum antimicrobial activity (Nithya et al., 2015).

Since antibiotic resistance can be linked to both natural and anthropogenic sources, data on background (i.e., ARGs in environments devoid of anthropogenic influence) and baseline (i.e., ARGs in environments before the application of antibiotics or before the beginning of research studies) levels of ARGs in the environment are necessary to understand the evolution and ecology of ARGs in the environment (Rothrock et al., 2016). It is less likely that acquired resistance determinants would accumulate in desert soils due to the minimal anthropogenic input making deserts an ideal platform to characterize background or baseline levels of resistance and effectively assessing the spread of antibiotic resistance (McCann et al., 2019).

1.4 Research questions

It has been established that microbial life in desert ecosystems is highly diverse with strong links to ecosystem functions (Fierer et al., 2012; Guerra et al., 2020; Noronha et al., 2017; Song et al., 2019). Nevertheless, studies linking microbial diversity and ecosystem functions in deserts and other drylands are rare (Guerra et al., 2020; Maestre et al., 2015), particularly those on how this relationship is influenced by environmental gradients (i.e., precipitation).

The Namib is a coastal desert that is characterized by a west/east increasing precipitation gradient, which results in three xeric zones (fog, low/mid-rainfall and high-rainfall). A previous study has shown that soil chemistry, different in the three zones, seems to be important in shaping soil microbial community structure (determined using T-RFLP based profiling) and function (determined using extracellular activities of five enzymes) (Scola et al., 2018). However, the methodology used in this study did not allow an in-depth investigation of the composition and functional attributes of those communities. Consequently, we still do not

know if the composition and functional potential of these communities are influenced by precipitation history.

Therefore, this study was aimed to test, using targeted and shotgun metagenomics (Figure 1.3), whether possible changes in microbial community composition between two rainfall zones (mid- and high-rainfall zones) across a precipitation gradient, within the Namib desert, alter the overall functional attributes and specific functions (i.e., the resistome) of the communities.

More specifically, the following were investigated:

1) If overall microbial diversity and composition changed across the two rainfall zones.

2) If specific microbes were indicative of these two zones.

3) If changes in composition and diversity related to changes in microbial function.

4) The diversity and composition of the ARGs.

5) If environmental variables and precipitation history influenced the composition of the resistome.

6) The possible links between microbial composition and the resistome.

7) Whether or not horizontal gene transfer played a role in the distribution of the resistome.

8) If there was evidence that resistance to antibiotics co-selects for resistance to metals.

9) The presence of acquired clinically relevant ARGs and the potential vehicles of dissemination of these resistance genes.



Figure 1.3. Thesis conceptual figure outlining the methodology used in the study and highlighting the main themes of each experimental chapter.

1.5 References

Abraham, E., Chain, E., 1940. An Enzyme from Bacteria able to Destroy Penicillin. Nature. 146, 837. https://doi.org/10.1038/146837a0.

Andrew, D.R., Fitak, R.R., Munguia-Vega, A., Racolta, A., Martinson, V.G., Dontsova,
K., 2012. Abiotic Factors Shape Microbial Diversity in Sonoran Desert Soils. Appl.
Environ. Microbiol. 78, 7527–7537. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.01459-12

- Bahram, M., Hildebrand, F., Forslund, S.K., Anderson, J.L., Soudzilovskaia, N.A., Bodegom,
 P.M., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Anslan, S., Coelho, L.P., Harend, H., Huerta-Cepas, J.,
 Medema, M.H., Maltz, M.R., Mundra, S., Olsson, P.A., Pent, M., Põlme, S., Sunagawa,
 S., Ryberg, M., Tedersoo, L., Bork, P., 2018. Structure and function of the global topsoil
 microbiome. Nature 560, 233–237. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0386-6
- Balser, T.C., Gutknecht, J.L.M., Liang, C., 2010. How Will Climate Change Impact Soil Microbial Communities ?, in: Soil Microbiology and Sustainable Crop Production. pp. 373–397. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-9479-7
- Banerjee, S., Schlaeppi, K., van der Heijden, M.G.A., 2018. Keystone taxa as drivers of microbiome structure and functioning. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 16, 567–576. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0024-1
- Bardgett, R.D., van der Putten, W.H., 2014. Belowground biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. Nature 515, 505–511. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13855
- Barka, E.A., Vatsa, P., Sanchez, L., Gaveau-vaillant, N., Jacquard, C., Klenk, H., Clément, C., Ouhdouch, Y., Wezel, P. Van, 2016. Taxonomy, Physiology, and Natural Products of Actinobacteria. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 80, 1–44. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00019-15.Address
- Bartram, A.K., Jiang, X., Lynch, M.D.J., Masella, A.P., Nicol, G.W., Dushoff, J., Neufeld, J.D., 2014. Exploting links between pH and bacterial community composition in soils from the Craibstone Experimental Farm. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 87, 403–415. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6941.12231
- Bay, S., Ferrari, B., Greening, C., 2018. Life without water: How do bacteria generate biomass in desert ecosystems? Microbiol. Aust. 39, 28–32. https://doi.org/10.1071/MA18008
- Bell, C.W., Acosta-Martinez, V., McIntyre, N.E., Cox, S., Tissue, D.T., Zak, J.C., 2009. Linking microbial community structure and function to seasonal differences in soil moisture and temperature in a Chihuahuan Desert grassland. Microb. Ecol. 58, 827–842. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-009-9529-5

- Belov, A., Cheptsov, V., Vorobyova, E., 2018. Soil bacterial communities of Sahara and Gibson deserts: Physiological and taxonomical characteristics. AIMS Microbiol. 4, 685– 710. https://doi.org/10.3934/microbiol.2018.4.685
- Bengtsson-Palme, J., Boulund, F., Fick, J., Kristiansson, E., Joakim Larsson, D.G., 2014.
 Shotgun metagenomics reveals a wide array of antibiotic resistance genes and mobile elements in a polluted lake in India. Front. Microbiol. 5, 1-14.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00648
- Bengtsson-Palme, J., Kristiansson, E., Larsson, D.G.J., 2018. Environmental factors influencing the development and spread of antibiotic resistance. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 42, 68–80. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsre/fux053
- Bhullar, K., Waglechner, N., Pawlowski, A., Koteva, K., Banks, E.D., Johnston, M.D., Barton, H.A., Wright, G.D., 2012. Antibiotic resistance is prevalent in an isolated cave microbiome. PLoS One 7, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034953
- Blair, J.M.A., Webber, M.A., Baylay, A.J., Ogbolu, D.O., Piddock, L.J. V, 2015. Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 13, 42–51. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3380
- Brockett, B.F.T., Prescott, C.E., Grayston, S.J., 2012. Soil moisture is the major factor infuencing microbial community structure and enzyme activities across seven biogeoclimatic zones in western Canada. Soil Biol. Biochem. 44, 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.09.003
- Busarakam, K., Bull, A.T., Trujillo, M.E., Riesco, R., Sangal, V., van Wezel, G.P.,
 Goodfellow, M., 2016. Modestobacter caceresii sp. nov., novel actinobacteria with an insight into their adaptive mechanisms for survival in extreme hyper-arid Atacama
 Desert soils. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 39, 243–251.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.syapm.2016.03.007
- Calero-Cáceres, W., Ye, M., Balcázar, J.L., 2019. Bacteriophages as Environmental Reservoirs of Antibiotic Resistance. Trends Microbiol. 27, 570–577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2019.02.008
- Cao, J., Yang, G., Mai, Q., Zhuang, Z., Zhuang, L., 2020. Co-selection of antibiotic-resistant bacteria in a paddy soil exposed to As(III) contamination with an emphasis on potential pathogens. Sci. Total Environ. 725, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138367
- Colomer-Lluch, M., Jofre, J., Muniesa, M., 2014. Quinolone resistance genes (qnrA and qnrS) in bacteriophage particles from wastewater samples and the effect of inducing agents on packaged antibiotic resistance genes. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 69, 1265–

1274. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkt528

- Colomer-Lluch, M., Jofre, J., Muniesa, M., 2011. Antibiotic resistance genes in the bacteriophage DNA fraction of environmental samples. PLoS One 6, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017549
- Cox, G., Wright, G.D., 2013. Intrinsic antibiotic resistance: Mechanisms, origins, challenges and solutions. Int. J. Med. Microbiol. 303, 287–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2013.02.009
- Cox, M.M., Battista, J.R., 2005. Deinococcus radiodurans The consummate survivor. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 3, 882–892. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1264
- Cregger, M.A., Schadt, C.W., Mcdowell, N.G., Pockman, W.T., Classen, A.T., 2012. Response of the Soil Microbial Community to Changes in Precipitation in a Semiarid Ecosystem. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78, 8587–8594. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02050-12
- Cycon, M., Mrozik, A., Piotrowska-Seget, Z., 2019. Antibiotics in the Soil Environment Degradation and Their Impact on Microbial Activity and Diversity. Front. Microbiol. 10, 1–45. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.00338
- Cytryn, E., 2013. The soil resistome: The anthropogenic, the native, and the unknown. Soil Biol. Biochem. 63, 18-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.03.017
- D'Costa, V.M., King, C.E., Kalan, L., Morar, M., Sung, W.W.L., Schwarz, C., Froese, D.,
 Zazula, G., Calmels, F., Debruyne, R., Golding, G.B., Poinar, H.N., Wright, G.D., 2011.
 Antibiotic resistance is ancient. Nature 477, 457–461.
- D'Costa, V.M., McGrann, K.M., Hughes, D.W., Wright, G.D., 2006. Sampling the Antibiotic Resistome. Science (80) 311, 374–377.
- Daly, M.J., 2009. A new perspective on radiation resistance based on Deinococcus radiodurans. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 7, 16–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2073
- Davies, J., 1996. Origins and evolution of antibiotic resistance. Microbiologia 12, 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00016-10
- Decousser, J.W., Poirel, L., Nordmann, P., 2001. Characterization of a chromosomally encoded extended-spectrum class A beta-lactamase from Kluyvera cryocrescens. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 45, 3595–3598. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.45.12.3595-3598.2001
- Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Oliverio, A.M., Brewer, T.E., Benavent-González, A., Eldridge,
 D.J., Bardgett, R.D., Maestre, F.T., Singh, B.K., Fierer, N., 2018. A global atlas of the dominant bacteria found in soil. Science (80). 359, 320–325.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aap9516.

- Demaneche, S., Sanguin, H., Pote, J., Navarro, E., Bernillon, D., Mavingui, P., Wildi, W., Vogel, T.M., Simonet, P., 2008. Antibiotic-resistant soil bacteria in transgenic plant fields. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 3957–3962. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0800072105
- Diaz, K.S., Rich, V.I., McLain, J.E., 2017. Searching for Antibiotic Resistance Genes in a Pristine Arctic Wetland. J. Contemp. Water Res. Educ. 160, 42–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1936-704x.2017.03239.x
- Dini-Andreote, F., Stegen, J.C., van Elsas, J.D., Salles, J.F., 2015. Disentangling mechanisms that mediate the balance between stochastic and deterministic processes in microbial succession. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112, 1326 -1332. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1414261112
- Dungan, R.S., Strausbaugh, C.A., Leytem, A.B., 2019. Survey of selected antibiotic resistance genes in agricultural and non-agricultural soils in south-central Idaho. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 95, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiz071
- Eida, A.A., Ziegler, M., Lafi, F.F., Michell, C.T., Id, R.V., Id, H.H., Id, M.M.S., 2018. Desert plant bacteria reveal host influence and beneficial plant growth properties. PLoS One 13, 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0208223.</u>
- Essoussi, I., Ghodhbane-Gtari, F., Amairi, H., Sghaier, H., Jaouani, A., Brusetti, L.,
 Daffonchio, D., Boudabous, A., Gtari, M., 2010. Esterase as an enzymatic signature of
 Geodermatophilaceae adaptability to Sahara desert stones and monuments. J. Appl.
 Microbiol. 108, 1723–1732. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2009.04580.x
- Fernandes, M.R., Sellera, F.P., Esposito, F., Sabino, C.P., Cerdeira, L., Lincopan, N., 2017. Colistin-Resistant mcr-1-Positive Escherichia coli on Public Beaches, an Infectious Threat Emerging in Recreational Waters. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 61,1-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00234-17
- Fernández-Gómez, B., Maldonado, J., Mandakovic, D., Gaete, A., Gutiérrez, R.A., Maass, A., Cambiazo, V., González, M., 2019. Bacterial communities associated to Chilean altiplanic native plants from the Andean grasslands soils. Sci. Rep. 9, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-37776-0
- Ferrenberg, S., O'Neill, S.P., Knelman, J.E., Todd, B., Duggan, S., Bradley, D., Robinson, T., Schmidt, S.K., Townsend, A.R., Williams, M.W., Cleveland, C.C., Melbourne, B.A., Jiang, L., Nemergut, D.R., 2013. Changes in assembly processes in soil bacterial communities following a wildfire disturbance. ISME J. 7, 1102–1111. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.11

- Fetzer, I., Johst, K., Schäwe, R., Banitz, T., Harms, H., Chatzinotas, A., 2015. The extent of functional redundancy changes as species ' roles shift in different environments. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112, 14888–14893. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1505587112
- Fierer, N., Jackson, R.B., 2006. The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 626–631. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0507535103
- Fierer, N., Leff, J.W., Adams, B.J., Nielsen, U.N., Bates, S.T., Lauber, C.L., Owens, S., Gilbert, J.A., Wall, D.H., Caporaso, J.G., 2012. Cross-biome metagenomic analyses of soil microbial communities and their functional attributes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109, 21390–21395. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1215210110
- Finley, R.L., Collignon, P., Larsson, D.G.J., McEwen, S.A., Li, X.-Z., Gaze, W.H., Reid-Smith, R., Timinouni, M., Graham, D.W., Topp, E., 2013. The Scourge of Antibiotic Resistance: The Important Role of the Environment. Clin. Infect. Dis. 57, 704–710. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cit355
- Forsberg, K.J., Patel, S., Gibson, M.K., Lauber, C.L., Knight, R., Fierer, N., Dantas, G., 2014. Bacterial phylogeny structures soil resistomes across habitats. Nature. (509) 7502, 612-616. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13377
- Forsberg, K.J., Reyes, A., Wang, B., Selleck, E.M., Sommer, M.O.A., Dantas, G., 2012. The shared antibiotic resistome of soil bacteria and human pathogens. Science (80) 337, 1107–1111. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1220761.The
- Gaze, W.H., Krone, S.M., Joakim Larsson, D.G., Li, X.Z., Robinson, J.A., Simonet, P.,
 Smalla, K., Timinouni, M., Topp, E., Wellington, E.M., Wright, G.D., Zhu, Y.G., 2013.
 Influence of humans on evolution and mobilization of environmental antibiotic
 resistome. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 19, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1907.120871
- Gillings, M.R., Paulsen, I.T., Tetu, S.G., 2017. Genomics and the evolution of antibiotic resistance. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1388, 92–107. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13268
- Gombeer, S., Ramond, J.B., Eckardt, F.D., Seely, M., Cowan, D.A., 2015. The influence of surface soil physicochemistry on the edaphic bacterial communities in contrasting terrain types of the Central Namib Desert. Geobiology 13, 494–505. https://doi.org/10.1111/gbi.12144
- Griekspoor, P., Olsen, B., Waldenström, J., 2009. Campylobacter jejuni in penguins, Antarctica. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 15, 847–848. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1505.081160
- Guerra, C.A., Heintz-Buschart, A., Sikorski, J., Chatzinotas, A., Guerrero-Ramírez, N., Cesarz, S., Beaumelle, L., Rillig, M.C., Maestre, F.T., Delgado-baquerizo, M., Buscot,

F., Overmann, J., Patoine, G., Phillips, H.R.P., Winter, M., Wubet, T., Küsel, K., Bardgett, R.D., Cameron, E.K., Cowan, D., Grebenc, T., Marín, C., Orgiazzi, A., Singh, B.K., Wall, D.H., Eisenhauer, N., 2020. Blind spots in global soil biodiversity and ecosystem function research. Nat. Commun. 11, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17688-2

- Hall, J.P.J., Williams, D., Paterson, S., Harrison, E., Brockhurst, M.A., 2017. Positive selection inhibits gene mobilisation and transfer in soil bacterial communities. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 1, 1348–1353. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0250-3
- Hedman, H.D., Eisenberg, J.N.S., Vasco, K.A., Blair, C.N., Trueba, G., Berrocal, V.J.,
 Zhang, L., 2019. High Prevalence of Extended-Spectrum Beta-Lactamase CTX-MProducing Escherichia coli in Small-Scale Poultry Farming in Rural Ecuador. Am. J.
 Trop. Med. Hyg. 100, 374–376. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.18-0173
- Hendershot, J., Read, Q.D., Henning, J.A., Sanders, N.J., Classen, A.T., 2017. Consistently inconsistent drivers of microbial diversity and abundance at macroecological scales. Ecology 98, 1757–1763. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.1829
- Hernández, J., González-Acuña, D., 2016. Anthropogenic antibiotic resistance genes mobilization to the polar regions. Infect. Ecol. Epidemiol. 6, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.3402/iee.v6.32112
- Hernando-Amado, S., Coque, T.M., Baquero, F., Martínez, J.L., 2019. Defining and combating antibiotic resistance from One Health and Global Health perspectives. Nat. Microbiol. 4, 1432–1442. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-019-0503-9
- Herzog, S., Wemheuer, F., Wemheuer, B., Daniel, R., 2015. Effects of Fertilization and Sampling Time on Composition and Diversity of Entire and Active Bacterial Communities in German Grassland Soils. PLoS One 10, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0145575
- Heulin, T., De Luca, G., Barakat, M., Gommeaux, M., de Groot, A., Blanchard, L., Achouak, W., 2017. Bacterial Adaptation to Hot and Dry Deserts., in: Adaptation of Microbial Life to Environmental Extremes. pp. 75–98.
- Higuera-Llantén, S., Vásquez-Ponce, F., Núñez-Gallegos, M., Pavlov, M.S., Marshall, S., Olivares-Pacheco, J., Felipe Vásquez-Ponce, Matías Nú Ñ Ez-Gallegos, Pavlov, M.S., Marshall, Sergio, Olivares-Pacheco, J., 2018. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of a novel multi-antibiotic-resistant, alginate hyperproducing strain of Pseudomonas mandelii isolated in Antarctica. Polar Biol. 41, 469–480. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-017-2206-0

- Holmes, A.H., Moore, L.S.P., Sundsfjord, A., Steinbakk, M., Regmi, S., Karkey, A., Guerin, P.J., Piddock, L.J.V., 2016. Understanding the mechanisms and drivers of antimicrobial resistance. Lancet 387, 176–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00473-0
- Hu, H.W., Wang, J.T., Li, J., Li, J.J., Ma, Y.B., Chen, D., He, J.Z., 2016. Field-based evidence for copper contamination induced changes of antibiotic resistance in agricultural soils. Environ. Microbiol. 18, 3896–3909. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.13370
- Humeniuk, C., Arlet, G., Gautier, V., Grimont, P., Labia, R., Philippon, A., 2002. Betalactamases of Kluyvera ascorbata, probable progenitors of some plasmid-encoded CTX-M types. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 46, 3045–3049.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.46.9.3045-3049.2002
- Islam, M.A., Islam, M., Hasan, R., Hossain, M.I., Nabi, A., Rahman, M., Goessens, W.H.F., Endtz, H.P., Boehm, A.B., Faruque, S.M., 2017. Environmental Spread of New Delhi Metallo-β-Lactamase-1-Producing Multidrug-Resistant Bacteria in Dhaka, Bangladesh. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 83, 1–11. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00793-17.
- Islam, W., Noman, A., Naveed, H., Huang, Z., Chen, H.Y.H., 2020. Role of environmental factors in shaping the soil microbiome. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 41, 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-10471-2
- Jansson, J.K., Hofmockel, K., 2020. Soil microbiomes and climate change. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 18, 35–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-019-0265-7
- Jechalke, S., Heuer, H., Siemens, J., Amelung, W., Smalla, K., 2014. Fate and effects of veterinary antibiotics in soil. Trends Microbiol. 22, 536–545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2014.05.005
- Jia, Y., Whalen, J.K., 2020. A new perspective on functional redundancy and phylogenetic niche conservatism in soil microbal communities. Pedosphere 30, 18–24.
- Jiao, S., Liu, Z., Lin, Y., Yang, J., Chen, W., Wei, G., 2016. Bacterial communities in oil contaminated soils: Biogeography and co-occurrence patterns. Soil Biol. Biochem. 98, 64–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.04.005
- Johnson, R.M., Ramond, J.-B., Gunnigle, E., Seely, M., Cowan, D.A., 2017. Namib Desert edaphic bacterial, fungal and archaeal communities assemble through deterministic processes but are influenced by different abiotic parameters. Extremophiles 21, 381– 392. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00792-016-0911-1

Jones, D.L., Olivera-Ardid, S., Klumpp, E., Knief, C., Hill, P.W., Lehndorff, E., Bol, R.,

2018. Moisture activation and carbon use efficiency of soil microbial communities along an aridity gradient in the Atacama Desert. Soil Biol. Biochem. 117, 68–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2017.10.026

- Klein, E.Y., Boeckel, T.P. Van, Martinez, E.M., Pant, S., Gandra, S., Levin, S.A., 2018.
 Global increase and geographic convergence in antibiotic consumption between 2000 and 2015. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 115, 3463–3470. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1717295115
- Knapp, C.W., Callan, A.C., Aitken, B., Shearn, R., Koenders, A., Hinwood, A., 2017.
 Relationship between antibiotic resistance genes and metals in residential soil samples from Western Australia. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24, 2484–2494.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7997-y
- Knapp, C.W., Dolfing, J., Ehlert, P.A.I., Graham, D.W., 2010. Evidence of increasing antibiotic resistance gene abundances in archived soils since 1940. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44, 580–587. https://doi.org/10.1021/es901221x
- Knapp, C.W., McCluskey, S.M., Singh, B.K., Campbell, C.D., Hudson, G., Graham, D.W., 2011. Antibiotic resistance gene abundances correlate with metal and geochemical conditions in archived Scottish soils. PLoS One 6, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0027300
- Kuang, J., Huang, L., He, Z., Chen, L., Hua, Z., Jia, P., Li, S., Liu, J., Li, J., Zhou, J., Shu, W., 2016. Predicting taxonomic and functional structure of microbial communities in acid mine drainage 10, 1527–1539. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2015.201
- Larrañaga, O., Brown-Jaque, M., Quirós, P., Gómez-Gómez, C., Blanch, A.R., Rodríguez-Rubio, L., Muniesa, M., 2018. Phage particles harboring antibiotic resistance genes in fresh-cut vegetables and agricultural soil. Environ. Int. 115, 133–141. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.03.019
- Larsson, D.G.J., Andremont, A., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Brandt, K.K., de Roda Husman, A.M., Fagerstedt, P., Fick, J., Flach, C.F., Gaze, W.H., Kuroda, M., Kvint, K., Laxminarayan, R., Manaia, C.M., Nielsen, K.M., Plant, L., Ploy, M.C., Segovia, C., Simonet, P., Smalla, K., Snape, J., Topp, E., van Hengel, A.J., Verner-Jeffreys, D.W., Virta, M.P.J., Wellington, E.M., Wernersson, A.S., 2018. Critical knowledge gaps and research needs related to the environmental dimensions of antibiotic resistance. Environ. Int. 117, 132– 138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.04.041
- Lauber, C.L., Ramirez, K.S., Aanderud, Z., Lennon, J., Fierer, N., 2013. Temporal variability in soil microbial communities across land-use types. ISME J. 7, 1641–1650.

https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.50

- Lebre, P.H., De Maayer, P., Cowan, D.A., 2017. Xerotolerant bacteria: Surviving through a dry spell. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 15, 285–296. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2017.16
- Leung, P.M., Bay, S.K., Meier, D. V, Chiri, E., Cowan, D.A., Gillor, O., Woebken, D., Greening, C., 2020. Energetic Basis of Microbial Growth and Persistence in Desert Ecosystems. Appl. Environ. Sci. 5, 1–14.
- Li, L., Xia, Y., Zhang, T., 2017. Co-occurrence of antibiotic and metal resistance genes revealed in complete genome collection. ISME J. 11, 651–662. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2016.155
- Li, Y., Adams, J., Shi, Y., Wang, H., He, J., Chu, H., 2017. Distinct Soil Microbial Communities in habitats of differing soil water balance on the Tibetan Plateau. Sci. Rep. 7, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep46407
- Liu, Y.-Y., Wang, Y., Walsh, T.R., Yi, L.-X., Zhang, R., Spencer, J., Doi, Y., Tian, G., Dong, B., Huang, X., Yu, L.-F., Gu, D., Ren, H., Chen, X., Lv, L., He, D., Zhou, H., Liang, Z., Liu, J.-H., Shen, J., 2016. Emergence of plasmid-mediated colistin resistance mechanism MCR-1 in animals and human beings in China: a microbiological and molecular biological study. Lancet Infect. Dis. 16, 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00424-7
- Lu, W., Wang, M., Wu, J., Jiang, Q., Jin, J., Jin, Q., Yang, W., Chen, J., Wang, Y., Xiao, M., 2020. Spread of chloramphenicol and tetracycline resistance genes by plasmid mobilization in agricultural soil. Environ. Pollut. 260. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.113998
- Maestre, F.T., Delgado-baquerizo, M., Jeffries, T.C., Eldridge, D.J., Ochoa, V., Gozalo, B., Quero, J.L., Garcia-Gomez, M., Gallardo, A., Ulrich, W., Bowker, M., Arredondo, T., Barraza-Zepeda, C., Bran, D., Florentino, A., Gaitan, J., Gutierrez, J., Huber-Sannwaldi, E., Jankju, M., Mau, R., Miriti, M., Naser, K., Orspina, A., Stavi, I., Wang, D., Woods, N., Yuan, X., Zaady, E., Singh, B., 2015. Increasing aridity reduces soil microbial diversity and abundance in global drylands. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112, 15684–15689. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1516684112
- Mansson, K.F., Olsson, M.O., Falkengren-Grerup, U., Goran, B., 2014. Soil moisture variations affect short-term plant-microbial competition for ammonium, glycine, and glutamate. Ecol. Evol. 4, 1061–1072. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1004.
- Marasco, R., Mosqueira, M.J., Fusi, M., Ramond, J., Merlino, G., Booth, J.M., Maggskölling, G., Cowan, D.A., Daffonchio, D., 2018. Rhizosheath microbial community
assembly of sympatric desert speargrasses is independent of the plant host. Microbiome 6, 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0597-y</u>.

- Maron, P., Sarr, A., Kaisermann, A., Leveque, J., Mathieu, O., Guigue, J., Karimi, B., Bernard, L., Dequiedt, S., Terrat, S., Chabbi, A., Ranjard, L., 2018. High Microbial Diversity Promotes Soil Ecosystem Functioning. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 84, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02738-17.
- Marti, E., Variatza, E., Balcázar, J.L., 2014. Bacteriophages as a reservoir of extendedspectrum β -lactamase and fluoroquinolone resistance genes in the environment. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 20, 456–459. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-0691.12446.
- Maza, F., Maldonado, J., Vásquez-Dean, J., Mandakovic, D., Gaete, A., Cambiazo, V.,
 González, M., 2019. Soil Bacterial Communities From the Chilean Andean Highlands: Taxonomic Composition and Culturability. Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 7, 1-12.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.00010.
- McCann, C.M., Christgen, B., Roberts, J.A., Su, J., Arnold, K.E., Gray, N.D., Zhu, Y., Graham, D.W., 2019. Understanding drivers of antibiotic resistance genes in High Arctic soil ecosystems. Environ. Int. 125, 497–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.01.034
- McHugh, T.A., Compson, Z., Gestel, N. Van, Hayer, M., Ballard, L., Haverty, M., Hines, J., Irvine, N., Krassner, D., Lyons, T., Musta, E.J., Schiff, M., Zint, P., Schwartz, E., 2017. Climate controls prokaryotic community composition in desert soils of the southwestern United States. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 93, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fix116
- Munita, J.M., Arias, C.A., 2016. Mechanisms of Antibiotic Resistance. Microbiol Spectr 4, 1–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-7743(08)60495-9
- Mutoh, Y., Kobe, T., Hirano, T., Ichihara, T., Takenaka, H., Niinomi, T., Umemura, T., Kuroiwa, M., 2019. The first case of third-generation cephalosporins resistant Kluyvera ascorbata biliary tract infection in Japan: A case report and review of the literature. IDCases 15, 1-4. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idcr.2019.e00498.
- Neilson, J.W., Califf, K., Cardona, C., Copeland, A., van Treuren, W., Josephson, K.L., Knight, R., Gilbert, J.A., Quade, J., Caporaso, J.G., Maier, R.M., 2017. Significant Impacts of Increasing Aridity on the Arid Soil Microbiome. mSystems 2, 1–15. https:// doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00195-16.
- Nesme, J., Cécillon, S., Delmont, T.O., Monier, J.M., Vogel, T.M., Simonet, P., 2014. Largescale metagenomic-based study of antibiotic resistance in the environment. Curr. Biol. 24, 1096–1100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.03.036.

- Nesme, J., Simonet, P., 2015. The soil resistome: A critical review on antibiotic resistance origins, ecology and dissemination potential in telluric bacteria. Environ. Microbiol. 17, 913-930. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12631.
- Nielsen, K.M., Gjoen, T., Lunestad, B.T., Ytrehus, B., 2018. Antimicrobial resistance in wildlife - potential for dissemination. Opinion of the Panel on Microbial Ecology of the Norweigian Scientific Committee for food and Environment. 7. 8-310.
- Nithya, K., Muthukumar, C., Duraipandiyan, V., Dhanasekaran, D., Thajuddin, N., 2015. Diversity and Antimicrobial Potential of Culturable Actinobacteria from Desert Soils of Saudi Arabia. J. Pharm. Sci. Res. 7, 117–122.
- Noronha, M.F., Lacerda Júnior, G.V., Gilbert, J.A., de Oliveira, V.M., 2017. Taxonomic and functional patterns across soil microbial communities of global biomes. Sci. Total Environ. 609, 1064–1074. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.07.159
- Nunez-Montero, K., Barrientos, L., 2018. Advances in Antarctic Research for Antimicrobial Discovery : A Comprehensive Narrative Review of Bacteria from Antarctic Environments as Potential Sources of Novel Antibiotic Compounds Against Human Pathogens and Microorganisms of Industrial Importance. Antibiotics 7, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics7040090
- O'Brien, S.L., Gibbons, S.M., Owens, S.M., Hampton-Marcell, J., Johnston, R., Jastrow, J.D., Gilbert, J.A., Meyer, F., Antonopoulos, D., 2017. Spatial scale drives patterns in soil bacterial diversity. Environ. Microbiol. 18, 2039–2051. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.13231.Spatial
- Ortíz-Castro, R., Contreras-Cornejo, H.A., Macías-Rodríguez, L., López-Bucio, J., 2009. The role of microbial signals in plant growth and development. Plant Signal. Behav. 4, 701– 712. https://doi.org/10.4161/psb.4.8.9047
- Pal, C., Asiani, K., Arya, S., Rensing, C., Stekel, D.J., Larsson, D.G.J., Hobman, J.L., 2017.
 Metal Resistance and Its Association With Antibiotic Resistance, in: Advances in Microbial Physiology. 70, 261–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ampbs.2017.02.001
- Pal, C., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Kristiansson, E., Larsson, D.G.J., 2016. The structure and diversity of human, animal and environmental resistomes. Microbiome. 4, 1-15 https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-016-0199-5.
- Pallecchi, L., Bartoloni, A., Paradisi, F., Rossolini, G.M., 2008. Antibiotic resistance in the absence of antimicrobial use: mechanisms and implications. Expert Rev. Anti. Infect. Ther. 6, 725–732. https://doi.org/10.1586/14787210.6.5.725
- Palmgren, H., McCafferty, D., Aspán, A., Broman, T., Sellin, M., Wollin, R., Bergström, S.,

Olsen, B., 2000. Salmonella in sub-Antarctica: low heterogeneity in Salmonella serotypes in South Georgian seals and birds. Epidemiol. Infect. 125, 257–262. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0950268899004586

- Pérez-Valera, E., Kyselková, M., Ahmed, E., Sladecek, F.X.J., Goberna, M., Elhottová, D., 2019. Native soil microorganisms hinder the soil enrichment with antibiotic resistance genes following manure applications. Sci. Rep. 9, 6760-6770. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-42734-5
- Perron, G.G., Whyte, L., Turnbaugh, P.J., Goordial, J., Hanage, W.P., Dantas, G., Desai, M.M., 2015. Functional characterization of bacteria isolated from ancient arctic soil exposes diverse resistance mechanisms to modern antibiotics. PLoS One 10, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069533
- Perry, J., Waglechner, N., Wright, G., 2016. The prehistory of antibiotic resistance. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 6, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a025197
- Perry, J.A., Wright, G.D., 2014. Forces shaping the antibiotic resistome. BioEssays 36, 1179–1184. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201400128
- Pointing, S.B., Belnap, J., 2012. Microbial colonization and controls in dryland systems. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 10, 551–562. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2831
- Poirel, L., Kämpfer, P., Nordmann, P., 2002. Chromosome-encoded Ambler class A betalactamase of Kluyvera georgiana, a probable progenitor of a subgroup of CTX-M extended-spectrum beta-lactamases. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 46, 4038–4040. https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.46.12.4038-4040.2002
- Pruden, A., Joakim Larsson, D.G., Amézquita, A., Collignon, P., Brandt, K.K., Graham, D.W., Lazorchak, J.M., Suzuki, S., Silley, P., Snape, J.R., Topp, E., Zhang, T., Zhu, Y.G., 2013. Management options for reducing the release of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes to the environment. Environ. Health Perspect. 121, 878–885. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1206446
- Purahong, W., Schloter, M., Pecyna, M.J., Kapturska, D., Daumlich, V., Mital, S., Buscot, F., Hofrichter, M., Gutknecht, J.L.M., Kruger, D., 2014. Uncoupling of microbial community structure and function in decomposing litter across beech forest ecosystems in Central Europe. Sci. Rep. 4, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep07014
- Queenan, K., Häsler, B., Rushton, J., 2016. A One Health approach to antimicrobial resistance surveillance: is there a business case for it? Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 48, 422–427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2016.06.014

Rangseekaew, P., Pathom-aree, W., 2019. Cave Actinobacteria as Producers of Bioactive

Metabolites. Front. Microbiol. 10, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.00387

- Rasche, F., Knapp, D., Kaiser, C., Koranda, M., Kitzler, B., Zechmeister-boltenstern, S., Richter, A., Sessitsch, A., 2011. Seasonality and resource availability control bacterial and archaeal communities in soils of a temperate beech forest. ISME J. 5, 389–402. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2010.138
- Rateb, M.E., Ebel, R., Jaspars, M., 2018. Natural product diversity of actinobacteria in the Atacama Desert. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 111, 1467–1477. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-018-1030-z
- Rath, K.M., Fierer, N., Murphy, D. V, Rousk, J., 2019. Linking bacterial community composition to soil salinity along environmental gradients. ISME J. 13, 836–846. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-018-0313-8
- Ronca, S., Ramond, J., Jones, B.E., Seely, M., Cowan, D.A., 2015. Namib Desert dune / interdune transects exhibit habitat-specific edaphic bacterial communities. Front. Microbiol. 6, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00845
- Ross, J., Topp, E., 2015. Abundance of Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Bacteriophage following Soil Fertilization with Dairy Manure or Municipal Biosolids, and Evidence for Potential Transduction. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 81, 7905–7913. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.02363-15
- Rothrock, M.J., Keen, P.L., Cook, K.L., Durso, L.M., Franklin, A.M., Dungan, R.S., 2016.
 How Should We Be Determining Background and Baseline Antibiotic Resistance
 Levels in Agroecosystem Research? J. Environ. Qual. 45, 420–431.
 https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2015.06.0327.
- Saenz, J.S., Airo, A., Schulze-Makuch, D., Schloter, M., Vestergaard, G., 2019. Functional Traits Co-Occurring with Mobile Genetic Elements in the Microbiome of the Atacama Desert. Diversity 11, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/d11110205.
- Schulze-Makuch, D., Wagner, D., Kounaves, S.P., Mangelsdorf, K., Devine, K.G., De Vera, J.P., Schmitt-Kopplin, P., Grossart, H.P., Parro, V., Kaupenjohann, M., Galy, A., Schneider, B., Airo, A., Frösler, J., Davila, A.F., Arens, F.L., Cáceres, L., Cornejo, F.S., Carrizo, D., Dartnell, L., DiRuggiero, J., Flury, M., Ganzert, L., Gessner, M.O., Grathwohl, P., Guan, L., Heinz, J., Hess, M., Keppler, F., Maus, D., McKay, C.P., Meckenstock, R.U., Montgomery, W., Oberlin, E.A., Probst, A.J., Sáenz, J.S., Sattler, T., Schirmack, J., Sephton, M.A., Schloter, M., Uhl, J., Valenzuela, B., Vestergaard, G., Wörmer, L., Zamorano, P., 2018. Transitory microbial habitat in the hyperarid Atacama Desert. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 115, 2670–2675.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1714341115

- Scola, V., Ramond, J.B., Frossard, A., Zablocki, O., Adriaenssens, E.M., Johnson, R.M.,
 Seely, M., Cowan, D.A., 2018. Namib Desert Soil Microbial Community Diversity,
 Assembly, and Function Along a Natural Xeric Gradient. Microb. Ecol. 75, 193–203. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-017-1009-8.
- Scott, L.C., Lee, N., Aw, T.G., 2020. Antibiotic Resistance in Minimally Human-Impacted Environments. Environ. Res. Public Heal. 17, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17113939.
- Selama, O., Amos, G.C.A., Djenane, Z., Borsetto, C., Laidi, R.F., Porter, D., Nateche, F., Wellington, E.M.H., Hacène, H., 2014. Screening for Genes Coding for Putative Antitumor Compounds, Antimicrobial and Enzymatic Activities from Haloalkalitolerant and Haloalkaliphilic Bacteria Strains of Algerian Sahara Soils. Biomed Res. Int. 2014, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/317524
- She, W., Bai, Y., Zhang, Y., Qin, S., Feng, W., Sun, Y., Zheng, J., Wu, B., 2018. Resource Availability Drives Responses of Soil Microbial Communities to Short-term Precipitation and Nitrogen Addition in a Desert Shrubland. Front. Microbiol. 9, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00186
- Shi, Y., Li, Y., Xiang, X., Sun, R., Yang, T., He, D., Zhang, K., Ni, Y., Zhu, Y.-G., Adams, J.M., Chu, H., 2018. Spatial scale affects the relative role of stochasticity versus determinism in soil bacterial communities in wheat fields across the North China Plain. Microbiome 6, 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0409-4
- Slade, D., Radman, M., 2011. Oxidative Stress Resistance in Deinococcus radiodurans, Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00015-10
- Song, H., Shi, Y., Yang, T., Chu, H., He, J., Kim, H., Jablonski, P., Adams, J.M., 2019.
 Environmental filtering of bacterial functional diversity along an aridity gradient. Sci.
 Rep. 9, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-37565-9
- Song, J.S., Jeon, J.H., Lee, J.H., Jeong, S.H., Jeong, B.C., Kim, S.-J., Lee, J.-H., Lee, S.H., 2005. Molecular Characterization of TEM-type B-lactamases Identified in Cold-Seep Sediments of Edison Seamount. J. Microbiol. 43, 172–178.
- Šťovíček, A., Azatyan, A., Soares, M.I., Gillor, O., 2017. The Impact of Hydration and Temperature on Bacterial Diversity in Arid Soil Mesocosms. Front. Microbiol. 8, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01078
- Šťovíček, A., Kim, M., Or, D., Gillor, O., 2017. Microbial community response to hydrationdesiccation cycles in desert soil. Sci. Rep. 7, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep45735

- Stubbendieck, R.M., Straight, P.D., 2016. Multifaceted Interfaces of Bacterial Competition. J. Bacteriol. 198, 2145 2155. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00275-16
- Thakur, S., Gray, G.C., 2019. The Mandate for a Global "One Health" Approach to Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 100, 227–228. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.18-0973
- Tripathi, B.M., Moroenyane, I., Sherman, C., Lee, Y.K., Adams, J.M., Steinberger, Y., 2017. Trends in Taxonomic and Functional Composition of Soil Microbiome Along a Precipitation Gradient in Israel. Microb. Ecol. 74, 168–176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-017-0931-0.
- Tyc, O., van den Berg, M., Gerards, S., van Veen, J.A., Raaijmakers, J.M., de Boer, W., Garbeva, P., 2014. Impact of interspecific interactions on antimicrobial activity among soil bacteria. Front. Microbiol. 5, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00567.
- Udikovic-Kolic, N., Wichmann, F., Broderick, N.A., Handelsman, J., 2014. Bloom of resident antibiotic-resistant bacteria in soil following manure fertilization. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 15202–15207. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1409836111
- Van Der Heijden, M.G.A., Bardgett, R.D., Van Straalen, N.M., 2008. The unseen majority: soil microbes as drivers of plant diversity and productivity in terrestrial ecosystems. Ecol. Lett. 11, 296–310. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01139.x
- van der Walt, A., Johnson, R.M., Cowan, D.A., Seely, M.K., Ramond, J.-B., 2016. Unique Microbial Phylotypes in Namib Desert Dune and Gravel Plain Fairy Circle Soils. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 82, 4592–4601. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00844-16.Editor
- Van Goethem, M.W., Pierneef, R., Bezuidt, O.K.I., Van De Peer, Y., Cowan, D.A., Makhalanyane, T.P., 2018. A reservoir of "historical" antibiotic resistance genes in remote pristine Antarctic soils. Microbiome 6, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0424-5
- Ventola, C.L., 2015. The antibiotic resistance crisis: causes and threats. P T J. 40, 277–83. https://doi.org/Article
- Vick-Majors, T.J., Priscu, J.C., A Amaral-Zettler, L., 2014. Modular community structure suggests metabolic plasticity during the transition to polar night in ice-covered Antarctic lakes. ISME J. 8, 778–789. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.190
- Vikesland, P., Garner, E., Gupta, S., Kang, S., Maile-Moskowitz, A., Zhu, N., 2019.
 Differential Drivers of Antimicrobial Resistance across the World. Acc. Chem. Res. 52, 916–924. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.8b00643
- Wang, F., Stedtfeld, R.D., Kim, O.-S., Chai, B., Yang, L., Stedtfeld, T.M., Hong, S.G., Kim,

D., Lim, H.S., Hashsham, S.A., Tiedje, J.M., Sul, W.J., 2016. Influence of Soil Characteristics and Proximity to Antarctic Research Stations on Abundance of Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Soils. Environmental Science & Technology. 50, 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b02863

- Wang, R., van Dorp, L., Shaw, L.P., Bradley, P., Wang, Q., Wang, X., Jin, L., Zhang, Q., Liu, Y., Rieux, A., Dorai-Schneiders, T., Weinert, L.A., Iqbal, Z., Didelot, X., Wang, H., Balloux, F., 2018. The global distribution and spread of the mobilized colistin resistance gene mcr-1. Nat. Commun. 9, 1179. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03205-z
- Wang, S., Wang, X., Han, X., Deng, Y., 2018. Higher precipitation strengthens the microbial interactions in semi-arid grassland soils. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 27, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12718
- Wang, Y., Hu, Y., Gao, G.F., 2020. Combining metagenomics and metatranscriptomics to study human, animal and environmental resistomes. Med. Microecol. 3, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medmic.2020.100014
- Wei, S.T.S., Higgins, C.M., Adriaenssens, E.M., Cowan, D.A., Pointing, S.B., 2015. Genetic signatures indicate widespread antibiotic resistance and phage infection in microbial communities of the McMurdo Dry Valleys, East Antarctica. Polar Biol. 38, 919–925. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-015-1649-4
- White, A., Hughes, J.M., 2019. Critical Importance of a One Health Approach to Antimicrobial Resistance. Ecohealth 16, 404–409. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-019-01415-5
- Wichmann, F., Udikovic-Kolic, N., Andrew, S., Handelsman, J., 2014. Diverse Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Dairy Cow Manure. MBio 5, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1128/mbio.01017-13
- Willms, I.M., Kamran, A., Aßmann, N.F., Krone, D., Bolz, S.H., Fiedler, F., Nacke, H., 2019. Discovery of Novel Antibiotic Resistance Determinants in Forest and Grassland Soil Metagenomes. Front. Microbiol. 10, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.00460
- World Health Organisation, 2015. Antimicrobial Resistance: One Health [WWW Document]. https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/antimicrobialresistance/policy/one-health. URL https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/diseaseprevention/antimicrobial-resistance/policy/one-health

Wright, G.D., 2010. Antibiotic resistance in the environment: A link to the clinic? Curr.

Opin. Microbiol. 13, 589-594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2010.08.005

- Wu, Y., Zeng, J., Zhu, Q., Zhang, Z., Lin, X., 2017. pH is the primary determinant of the bacterial community structure in agricultural soils impacted by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon pollution. Sci. Rep. 7, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40093
- Xie, W.Y., Shen, Q., Zhao, F.J., 2018. Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance from animal manures to soil: a review. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 69, 181–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejss.12494
- Yan, Q., Lopes, L.D., Shaffer, B.T., Kidarsa, T.A., Vining, O., Philmus, B., Song, C., Stockwell, V.O., Raaijmakers, J.M., McPhail, K.L., Andreote, F.D., Chang, J.H., Loper, J.E., 2018. Secondary Metabolism and Interspecific Competition Affect Accumulation of Spontaneous Mutants in the GacS-GacA Regulatory System in Pseudomonas protegens. MBio 9, 5-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01845-17
- Yan, Q., Philmus, B., Chang, J.H., Loper, J.E., 2017. Novel mechanism of metabolic coregulation coordinates the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites in Pseudomonas protegens. Elife. 6, 228-235. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.22835
- Yang, D., Qiu, Z., Shen, Z., Zhao, H., Jin, M., Li, H., Liu, W., Li, J.-W., 2017. The Occurrence of the Colistin Resistance Gene mcr-1 in the Haihe River (China). Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 14, 576-586. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14060576
- Yong, D., Toleman, M.A., Giske, C.G., Cho, H.S., Sundman, K., Lee, K., Walsh, T.R., 2009. Characterization of a New Metallo-β-Lactamase Gene, blaNDM-1 and a Novel Erythromycin Esterase Gene Carried on a Unique Genetic Structure in Klebsiella pneumoniae Sequence Type 14 from India. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53, 5046– 5054. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00774-09.
- Yuan, H., Mei, R., Liao, J., Liu, W.-T., 2019. Nexus of Stochastic and Deterministic Processes on Microbial Community Assembly in Biological Systems. Front. Microbiol. 10, 1536-1548.
- Yuan, H., Mei, R., Liao, J., & Liu, W. T. (2019). Nexus of Stochastic and Deterministic Processes on Microbial Community Assembly in Biological Systems. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 10, 1536. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01536.
- Yuan, M., Chen, M., Zhang, W., Lu, W., Wang, J., Yang, M., Zhao, P., Tang, R., Li, X., Hao, Y., Zhou, Z., Zhan, Y., Yu, H., Teng, C., Yan, Y., Ping, S., Wang, Y., Lin, M., 2012.
 Genome Sequence and Transcriptome Analysis of the Radioresistant Bacterium
 Deinococcus gobiensis: Insights into the Extreme Environmental Adaptations. PLoS
 One 7, e34458. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034458.

- Zhang, K., Shi, Y., Cui, X., Yue, P., Li, K., Liu, X., Tripathi, B.M., Chu, H., 2019. Salinity Is a Key Determinant for Soil Microbial Communities in a Desert Ecosystem. mSystems 4, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00225-18.
- Zhao, P., Bao, J., Wang, X., Liu, Y., Li, C., Chai, B., 2019. Deterministic processes dominate soil microbial community assembly in subalpine coniferous forests on the Loess Plateau. PeerJ 7, 6746–6765. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.6746
- Zhao, X., Wang, Jinhua, Zhu, L., Ge, W., Wang, Jun, 2017. Environmental analysis of typical antibiotic-resistant bacteria and ARGs in farmland soil chronically fertilized with chicken manure. Sci. Total Environ. 593–594, 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.03.062
- Zhou, J., Deng, Y., Zhang, P., Xue, K., Liang, Y., Van Nostrand, J.D., Yang, Y., He, Z., Wu, L., Stahl, D.A., Hazen, T.C., Tiedje, J.M., Arkin, A.P., 2014. Stochasticity, succession, and environmental perturbations in a fluidic ecosystem. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, E836-E845. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1324044111.
- Zhou, J., Ning, D., 2017. Stochastic Community Assembly : Does It Matter in Microbial Ecology. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 81, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00002-17.
- Zhou, X., Fornara, D., Ikanega, M., Agaki, I., Zhang, R., Jia, Z., 2016. The Resilience of Microbial Community under Drying and Rewetting Cycles of Three Forest Soils. Front. Microbiol. 7, 1101–1110. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01101.
- Zhou, Z., Wang, C., Luo, Y., 2020. Meta-analysis of the impacts of global change factors on soil microbial diversity and functionality. Nat. Commun. 11, 16881–16887. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16881-7
- Zhou, Z., Wang, C., Luo, Y., 2018. Response of soil microbial communities to altered precipitation : A global synthesis. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12761

CHAPTER TWO: HISTORICAL DIFFERENCES IN PRECIPITATION SHAPE MICROBIAL COMPOSITION AND FUNCTION IN NAMIB DESERT SOILS.

Chapter Two: Historical differences in precipitation shape microbial composition and function in Namib desert soils.

2.1 Abstract

The effect of changes in precipitation on soil microbial communities remains unresolved, especially in desert ecosystems. Using 16S rRNA gene high-throughput sequencing (to investigate taxonomic composition) and shotgun metagenome sequencing (to investigate functional potential) across two zones in the Namib Desert with contrasting precipitation, it was found that taxonomic and functional diversity remained unchanged across the two zones. Conversely, both microbial community composition and function differed significantly between the two zones. For instance, Acidobacteriota and 'virulence, disease and defence' related genes were more abundant in the high-rainfall zone. These changes were largely due to a small set of microbial taxa, some of which were present in low abundance (that is, members of the rare biosphere). Overall these results indicate that key climatic factors (i.e., precipitation) shape the taxonomic and functional attributes of the arid soil microbiome. It is proposed that changes in precipitation associated with global climate change will have important impacts on microbial community structure and function in desert soils.

2.2 Introduction

Deserts constitute one-fifth of the Earth's total surface area (Makhalanyane et al., 2015), and represent one of the harshest environments as they are characterised by scarce and irregular rainfall combined with very high temperatures (Heulin et al., 2017). Considering the current climate change scenarios, deserts and other dryland areas have been projected to increase by 11-23% by the end of this century (Jansson and Hofmockel, 2020; León-Sobrino et al., 2019). Notwithstanding these hard conditions, deserts harbour a surprisingly high biodiversity, including some of the most threatened species in the world (Durant et al., 2012).

Microbial communities are considered the dominant ecological drivers of these ecosystems (Quoreshi et al., 2019) because they regulate, among others, organic matter decomposition, carbon cycling, nitrogen cycling, and mediate nutrient acquisition (Zheng et al., 2019). Desert microbiomes display a generally lower species diversity and are phylogenetically and functionally distinct from those of other biomes (Fierer et al., 2012; Noronha et al., 2017). This

suggests that their responses to fluctuating environmental changes might also be distinct (She et al., 2018). Microbial diversity, composition and activity in desert soils is highly dependent on factors such as temperature, moisture and the availability of organic carbon (Andrew et al., 2012). Of these, water availability is the primary factor limiting microbial activity (Aslam et al., 2016) and therefore the ability of the arid soil microbiome to sustain, among others, nutrient cycling functions (Neilson et al., 2017).

The Namib Desert is a coastal desert on the western side of Southern Africa. It is the oldest hyper-arid desert on the planet (ca. 5 million years) with a highly variable surface temperature $(0 - 60 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ (Frossard et al., 2015; Pointing and Belnap, 2012). The Namib Desert has scarce and unpredictable rainfall inputs, receiving an average of 5 to 18 mm in the central zone, increasing gradually from the coast inland (Eckardt et al., 2012; Scola et al., 2018). An important ecological factor of the Namib Desert is the frequently occurring coastal fog, reaching as far as 75 km inland. The fog is influenced by the cold Benguela current and the southwest trade winds on the coast (Wassenaar et al., 2013). The contribution of rainfall and fog has led to a well-defined gradient of xeric stress across the Namib desert (Scola et al., 2018).

Gradients of precipitation have been suggested as good systems to evaluate the impact of precipitation on microbial communities (Neilson et al., 2017). Initial studies analysing soils across low (Bachar et al., 2010) and steep (Angel et al., 2010) precipitation gradients found that microbial diversity is not constrained by precipitation, but that water availability had an effect on microbial community composition. More recent studies, however, found that both microbial diversity and community composition are shaped by steep precipitation gradients (Crits-Christoph et al., 2013; Neilson et al., 2017). These contrasting results call for further investigation on how precipitation history shapes microbial community composition and function.

In an earlier study across the Namib Desert xeric gradient (Scola et al., 2018), it was shown that both microbial community structures and activities differed significantly between the three xeric zones (fog, mid- and high-rainfall). Microbial community structures were inferred using T-RFLP analysis, and their functional capacities were determined using extracellular enzyme activity assays. The combination of these methods does not, however, provide detailed

information on the taxonomic compositions and functional attributes of those communities. This information is important because both taxonomy and function can influence the stability and resilience of microbial communities and their functions in the context of climate change. For instance, highly functional redundant microbial communities should be more functionally stable, as functional redundancy should act as a buffer against changes in diversity and composition (Fetzer et al., 2015).

Here, with the use of high-throughput amplicon sequencing (targeting 16S rRNA genes), the bacterial community diversity and composition in two Namib Desert rainfall zones (medium rainfall and high rainfall) across the intrinsic xeric gradient were analysed. In addition, the functional potential of those communities was assessed using shotgun metagenomics. The working hypotheses were: 1) that the taxonomic and functional diversities would increase from the mid-rainfall zone to the high-rainfall zone due to an increase in water availability, which also can influence nutrient availability and 2) that the taxonomic and functional composition between the two zones would be distinct. To investigate this hypotheses, three basic questions were adressed: 1) Is precipitation history and other environmental variables associated with specific microbial taxa? 2) Is microbial diversity and composition altered across the two rainfall zones? 3) If there are changes in community composition, do they have a direct effect on community function?

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Study site and sampling

Eighteen surface soil (0 to 5 cm) samples were collected across a west-east transect $(23^{\circ}11'76.1"S 15^{\circ}16'69.2"E)$, which spans three xeric zones (fog, mid- (MR) and high-rainfall (HR)). Samples were collected from the mid (n = 9) and high rainfall (n = 9) zones. Using sterile methods, four aliquots of approx. 50g of soil were taken at each site at 100 m spacing to make a composite sample, and stored in sterile 50 ml polypropylene Falcon tubes (Grenier, Bio-One). Soils were transported to the laboratory within 5 days of collection and stored at - 80°C for molecular analysis.

2.3.2 Sample preparation and DNA sequencing

Soils were analysed for soil pH, total carbon, nitrogen, phosphorous and major cations (K, Na, Mg, Ca) at Bemlab, South Africa, using standard analytical procedures. Rainfall data were

from weather stations of the SASSCAL network accessed two (http://www. sasscalweathernet.org/) in the mid-rainfall area (Vogelfederberg station) and the high-rainfall area (Ganab station) (Table1, Appendix 1). Metagenomic DNA was extracted from the soil samples (n = 18), using the DNeasy Powersoil Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) as per the manufacturer's instructions. Samples were submitted for sequencing at a commercial supplier (MR DNA Lab, Shallowater, TX, USA, http://www.mrdnalab.com). Shotgun metagenomic sequencing was performed on a HiSeq 2500 Ultra-High-Throughput Sequencing system (IlluminaInc., San Diego, CA, USA) using paired-ends $(2 \times 250 \text{ bp})$ for 500 cycles as per the manufacturer's instructions.

Targeted sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene amplicons were amplified using primers 515F (5'-GTGYCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA-3') and 806R (5'-GGACTACNVGGGTWTCTAAT-3'). Paired-end 2 × 250 bp sequencing was performed on an Illumina MiSeq instrument according to manufacturer's instructions (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) with the parameters as described (https://support.illumina.com/16s-metagenomic-library-prep-guide-15044223b.pdf). The metagenome sequence data and 16S amplicon sequence data are available on NCBI (PRJNA592367).

2.3.3 Metagenome assembly and functional annotation

Raw reads were quality filtered using FastQC (Andrews, 2010), and trimmed using PrinSeq (Schmieder and Edwards, 2012). Reads were assembled using SPAdes v3.12 (Bankevich et al., 2012), with default settings and the "meta" parameter specified. The quality of each assembled metagenome (n = 18) was assessed using QUAST v5.0.2 (Mikheenko et al., 2018). Gene prediction was performed using Prodigal v2.6.3 (Hyatt et al., 2010) with the "meta" parameter specified. The protein files from the gene prediction were then used for functional annotation. The functional annotation of was carried out using two approaches. First, assembled contigs were uploaded and annotated with the Metagenomics Rapid Annotation using SEED Subsystems (MG-RAST) pipeline version 4 (Meyer et al., 2008). Broader functional pathways were generated using the SEED database (SEED levels 1 to 3), and frequency values of the hits of each individual subsystem for each metagenome were normalized before statistical analysis. Since MG-RAST does not apply very stringent thresholds (e.g., e-value <1.0e-5 and identity >60%), annotation lacks specificity at the individual functional level (An et al., 2014). Therefore, protein families were annotated using the pFam database (Finn et al., 2014). For

this approach, the prodigal protein files were scanned against Interpro's database (which houses member database signatures such as pFam) using the InterProScan software (Jones et al., 2014), which uses Hidden Markov Models (HMM) allowing for a high quality alignment.

2.3.4 Amplicon sequencing analysis

Sequence reads were demultiplexed using Sabre (<u>https://github.com/najoshi/sabre</u>) and primers and barcodes were removed using Cutadapt (Martin, 2011). Amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) were resolved using DADA2 version 1.14 (Callahan et al., 2016) in R version 3.6.2 (R Core Team, 2013). Quality filtering was done using the following parameters: MaxEE = 2, truncLen = 220, 200, with all other parameters were set to default. The error rates were estimated by learnErrors and sequences were dereplicated using derepFastq with default parameters. removeBimeraDenovo was used to remove chimeric sequences. Taxonomy was assigned against the Silva non-redundant database version 138 (<u>https://www.arb-silva.de</u>). The resulting taxonomy and read-count tables constructed in DADA2 were imported into phyloseq (McMurdie and Holmes, 2013) for downstream analysis.

2.3.5 Statistical analyses

The analyses were done in R (R Core Team, 2013) mainly using the packages phyloseq (McMurdie and Holmes, 2013), microbiome (Lahti et al., 2019), tidyverse (Wickham et al., 2019), vegan (Oksanen et al., 2007) and metacoder (Foster et al., 2017). Richness and Shannon, diversities were calculated using the vegan package (Oksanen et al., 2007). Phylogenetic Diversity (PD) was calculated using the picante package (Kembel et al., 2010). Taxonomic (ASVs) and functional (SEED level 3) community data were Hellinger-transformed and the Bray-Curtis distance measure was used to generate dissimilarity matrices. The correlation between taxonomic and functional dissimilarities was assessed using a Mantel test. The differences in community composition and function, and environmental conditions were visualised using Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) and Principal component analysis (PCA), respectively. A permutational analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) was carried out to test for differences in composition between habitats (mid-rainfall and high-rainfall) using the 'adonis' function in vegan. In order to test for differences in composition within habitats, a test for homogeneity of multivariate dispersions (PERMDISP) was done using the 'betadisper' function in vegan. The effect of environmental conditions in explaining variation in microbial community structure was assessed by distance-based Redundancy Analysis (db-RDA). To

assess the ASVs that differed in relative abundance between the two rainfall zones, DeSeq analysis was used. For the analysis of ecotypes, the ASVs were clustered into 97% similarity OTUs using the Opticlust algorithm (Westcott and Schloss, 2017) with Mothur (Schloss et al., 2009).

To determine the statistical differences between the functional profiles of the two climatic zones, the Statistical Analysis of Metagenome Profiles (STAMP) software was used (Parks et al., 2014). The table of frequency of hits generated by the SEED database was used as the input file (at levels 1 and 2). The P-values were calculated using the Welch's t-test (Welch, 1947, 1938) and corrected for multiple comparisons using Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate (Benjamini and Hochberg, 1995). The alpha diversity metrics for the functional profiles were calculated using SEED level 3. In order to better understand the relationship between taxonomy (class level) and function (SEED level 2), network analyses were performed. To this end, all possible Spearman's rank correlation coefficients were calculated. Only correlations with $\rho >$ 0.8 and *P*-values < 0.01 were selected. The nodes in the reconstructed network represent taxonomical or functional groups and the edges represent significant correlations between the nodes (Mendes et al., 2014). The networks were visualized using Igraph (Csardi and Nepusz, 2005). Core functions were assessed using protein domain families generated by the pFam database and defined as those present in 95% of samples and at $\geq 0.01\%$ of cumulative relative abundance. The core functional profile was represented by a heatmap that was created using the ComplexHeatmap (Gu et al., 2016) package in R.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Soil chemistry and climate

Physicochemical analysis showed low nutrient levels in all samples for most of the measured parameters (Figure 2.1). Soil pH, K, Mg and NO₃ levels did not differ statistically between the two zones. Statistically significant changes were observed for Ca and Na, which were both higher in the mid-rainfall zone (Kruskal-Wallis $\chi^2 = 7.7-10.1$; p < 0.05); while C, P, NH₄ and mean annual rainfall were higher in the high-rainfall zone (Kruskal-Wallis $\chi^2 = 5.7-13.1$; p < 0.05). PERMANOVA analysis showed a clear distinction in abiotic factors between the two rainfall zones (PERMANOVA: *F* ratio = 7.97, *P* < 0.001).



Figure 2.1. Environmental characterization of high-rainfall (HR) and mid-rainfall (MR) zones. Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences between means using Kruskal-Wallis tests (P < 0.05).

2.4.2 Soil taxonomic profiles

To assess the diversity and composition of the soil microbiomes, amplicon sequences were processed using DADA2. A total number of 667 353 reads were obtained (averaging 37 075 reads per sample), resulting in 4 366 ASVs. Of those, 1 047 (24% of the ASVs) were shared between the two zones, while 2 043 (47%) were unique to the high-rainfall zone and 1 276 (29%) were unique to the mid-rainfall zone (Figure 2.2a). The shared ASVs comprised 78% of the reads, the unique to high-rainfall 14% of the reads and mid-rainfall 8% of the reads.

The overall taxonomic analyses showed a total of seventeen phyla present across the two zones, with thirteen phyla showing relative abundances greater than 1% (Figures 2.2b and 2.3a, b). *Proteobacteria* with a mean relative abundance of 28% (\pm 5% SD) dominated the soils in both rainfall zones, followed by *Actinobacteriota* (22% \pm 8%), *Bacteroidota* (19% \pm 8%) and *Acidobacteriota* (7% \pm 3%). A relatively low abundance of *Firmicutes* (4% \pm 5%), *Verrucomicrobiota* (3% \pm 1%), and *Abditibacteriota* (3% \pm 2%) was found; with *Crenarchaeota* (6% \pm 3%) as the dominant archaeal group. A significant increase in the relative

abundance of *Acidobacteriota* (Figures 2.3b and 2.4) from the mid-rainfall to the high-rainfall zone was noted (Kruskal-Wallis $\chi^2 = 10.4$; P < 0.05), while the other phyla were equally distributed between the two rainfall zones.



Figure 2.2. Venn diagram (a) showing the number of shared and the number of unique OTUs in the high-rainfall zone (HR) and the mid-rainfall (MR) zone respectively and a taxonomic heat tree (b) displaying the differences in taxon abundance between the two zones.

Chapter 2



Figure 2.3. Relative abundance of the major phyla based on 16S rRNA gene sequences in both rainfall zones (a), showing the significant increase of *Acidobacteriota* (P < 0.05) in the high-rainfall zone (b). HR, high-rainfall; MR, mid-rainfall.



Figure 2.4. The distribution of *Acidobacteriota* at the genus level between the high and mid-rainfall zones. HR, high-rainfall; MR, mid-rainfall.

DESeq analysis was used to identify the ASVs that differed in relative abundance between the two rainfall zones. These results showed that 86 ASVs differed in abundance between the two zones (Figure 2.5). 53 ASVs increased significantly in the high-rainfall zone compared to the mid-rainfall zone. The largest increase (a 9.76 log-fold change) belonged to "*Candidatus* Nitrosphaera", phylum Crenarchaeota. Other ASVs that were more abundant in the high-rainfall zone were members of the genera *Bryobacter* (Acidobacteriota) (Figure 2.4) and *Chlorogloeopsis* PCC–7518 (Cyanobacteria). In contrast, 33 ASVs decreased significantly in the high-rainfall zone compared to the mid-rainfall zone. The largest decrease (a 10.02 log-fold change) was seen within the genus *Adhaeribacter*, phylum Bacteroidota.



Figure 2.5. Amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) in soil communities that significantly increased (positive log2-fold change values) or decreased (negative log2-fold change values) in relative abundance in high-rainfall compared to the mid-rainfall zone.

By clustering of the 86 ASVs into OTUs (97% identity cut-off), it was found that several of these OTUs were composed of different ASVs with specific preferences for one of the two rainfall zones (Appendix 1, Table 2). For instance, OTU-02 (belonging to the genus *Adhaeribacter*, phylum Bacteriodota) was represented by 3 different ASVS: ASV-170 and ASV-57, more abundant in the mid-rainfall zone; and ASV-307, more abundant in the high-rainfall zone.

2.4.3 Sources of community variation

Based on the 16S rRNA gene sequence data, alpha-diversity (richness, Shannon and phylogenetic diversity) was not significantly different between the two zones (Kruskal-Wallis; P > 0.05) (Figure 2.6). The Bray-Curtis distance (beta-diversity) metric after Hellinger transformation was determined for the soil microbiomes, ordinated through Principal Coordinate Analysis (PCoA) (Figure 2.7) and the differences between the two zones tested using PERMANOVA analysis. The results showed that the high-rainfall zone harbored different prokaryotic communities than the mid-rainfall zone (PERMANOVA: *F* ratio = 3.6, P < 0.001).



Figure 2.6. Alpha diversity measures (richness, phylogenetic diversity and Shannon diversity) for the two rainfall zones (Kruskal-Wallis; P > 0.05). HR, high-rainfall; MR, mid-rainfall.

Importantly, communities from the high-rainfall zone were considerably more variable in their ASVs composition than communities from the mid-rainfall zone (PERMDISP: *F* ratio = 8.5, P < 0.01). Using distance-based redundancy analysis (db-RDA), it was observed that community composition was largely driven by the rainfall zone, and the levels of phosphorous and nitrate, which together explained 38% (18% rainfall zone, 11% Phosphorus and 9% nitrate) of community variation (Figure 2.8).



Figure 2.7. PCoA ordination of Bray-Curtis distances (after Hellinger transformation) between microbial communities in the mid-rainfall (MR) and high-rainfall (HR) zones (PERMANOVA: *F* ratio = 3.6, P < 0.001).



Figure 2.8. Distance-based redundancy analysis (db-RDA) plot of the prokaryotic communities in the high (HR) and mid-rainfall (MR) zones. The two significant environmental variables explaining the variability in microbial community structure are represented by the arrows.

2.4.4 Soil functional profiles

The number of sequence reads per metagenome ranged from 9,868,998 to 11,726,910 (10,632,908 on average). Using MG-RAST SEED level 3 data, alpha-diversity (richness) was not significantly different between the two zones (Kruskal-Wallis; P < 0.05); however, Shannon diversity, which includes richness and evenness information, was higher in the high-rainfall zone (Kruskal-Wallis; P > 0.001) (Figure 2.9).



Figure 2.9. Alpha diversity measures (richness and Shannon) for the two rainfall zones. Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences between means using Kruskal-Wallis tests (P < 0.05). HR, high-rainfall; MR, mid-rainfall.

The Bray-Curtis distances (beta-diversity) after Hellinger transformation were determined for the functional profiles (SEED level 3), ordinated through Principal Coordinate Analysis (PCoA) (Figure 2.10) and the differences between the two zones were tested using PERMANOVA analysis. The results showed that the high-rainfall zone harbored different functional profiles than the mid-rainfall zone (PERMANOVA: *F* ratio = 3.5, *P* < 0.005).



Figure 2.10. PCoA ordination of Bray-Curtis distances (after Hellinger transformation) between functional profiles (SEED level 3) in the mid-rainfall (MR) and high-rainfall (HR) zones (PERMANOVA: F ratio = 3.5, P < 0.005).

To determine the functional capacity of the soil, metagenomes were analyzed with the SEED database on MG-RAST. At the top SEED level (level 1), the subsystems 'sulphur metabolism', 'metabolism of aromatic compounds', 'regulation and cell signalling', 'motility and chemotaxis', and 'virulence, disease and defence' were more abundant in the high-rainfall zone compared to the mid-rainfall zone (Welch's t-tests P < 0.05, Figure 2.11). Conversely, the subsystems 'Nucleosides and nucleotides' and 'clustering based subsystems' (i.e., protein biosynthesis, ribosomes and recombination related clusters) were more abundant in the midrainfall zone (Welch's t-tests P < 0.05). Subsystems relating to dormancy and sporulation were present in very low abundance and did not differ between the two zones. In addition, several subsystems related to stress were identified in higher abundance but they did not differ significantly between the two zones.



Figure 2.11. Relative abundance of functional categories (SEED subsystem level 1) for the high-rainfall (MR) and mid-rainfall (HR) zones. Statistical differences of the functional profiles were determined by STAMP (Welch's t-tests). Corrected P-values were calculated using the Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate.

At SEED level 2 (Figure 2.12), the mid-rainfall microbiomes showed an increased abundance of functional groups responsible for carbohydrate fermentation and secondary functions such as resistance to antibiotics and toxic compounds (Welch's t-tests, P < 0.05), while the high-rainfall microbiomes were more enriched in DNA replication and protein synthesis functions (Welch's t-tests, P < 0.05).

48



Figure 2.12. Relative abundance of functional categories (SEED subsystem level 2) for the high-rainfall (HR) and mid-rainfall (MR) zones. Statistical differences of the functional profiles were determined by STAMP (Welch's t-tests). Corrected P-values were calculated using the Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate.

2.4.5 Core functional profile

Individual functional roles were generated using the pFam (Protein domain Families) database. The results from the pFam database indicate that the most abundant protein families were related to DNA transposition (transposase), protein synthesis initiation (Translation initiation factor 1A /IF-1), energy metabolism, oxidative stress (thioredoxin, glutaredoxin) and general

stress responses (Csbd-like), metabolism of aromatic compounds and proteins responding to stresses like heat shock (GrpE) (Figure 2.13). Several protein families relating to nutrient cycling (nitrogen metabolism, phosphorous metabolism, iron acquisition and metabolism) were found in high and low abundance across the rainfall regimes, as well as families relating to competitive traits (e.g., Beta-lactamases).



Figure 2.13. Mean relative abundance of proteins/protein domain families (pFam) in mid-rainfall (MR) and high-rainfall (HR) zones. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean.

Functional genes in soil systems can be categorized into core and accessory components. Core functions were defined as those present in 95% of the samples and at $\geq 0.01\%$ of cumulative relative abundance. As expected, the predicted core functional profile (Figure 2.14) revealed a relatively high abundance of protein families linked to general housekeeping functions (i.e., DNA repair, cellular regulation, protein biosynthesis). Proteins involved in general homeostasis functions of the soil system (nutrient and energy metabolism) were also detected as well as the presence of general stress response and oxidative stress protein families, which were detected in relatively high abundance.





2.4.6 Relating microbial taxonomy and function

To explore the relationship between microbial taxonomy (ASVs) and function (protein-coding gene categories), correlation analysis was performed using both alpha and beta-diversity metrics. For alpha-diversity, taxonomic richness and phylogenetic diversity, but not Shannon diversity, were positively correlated with functional diversity (Spearman $\rho = 0.7$, P < 0.001 in both cases). Likewise, changes in microbial community composition were positively correlated with changes in microbial community function (Mantel $\rho = 0.6$, P < 0.001).

Network analysis showed that the networks for the two rainfall zones were substantially different (Figure 2.15). Overall, the number of positive correlations was higher in the mid-rainfall compared to high-rainfall zone. In the mid-rainfall zone the network presented 97 nodes and 153 edges; while for the high-rainfall zone, the network had 104 nodes and 118 edges (positive correlations). For the mid-rainfall zone, *Planctomycetes* (0.9 % relative abundance), *Rubrobacteria* (9.7%), *Chloroflexia* (1.9 %) and *Vicinamibacteria* (0.1%) were the classes that were positively correlated with more functions, whereas *Alphaproteobacteria* (24.7 %), *Entotheonellia* (0.04 %), *Actinobacteria* (8.2 %) and *Rubrobacteria* (6.3%); were the microbial classes that were positively correlated with more functions in the high-rainfall zone.



Figure 2.15. Networks based on correlation analysis (Spearman's $\rho > 0.8$, P < 0.01) with the taxonomic and functional profiles in the mid-rainfall (MR) and high-rainfall (HR) zones. Red nodes indicate taxonomic affiliation (at the class level) and blue nodes indicate functional categories based on subsystems at level 2 (SEED database). 1 - Alphaproteobacteria, 2 - Entotheonella, 3 - Actinobacteria, 4 - Rubrobacteria, 5 - Myxococcia, 6 - Planctomycetes, 7 - Longimicrobia, 8 - Thermoleophilia, 9 - Chloroflexia, 10 - Vicinamibacteria, 11 - Nitrospiria, 12 - Gammaproteobacteria, 13 - Acidimicrobiia and 14 - Bacteroidia

2.5 Discussion

The Namib desert is characterized by a precipitation gradient along an East-West transect, where the average annual precipitation increases around 20-fold from the coast inland (Scola et al., 2018). Here, using next generation sequencing (NGS), both the prokaryotic community composition (using targeted high-throughput sequencing of the 16S rRNA genes) and function (using shotgun metagenomic sequencing) of soils from two zones (high and mid-rainfall) were characterized along this gradient.

2.5.1 The effect of the environment on the diversity of the soil microbiome

The physicochemical soil analysis revealed low nutrient levels, with values comparable with other studies performed in the region (Armstrong et al., 2016; Frossard et al., 2015; Scola et al., 2018). The levels of Ca and Na decreased significantly from the mid-rainfall to the high rainfall zone. This was expected since the Namib is a coastal desert and salt aerosol deposition would decrease from the coast inland (Liang et al., 2016). Conversely, mean annual precipitation and the content of carbon, P and NH₄ were higher in the high-rainfall zone. This, together with the PERMANOVA results, supports the conclusion that the two zones have contrasting environmental conditions and that the high-rainfall zone appears to support more benign conditions.

The ubiquitous presence of phyla such as *Proteobacteria*, *Actinobacteriota*, *Bacteroidota* and *Acidobacteriota* across the two zones was expected, as these phyla have been consistently reported in studies across the Namib desert (Gunnigle et al., 2017; Ronca et al., 2015; Valverde et al., 2015; van der Walt et al., 2016) and seem to be the most dominant phyla detected in soil bacterial communities worldwide (Delgado-Baquerizo et al., 2018). Interestingly, *Acidobacteriota* were overrepresented in the high-rainfall zone compared to the mid-rainfall zone (Figure 2.3). This pattern has been observed in other studies (Barnard et al., 2013; Maestre et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2018) and appears to be related to the alterations in the nutrient pools in the soil after precipitation events (Barnard et al., 2013). Certain species of the phylum *Acidobacteriota* reflect a fast-response life strategy displaying a water-related opportunistic behavior (Barnard et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013). After re-wetting, some *Acidobacteriota* seem to increase ribosome synthesis to maximize growth (Barnard et al., 2013). This seems to contradict the classification of *Acidobacteriota* as slow-growing oligotrophic bacteria (e.g., Fierer et al., 2007). However, in addition to nutrient availability, other factors such as microbial interactions (e.g., competition) may contribute to the abundance of *Acidobacteriota*.

There were no significant differences (at the ASV level) in alpha-diversity (richness, Shannon and phylogenetic diversity) between the two zones. Thus, rejecting the initial hypothesis that microbial diversities would increase from the mid-rainfall zone to the high-rainfall zone. These findings are in agreement with those from a recent experimental study (Wu et al., 2020), suggesting that an increase in precipitation does not always result in higher microbial diversity. However, these results were in contrast with results from Scola et al., (2018), who found that alpha diversity increased from the coast inland. This study employed T-RFLP analysis which, although a reliable technique, may have not detected fine scale changes in bacterial community diversity (Carrino-Kyker et al., 2013). The results presented here also indicate that the microbial diversity of these soils is not affected by salt levels. More likely, the narrow range in precipitation differences in these study sites contributed to the pattern observed. However, the structure and composition (beta-diversity) of the microbial communities was significantly different between the two zones.

Using distance-based redundancy analysis it is shown that, in addition to precipitation history, phosphorous and nitrate were other important factors shaping microbial community composition (Figure 2.6). This is not unexpected, as it is well known that the levels of nitrogen and phosphorous commonly shape the composition and structure of microbial communities in soils (Austin et al., 2004; Šťovíček et al., 2017) and other ecosystems (Lee et al., 2017). Furthermore, the decrease in beta-diversity among the microbial communities from the midrainfall zone might be an indication of biotic homogenization (Rodrigues et al., 2013), the process by which the similarity of communities increases over time and/or space. Biotic homogenization can occur, for instance, in harsher environmental conditions because a substantial proportion of the regional species pool can be filtered out due to niche-selection (Chase, 2007). Indeed, the mid-rainfall zone seems to contain fewer microbial ASVs compared to the high-rainfall zone (2 323 ASV_{SMR} vs 3 090 ASV_{SHR}). In addition, higher productivity due to higher nutrient levels and/or heterogeneities in one or more environmental factors might have led to more divergent communities in the high-rainfall zone (Langenheder et al., 2011; Rodrigues et al., 2013).

Several ASVs that were more abundant in one of the two zones were identified. For instance, seven ASVs belonging to the genus *Bryobacter* (phylum Acidobacteriota) were more abundant in the high-rainfall zone compared to the mid-rainfall zone. This could be due to the higher

levels of carbon in these soils compared to mid-rainfall soils, as members of this genus are known to degrade plant-derived polymers such as cellulose (Kielak et al., 2016). *Chlorogloeopsis* PCC–7518 (Cyanobacteria) was also more abundant in the high-rainfall zone. Many cyanobacteria fix nitrogen, which requires high levels of energy and therefore P (e.g., ATP). Phosphorus levels were also higher in this zone. Conversely, the mid-rainfall zone was enriched with ASVs within the genus *Rubrobacter* and *Solirubrobacter* (both from the phylum Actinobacteriota). Members from these genera were also abundant in the driest locations in other desert studies (Crits-Christoph et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2020). Several strains of extremophilic *Rubrobacter* have been shown to express classic phenotypes of UV- and γ -radiation and desiccation resistant bacteria (Bull, 2011). Several strains of *Rubrobacter* have mechanisms which aid in the resistance of water deficits in soils, such as the increased production of enzymatic systems that counteract the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) under drought (Starke et al., 2017).

Interestingly, ecotypes (ASVs adapted to a specific ecological niche) were found within the same OTU (e.g., belonging to the genus *Adhaeribacter*, phylum Bacteriodota). These ecotypes seem to be adapted to different values of environmental factors such as available water, carbon and phosphorus concentrations. The presence of ecotypes within a species (microdiversity) has been proposed as a mechanism to promote community survival in changing environments (García-García et al., 2019).

2.5.2 Soil functional profile

Overall, the functional profile of these soils is consistent with reports from other studies carried out in hot deserts (Le et al., 2016; Saenz et al., 2019). Expectedly, the core functional profile included a relatively high abundance of protein families linked to general housekeeping functions (i.e., DNA repair, cellular regulation), which play important roles in maintaining the basic metabolism of bacterial cells for survival. Core protein families responsible for nutrient and energy metabolism were also reported, suggesting that these communities have a higher degree of metabolic flexibility which could result in communities that are more resilient (Allison and Martiny, 2008). Unexpectedly, genes relating to dormancy and sporulation in these soils were in very low abundance. This is in contrast to other studies that detected a high abundance of gene categories relating to dormancy and sporulation due to the ecological selection of moisture stress and frequent drying and rewetting cycles typical to desert environments (Fierer et al., 2012; Tripathi et al., 2017). A possible explanation for this observation is that those taxa associated with functions relating to dormancy and sporulation may be present in low abundance.

In hot desert soils, microbial community members are exposed to high levels of irradiation, low levels of water, wide temperature fluctuations and desiccation (León-Sobrino et al., 2019; Makhalanyane et al., 2015), which results in high levels of biotic stress. Stress forces microbes to shift resource allocation, which can alter the C and N flows imposing considerable influences on ecosystem functioning (Schimel et al., 2007). Indeed, several core protein families relating to stress response and subsystems (SEED level 2) involved in coping with stress (i.e., oxidative, osmotic, heat and cold shock stress) were found in the soil metagenomes of the two zones and in the same proportion. This suggests that the microbes from the two zones have probably developed similar adaptation mechanisms to thrive in these stressful environments (Belov et al., 2018), for instance cold shock proteins which are usually produced in response to a rapid decrease in temperature can also contribute to osmotic and oxidative stress tolerance (Keto-Timonen et al., 2016).

One of the most noticeable differences between the microbial communities of the high-rainfall and mid-rainfall zones was the differential abundance of genes involved in 'resistance to antibiotics and toxic compounds' (SEED level 2). These genes were more abundant in the highrainfall zone compared to the mid-rainfall zone. This pattern might reflect increased competition in the high-rainfall zone as this zone presents higher moisture and nutrient levels, which results in a more benign environment. Competition is hypothesized to be more intense in more benign environments, compared to more stressful environments in which cooperation should be more common (Van Horn et al., 2014). Several of those microbial classes that showed more positive correlations with functional categories, such as *Entotheonella* and *Nitrospira*, did not belong to the most abundant groups. Thus, it seems that relatively rare taxa might have an important role in these soil microbial communities. Rare soil microbes have been shown to drive key processes in biogeochemical cycles (Jousset et al., 2017).

2.5.3 Coupling between taxonomy and function

The relationship between microbial community composition and function is largely unknown (Escalas et al., 2019). One of the first comparative metagenomics studies of soil microbial

communities (Fierer et al., 2012) showed that functional profiles were highly correlated with taxonomic profiles; that is, that taxonomy and function were coupled. In contrast, other studies (Pan et al., 2014; Purahong et al., 2014) point out to a decoupling between these two components of microbial diversity, due to high functional redundancy (the coexistence of multiple distinct taxa capable of performing the same biochemical function) in soil microbial communities. Adaptive gene loss, convergent evolution and lateral gene transfer can result in the wide distribution, phylogenetically speaking, of many traits (Louca et al., 2018 and references therein).

In this study, a significant correlation (coupling) between microbial and functional diversity was observed, at both alpha and beta diversity levels. Therefore, in this system the microbial functional potential appears to be largely determined by microbial community composition. Although individual functions may not necessarily be correlated with community structure (e.g., due to horizontal gene transfer), these results indicate that the overall functional profiles of these microbial communities seem to be predictable, at least to a certain extent, from the taxonomic community profiles.

2.6 Conclusion

The main objective of this part of the research program was to understand how precipitation history affected microbial communities in terms of diversity, composition and function. Precipitation history had no effect on microbial taxonomic alpha-diversity which rejects the initial hypothesis that microbial diversities would increase from the mid-rainfall zone to the high-rainfall zone. However, the composition and function (beta-diversity) of microbial communities differed between the two zones in response to precipitation history, confirming the second hypothesis. Additionally, the decrease in beta diversity in the mid-rainfall zone could be due to biotic homogenization in response to the harsher environmental conditions (i.e., lower rainfall and nutrients). The most noticeable difference between the two rainfall zones were the increase in functions relating to competition (e.g., resistance to antibiotics (SEED level 2) and β -Lactamases (pFams)) in the high-rainfall zone, more likely as a result of increased moisture and higher nutrient levels compared to the mid-rainfall zone.

Furthermore, the changes in microbial community and function were governed by a narrow range of phylogenetic taxa including several that were rare, pointing out to an important role

of the rare biosphere. Overall, this study demonstrates that microbial functional potential appears to be largely determined by microbial community composition, and that the taxonomic and functional profiles of desert soil microbial communities are strongly influenced by precipitation. This is important in the context of climate change, which is expected to alter precipitation patterns (precipitation events are predicted to become more extreme but less frequent). This, in turn, will likely affect the biogeochemical processes linked to desert soil microbial communities.
2.7. References

Allison, S.D., Martiny, J.B.H., 2008. Resistance, resilience, and redundancy in microbial communities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 11512–11519.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0801925105.

- An, L., Pookhao, N., Jiang, H., Xu, J., 2014. Statistical approach of functional profiling for a microbial community. PLoS One 9, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0106588
- Andrew, D.R., Fitak, R.R., Munguia-Vega, A., Racolta, A., Martinson, V.G., Dontsova, K., 2012. Abiotic Factors Shape Microbial Diversity in Sonoran Desert Soils. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78, 7527–7537. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.01459-12.
- Andrews, S., 2010. Fastqc: A quality control tool for high throughput sequence data. http://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc.
- Angel, R., Soares, M.I.M., Ungar, E.D., Gillor, O., 2010. Biogeography of soil archaea and bacteria along a steep precipitation gradient. ISME J. 4, 553–563. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2009.136.
- Armstrong, A., Valverde, A., Ramond, J., Makhalanyane, T.P., Jansson, J.K., Hopkins, D.W., Aspray, T.J., Seely, M., Trindade, M.I., Cowan, D.A., 2016. Temporal dynamics of hot desert microbial communities reveal structural and functional responses to water input. Sci. Rep. 6, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep34434.
- Aslam, S.N., Dumbrell, A.J., Sabir, J.S., Mutwakil, M.H.Z., Baeshen, M.M.N., Abo-aba, S.E.M., Clark, D.R., Yates, S.A., Baeshen, N.A., Underwood, G.J.C., Mcgenity, T.J., Park, W., 2016. Soil compartment is a major determinant of the impact of simulated rainfall on desert microbiota. Environ. Microbiol. 18, 5.048–5062. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.13474
- Austin, A.T., Yahdjian, L., Stark, J.M., Belnap, J., Porporato, A., Norton, U., Ravetta, D.A., Schaeffer, S.M., 2004. Water pulses and biogeochemical cycles in arid and semiarid ecosystems. Oecologia 14, 221–235. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-004-1519-1
- Bachar, A., Al-Ashhab, A., Soares, M.I.M., Sklarz, M.Y., Angel, R., Ungar, E.D., Gillor, O., 2010. Soil Microbial Abundance and Diversity Along a Low Precipitation Gradient. Microb. Ecol. 60, 453–461. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-010-9727-1.
- Bankevich, A., Nurk, S., Antipov, D., Gurevich, A.A., Dvorkin, M., Kulikov, A.S., Lesin,
 V.M., Nikolenko, S.I., Pham, S., Prjibelski, A.D., Pyshkin, A. V, Sirotkin, A. V,
 Vyahhi, N., Tesler, G., Alekseyev, M.A., Pevzner, P.A., 2012. SPAdes: a new genome assembly algorithm and its applications to single-cell sequencing. J. Comput. Biol. 19,

455-77. https://doi.org/10.1089/cmb.2012.0021.

- Barnard, R.L., Osborne, C.A., Firestone, M.K., 2013. Responses of soil bacterial and fungal communities to extreme desiccation and rewetting. ISME J. 7, 2229–2241. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.104.
- Belov, A., Cheptsov, V., Vorobyova, E., 2018. Soil bacterial communities of Sahara and Gibson deserts: Physiological and taxonomical characteristics. AIMS Microbiol. 4, 685– 710. https://doi.org/10.3934/microbiol.2018.4.685.
- Benjamini, Y., Hochberg, Y., 1995. Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. J. R. Stat. Soc. Ser. B 57, 289–300.
- Bull, A., 2011. Actinobacteria of the Extremobiosphere in: Extremophiles. pp. 1203–1240.
- Callahan, B.J., Mcmurdie, P.J., Rosen, M.J., Han, A.W., Johnson, A.J.A., Holmes, S.P., 2016. DADA2: High resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. Nat. Methods 13, 581–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869.DADA2.
- Carrino-Kyker, S.R., Smemo, K.A., Burke, D.J., 2013. Shotgun metagenomic analysis of metabolic diversity and microbial community structure in experimental vernal pools subjected to nitrate pulse. BMC Microbiol. 13, 78-88. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-13-78.
- Chase, J.M., 2007. Drought mediates the importance of stochastic community assembly. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104, 17430–17434. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0704350104.
- Crits-Christoph, A., Robinson, C.K., Barnum, T., Fricke, W.F., Davila, A.F., Jedynak, B., Mckay, C.P., Diruggiero, J., 2013. Colonization patterns of soil microbial communities in the Atacama Desert. Microbiome 1, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/2049-2618-1-28.
- Csardi, G., Nepusz, T., 2005. The Igraph Software Package for Complex Network Research. InterJournal Complex Systems, 1695.
- Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Oliverio, A.M., Brewer, T.E., Benavent-González, A., Eldridge,
 D.J., Bardgett, R.D., Maestre, F.T., Singh, B.K., Fierer, N., 2018. A global atlas of the dominant bacteria found in soil. Science (80) 359, 320–325.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aap9516.
- Durant, S.M., Pettorelli, N., Bashir, S., Woodroffe, R., Wacher, T., Ornellas, P.D.E.,
 Ransom, C., Abdelgadir, M., Alqamy, H.E.L., Beddiaf, M., Belbachir, F., Berbash,
 A.A., Boitani, L., Breitenmoser, C., Cano, M., Chardonnet, P., Collen, B., Cornforth,
 W.A., Cuzin, F., Gerngross, P., Haddane, B., Hadjeloum, M., Jacobson, A., Jebali, A.,
 Lamarque, F., Mallon, D., Minkowski, K., Monfort, S., Ndoassal, B., Newby, J.,
 Ngakoutou, B.E., Niagate, B., Purchase, G., Samna, A.K., Soultan, A.E., Price, M.R.S.,

Baillie, J.E.M., 2012. Forgotten Biodiversity in Desert Ecosystems. Science (80) 336, 1– 2. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.336.6087.1379.

- Eckardt, F.D., Soderberg, K., Coop, L.J., Muller, A.A., Vickery, K.J., Grandin, R.D., Jack, C., Kapalanga, T.S., Henschel, J., 2012. The nature of moisture at Gobabeb, in the central Namib Desert. J. Arid Environ. 93, 7–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2012.01.011.
- Escalas, A., Hale, L., Voordeckers, J.W., Yang, Y., Firestone, M.K., Alvarez-Cohen, L., Jizhong, Z., 2019. Microbial functional diversity : From concepts to applications. Ecol. Evol. 9, 12000–12016. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5670.
- Fetzer, I., Johst, K., Schäwe, R., Banitz, T., Harms, H., Chatzinotas, A., 2015. The extent of functional redundancy changes as species ' roles shift in different environments. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112, 14888–14893. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1505587112.
- Fierer, N., Bradford, M., Jackson, R.B., 2007. Toward An Ecological Classification Of Soil Bacteria. Ecology 88, 1354–1364. https://doi.org/10.1890/05-1839.
- Fierer, N., Leff, J.W., Adams, B.J., Nielsen, U.N., Bates, S.T., Lauber, C.L., Owens, S., Gilbert, J.A., Wall, D.H., Caporaso, J.G., 2012. Cross-biome metagenomic analyses of soil microbial communities and their functional attributes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109, 21390–21395. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1215210110.
- Finn, R.D., Bateman, A., Clements, J., Coggill, P., Eberhardt, R.Y., Eddy, S.R., Heger, A., Hetherington, K., Holm, L., Mistry, J., Sonnhammer, E.L.L., Tate, J., Punta, M., 2014. Pfam: the protein families database. Nucleic Acids Res. 42, 222–230. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt1223.
- Foster, Z.S.L., Sharpton, T.J., Grünwald, N.J., 2017. Metacoder: An R package for visualization and manipulation of community taxonomic diversity data. PLoS Comput. Biol. 13, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005404.
- Frossard, A., Ramond, J., Seely, M., Cowan, D.A., 2015. Water regime history drives responses of soil Namib Desert microbial communities to wetting events. Sci. Rep. 5, 1– 13. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep12263.
- García-García, N., Tamames, J., Linz, A.M., Pedrós-Alió, C., Puente-Sánchez, F., 2019. Microdiversity ensures the maintenance of functional microbial communities under changing environmental conditions. ISME J. 13, 2969–2983. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-019-0487-8.
- Gu, Z., Eils, R., Schlesner, M., 2016. Complex heatmaps reveal patterns and correlations in multidimensional genomic data. Bioinformatics 32, 2847–2849.

https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btw313.

- Gunnigle, E., Frossard, A., Ramond, J., Guerrero, L., Seely, M., Cowan, D.A., 2017. Dielscale temporal dynamics recorded for bacterial groups in Namib Desert soil. Nat. Publ. Gr. 7, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40189.
- Heulin, T., De Luca, G., Barakat, M., Gommeaux, M., de Groot, A., Blanchard, L., Achouak, W., 2017. Bacterial Adaptation to Hot and Dry Deserts in: Adaptation of Microbial Life to Environmental Extremes. pp. 75–98.
- Hyatt, D., Chen, G.-L., Locascio, P.F., Land, M.L., Larimer, F.W., Hauser, L.J., 2010.
 Prodigal: prokaryotic gene recognition and translation initiation site identification. BMC
 Bioinformatics 11, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-11-119.
- Jansson, J.K., Hofmockel, K., 2020. Soil microbiomes and climate change. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 18, 35–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-019-0265-7.
- Jones, P., Binns, D., Chang, H.-Y., Fraser, M., Li, W., McAnulla, C., McWilliam, H., Maslen, J., Mitchell, A., Nuka, G., Pesseat, S., Quinn, A.F., Sangrador-Vegas, A., Scheremetjew, M., Yong, S.-Y., Lopez, R., Hunter, S., 2014. InterProScan 5: genomescale protein function classification. Bioinformatics 30, 1236–1240. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu031.
- Jousset, A., Bienhold, C., Chatzinotas, A., Gallien, L., Gobet, A., Kurm, V., Küsel, K., Rillig, M.C., Rivett, D.W., Salles, J.F., Van Der Heijden, M.G.A., Youssef, N.H., Zhang, X., Wei, Z., Hol, G.W.H., 2017. Where less may be more: How the rare biosphere pulls ecosystems strings. ISME J. 11, 853–862. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2016.174.
- Kembel, S., Cowan, P., Helmus, M., Cornwell, W., Morlon, H., Ackerly, D., Blomberg, S.,Webb, C., 2010. Picante: R tools for integrating phylogenies and ecology.Bioinformatics 26, 1463–1464.
- Keto-Timonen, R., Hietala, N., Palonen, E., Hakakorpi, A., Lindström, M., Korkeala, H., 2016. Cold Shock Proteins : A Minireview with Special Emphasis on Csp-family of Enteropathogenic Yersinia. Front. Microbiol. 7, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01151.
- Kielak, A.M., Barreto, C.C., Kowalchuk, G.A., van Veen, J.A., Kuramae, E.E., 2016. The Ecology of Acidobacteria : Moving beyond Genes and Genomes. Front. Microbiol. 7, 1– 16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00744.
- Lahti, L., Shetty, S., Blake, T., Salojarvi, J., 2019. Tools for microbiome analysis in R. Microbiome package version. Bioconductor.

Langenheder, S., Berga, M., Östman, Ö., Székely, A.J., 2011. Temporal variation of B-

diversity and assembly mechanisms in a bacterial metacommunity. ISME J. 6, 1107–1114. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.177.

- Le, P.T., Makhalanyane, T.P., Guerrero, L.D., Vikram, S., Peer, Y. Van De, Cowan, D.A., 2016. Comparative Metagenomic Analysis Reveals Mechanisms for Stress Response in Hypoliths from Extreme Hyperarid Deserts. Genome Biol. Evol. 8, 2737–2747. https://doi.org/10.1093/gbe/evw189.
- Lee, Z.M., Poret-Peterson, A.T., Siefert, J.L., Kaul, D., Moustafa, A., Allen, A.E., Dupont, C.L., Eguiarte, L.E., Souza, V., Elser, J.J., 2017. Nutrient Stoichiometry Shapes
 Microbial Community Structure in an Evaporitic Shallow Pond. Front. Microbiol. 8, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00949.
- León-Sobrino, C., Ramond, J., Maggs-Kölling, G., Cowan, D.A., 2019. Nutrient Acquisition , Rather Than Stress Response Over Diel Cycles , Drives Microbial Transcription in a Hyper-Arid Namib Desert Soil. Front. Microbiol. 10, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01054.
- Liang, T., Chamecki, M., Yu, X., 2016. Sea salt aerosol deposition in the coastal zone : A large eddy simulation study. Atmos. Res. 180, 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosres.2016.05.019.
- Louca, S., Polz, M.F., Mazel, F., Albright, M.B.N., Huber, J.A., O'Connor, M.I., Ackermann, M., Hahn, A.S., Srivastava, D.S., Crowe, S.A., Doebeli, M., Parfrey, L.W., 2018.
 Function and functional redundancy in microbial systems. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 2, 936–943. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-018-0519-1.
- Maestre, F.T., Delgado-baquerizo, M., Jeffries, T.C., Eldridge, D.J., Ochoa, V., Gozalo, B., Quero, J.L., Garcia-Gomez, M., Gallardo, A., Ulrich, W., Bowker, M., Arredondo, T., Barraza-Zepeda, C., Bran, D., Florentino, A., Gaitan, J., Gutierrez, J., Huber-Sannwaldi, E., Jankju, M., Mau, R., Miriti, M., Naser, K., Orspina, A., Stavi, I., Wang, D., Woods, N., Yuan, X., Zaady, E., Singh, B., 2015. Increasing aridity reduces soil microbial diversity and abundance in global drylands. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112, 15684–15689. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1516684112.
- Makhalanyane, T.P., Valverde, A., Gunnigle, E., Frossard, A., Ramond, J., Cowan, D.A.,
 2015. Microbial ecology of hot desert edaphic systems. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 39, 203–221. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsre/fuu011.
- Martin, M., 2011. Cutadapt removes adapter sequences from high-throughput sequence reads. EMBnet.journal 17, 10–12.
- McMurdie, P.J., Holmes, S., 2013. Phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive

Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. PLoS One 8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061217.

- Mendes, L.W., Kuramae, E.E., Navarrete, A.A., Van Veen, J.A., Tsai, S.M., 2014. Taxonomical and functional microbial community selection in soybean rhizosphere. ISME J. 8, 1577–1587. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2014.17.
- Meyer, F., Paarmann, D., D'Souza, M., Olson, R., Glass, E.M., Kubal, M., Paczian, T., Rodriguez, A., Stevens, R., Wilke, A., Wilkening, J., Edwards, R.A., 2008. The metagenomics RAST server – a public resource for the automatic phylogenetic and functional analysis of metagenomes. BMC Bioinformatics 9, 386. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-9-386.
- Mikheenko, A., Prjibelski, A., Saveliev, V., Antipov, D., Gurevich, A., 2018. Versatile genome assembly evaluation with QUAST-LG. Bioinformatics 34, 42–50. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty266.
- Neilson, J.W., Califf, K., Cardona, C., Copeland, A., van Treuren, W., Josephson, K.L., Knight, R., Gilbert, J.A., Quade, J., Caporaso, J.G., Maier, R.M., 2017. Significant Impacts of Increasing Aridity on the Arid Soil Microbiome. mSystems 2, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00195-16.
- Noronha, M.F., Lacerda Júnior, G.V., Gilbert, J.A., de Oliveira, V.M., 2017. Taxonomic and functional patterns across soil microbial communities of global biomes. Sci. Total Environ. 609, 1064–1074. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.07.159.
- Oksanen, J., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., O'Hara, B., Stevens, M., 2007. The vegan package. Community Ecol. Packag. 10, 631–637.
- Pan, Y., Cassman, N., de Hollander, M., Mendes, L.W., Korevaar, H., Geerts, R.H.E.M., Veen, J.A. Van, Kuramae, E.E., 2014. Impact of long-term N, P, K, and NPK fertilization on the composition and potential functions of the bacterial community in grassland soil. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 90, 195–205. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6941.12384.
- Parks, D.H., Tyson, G.W., Hugenholtz, P., Beiko, R.G., 2014. STAMP: statistical analysis of taxonomic and functional profiles. Bioinformatics 30, 3123–3124. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu494.
- Pointing, S.B., Belnap, J., 2012. Microbial colonization and controls in dryland systems. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 10, 551–562. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2831.
- Purahong, W., Schloter, M., Pecyna, M.J., Kapturska, D., Daumlich, V., Mital, S., Buscot, F., Hofrichter, M., Gutknecht, J.L.M., Kruger, D., 2014. Uncoupling of microbial

community structure and function in decomposing litter across beech forest ecosystems in Central Europe. Sci. Rep. 4, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep07014.

- Quoreshi, A.M., Suleiman, M.K., Kumar, V., Manuvel, A.J., Sivadasan, M.T., Islam, M.A., Khasa, D.P., 2019. Untangling the bacterial community composition and structure in selected Kuwait desert soils. Appl. Soil Ecol. 138, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2019.02.006
- R Core Team, 2013. A language and environment for statistical computing. R Found. Stat. Comput.
- Rodrigues, J.L.M., Pellizari, V.H., Mueller, R., Baek, K., Jesus, E.C., Paula, F.S., Mirza, B., Hamaoui, G., Tsai, S.M., Feigl, B., Tiedje, J.M., Bohannan, B., Nusslein, K., 2013.
 Conversion of the Amazon rainforest to agriculture results in biotic homogenization of soil bacterial communities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 110, 988–993. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1220608110.
- Ronca, S., Ramond, J., Jones, B.E., Seely, M., Cowan, D.A., 2015. Namib Desert dune / interdune transects exhibit habitat-specific edaphic bacterial communities. Front. Microbiol. 6, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00845.
- Saenz, J.S., Airo, A., Schulze-Makuch, D., Schloter, M., Vestergaard, G., 2019. Functional Traits Co-Occurring with Mobile Genetic Elements in the Microbiome of the Atacama Desert. Diversity 11, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/d11110205.
- Schimel, J., Balser, T., Wallenstein, M., 2007. Microbial Stress-Response Physiology And Its Implications For Ecosystem Function. Ecology 88, 1386–1394. https://doi.org/10.1890/06-0219.
- Schloss, P.D., Westcott, S.L., Ryabin, T., Hall, J.R., Hartmann, M., Hollister, E.B.,
 Lesniewski, R.A., Oakley, B.B., Parks, D.H., Robinson, C.J., Sahl, J.W., Stres, B.,
 Thallinger, G.G., Van Horn, D.J., Weber, C.F., 2009. Introducing mothur: open-source,
 platform-independent, community-supported software for describing and comparing
 microbial communities. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75, 7537–7541.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01541-09.
- Schmieder, R., Edwards, R., 2012. Insights into antibiotic resistance through metagenomic approaches. Future Microbiol. 7, 73–89. https://doi.org/10.2217/fmb.11.135.
- Scola, V., Ramond, J.B., Frossard, A., Zablocki, O., Adriaenssens, E.M., Johnson, R.M., Seely, M., Cowan, D.A., 2018. Namib Desert Soil Microbial Community Diversity, Assembly, and Function Along a Natural Xeric Gradient. Microb. Ecol. 75, 193–203. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-017-1009-8.

- She, W., Bai, Y., Zhang, Y., Qin, S., Feng, W., Sun, Y., Zheng, J., Wu, B., 2018. Resource Availability Drives Responses of Soil Microbial Communities to Short-term Precipitation and Nitrogen Addition in a Desert Shrubland. Front. Microbiol. 9, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00186.
- Starke, R., Bastida, F., Abadia, J., Garcia, C., Nicolas, E., Jehmlich, N., 2017. Ecological and functional adaptations to water management in a semiarid agroecosystem: a soil metaproteomics approach. Sci. Rep. 7, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09973-W.
- Šťovíček, A., Kim, M., Or, D., Gillor, O., 2017. Microbial community response to hydrationdesiccation cycles in desert soil. Sci. Rep. 7, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep45735.
- Tripathi, B.M., Moroenyane, I., Sherman, C., Lee, Y.K., Adams, J.M., Steinberger, Y., 2017. Trends in Taxonomic and Functional Composition of Soil Microbiome Along a Precipitation Gradient in Israel. Microb. Ecol. 74, 168–176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-017-0931-0.
- Valverde, A., Makhalanyane, T.P., Seely, M.K., Cowan, D.A., 2015. Cyanobacteria drive community composition and functionality in rock-soil interface communities. Mol. Ecol. 24, 812–821. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13068.
- van der Walt, A., Johnson, R.M., Cowan, D.A., Seely, M.K., Ramond, J.-B., 2016. Unique Microbial Phylotypes in Namib Desert Dune and Gravel Plain Fairy Circle Soils. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 82, 4592–4601. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00844-16.
- Van Horn, D.J., Okie, J.G., Buelow, H.N., Gooseff, M.N., Barrett, J.E., Takacs-vesbach, C.D., 2014. Soil Microbial Responses to Increased Moisture and Organic Resources along a Salinity Gradient in a Polar Desert. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 80, 3034–3043. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03414-13.
- Wassenaar, T.D., Henschel, J.R., Pfaffenthaler, M.M., Mutota, E.N., Seely, M.K., Pallett, J., 2013. Ensuring the future of the Namib's biodiversity: Ecological restoration as a key management response to a mining boom. J. Arid Environ. 93, 126–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2012.05.012.
- Welch, B., 1947. The generalisation of students problem when several different population variances are involved. Biometrika 34, 23–35.
- Welch, B., 1938. The significance of the difference between two means when the population variances are unequal. Biometrika 29, 350–362.
- Westcott, S.L., Schloss, P.D., 2017. OptiClust, an Improved Method for Assigning Amplicon-Based Sequence Data to Operational Taxonomic Units. mSphere 2, 7-17.

https://doi.org/10.1128/mSphereDirect.00073-17.

- Wickham, H., Averick, M., Bryan, J., Chang, W., Mcgowan, L.D.A., François, R.,
 Grolemund, G., Hayes, A., Henry, L., Hester, J., Kuhn, M., Lin, T., Miller, E., Bache,
 S.M., Müller, K., Ooms, J., Robinson, D., Seidel, D.P., Spinu, V., Takahashi, K.,
 Vaughan, D., Wilke, C., Woo, K., 2019. Welcome to the Tidyverse Tidyverse package.
 J. open source Softw. 4, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.01686.
- Wu, K., Xu, W., Yang, W., 2020. Effects of precipitation changes on soil bacterial community composition and diversity in the Junggar desert of Xinjiang, China. PeerJ 8, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.8433.
- Zhang, H., Liu, W., Xiaoming, K., Xiaoyong, C.U.I., Yanfen, W., Haitao, Z., Xiaoqing, Q., Yanbin, H., 2018. Changes in soil microbial community response to precipitation events in a semi-arid steppe of the Xilin River Basin , China. J. Arid Land 11, 97-110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40333-018-0071-5.
- Zheng, Q., Hu, Y., Zhang, S., Noll, L., Böckle, T., Dietrich, M., Herbold, C.W., Eichorst, S.A., Woebken, D., Richter, A., Wanek, W., 2019. Soil multifunctionality is affected by the soil environment and by microbial community composition and diversity. Soil Biol. Biochem. 136, 107521. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2019.107521.

CHAPTER THREE: CHARACTERIZATION OF THE SOIL RESISTOME AND MOBILOME IN NAMIB DESERT SOILS

CHAPTER 3: Characterization of the soil resistome and mobilome in Namib Desert soils

3.1 Abstract

The study of the soil resistome is important in understanding the evolution of antibiotic resistance, and its dissemination between the clinic and the environment. However, very little is known about the resistome of hot deserts. Soil was sampled in the Namib Desert across a gradient that gradually increased in precipitation from the coast in-land. With the use of shotgun metagenomics, the resistance mechanisms of the resistome and the mobilome in these soils were identified and characterized. Resistance genes were also linked to potential microbial hosts. A variety of antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) were detected, including those that were acquired horizontally. The presence of metal/biocide resistance genes (MRGs) in close proximity to ARGs indicated a potential for co-selection of resistance to antibiotics and metals/biocides. Mobile genetic elements (MGEs) that may contribute to the mobilization of both ARGs and MRGs were detected. The presence of MGEs and horizontally acquired ARGs most likely contributed to a decoupling between bacterial community composition and ARG profiles. Overall, this study indicates that soil bacterial communities in Namib Desert soils host a number of resistance elements and that horizontal gene transfer, rather than phylogeny, could play an essential role in their dynamics.

3.2. Introduction

The misuse and overuse of antibiotics in the human, animal and agricultural sectors is an important selective force in the evolution and the dissemination of antibiotic resistance (Bhullar et al., 2012; von Wintersdorff et al., 2016), which is one of the major global challenges of the 21st century as it poses serious risks to human health. However, antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) have been uncovered in 30 000 year old permafrost metagenome samples (D'costa et al., 2011), 10 000 year old cold-seep sediments (Song et al., 2005) and in soil samples from an isolated cave with no anthropogenic activity for four million years (Bhullar et al., 2012). This is an indication that antibiotic resistance is ancient and long predates the use of antibiotics by humans (Perry et al., 2016).

Soils are perhaps the most significant reservoir of ARGs as many soil microbes produce natural antibiotics to outcompete other microbes (Nesme and Simonet, 2015; Zhu et al., 2019). Indeed, most clinically relevant antibiotics such us streptomycin, tetracycline and vancomycin originate from soil-dwelling actinomycetes (Cytryn, 2013; D'Costa et al., 2006). Microorganisms have developed a variety of resistance mechanisms (encoded by resistance genes) to prevent them from succumbing to these toxic metabolites (Jiang et al., 2017; Thaker et al., 2013). Many bacteria are naturally resistant to a broad spectrum of antibiotics (Allen et al., 2009; Demaneche et al., 2008), which may reflect their ability to produce more than one antibiotic, or be a by-product of their evolution in proximity to antibiotic-producing neighboring bacteria (Perry and Wright, 2013). Consequently, it is now clear that the soil environment harbors a plethora of both discovered and undiscovered resistance genes, which together constitute the soil *resistome* (Dantas and Sommer, 2012; Gillings et al., 2017).

Most types of soils contain heavy metals, some of which (at low concentrations) contribute to the biochemical health of microorganisms (Chen et al., 2019; Knapp et al., 2017). For example, at low concentrations zinc plays a significant role in cell division, protein synthesis and nucleic acid metabolism; while at high concentrations Zn can be toxic to microbes by inactivating proteins (Oves et al., 2016). Therefore, resistance to metals is also thought to be an ancient phenomenon (Pal et al., 2017). Interestingly, metals can act as co-selective forces contributing to the increase in antibiotic resistance (Knapp et al., 2017). The two major mechanisms that are involved in co-selection of resistance are co-resistance and cross resistance (Murray et al., 2019). Co-resistance is the genetic linkage of resistance genes, meaning that genes responsible for resistance to two or more compounds are close to each other, most likely on a mobile genetic element (i.e., plasmid, transposon or integron) (Pal et al., 2017; Seiler and Berendonk, 2012). Cross resistance occurs when a resistance gene or a single resistance mechanism simultaneously encodes for resistance to different compounds (Imran et al., 2019; Pal et al., 2017).

The relative importance of co-selection of resistance to both antibiotics and metals/biocides is likely to be different in different environments. For instance, some desert soils are known to have low anthropogenic antibiotic input but relatively high levels of metals over long periods of time (Knapp et al., 2011). Consequently in deserts, even in the absence of antibiotics, metals

may provide a stronger and more persistent selective pressure for the environmental selection of antibiotic resistance (Zhao et al., 2018).

Genes encoding traits, including antibiotic and metal resistance genes, can move between soil microbial taxa via mobile genetic elements, collectively termed the *mobilome* (Carr et al., 2020). The mobilome facilitates the acquisition of traits between bacteria through any of the mechanisms collectively referred to as horizontal gene transfer (HGT); that is, via transformation (involving free DNA), transduction (involving bacteriophages) or conjugation (involving plasmids and integrative conjugative elements) (Peterson and Kaur, 2018). Soil bacteria undergo higher rates of gene transfer in 'hotspots' (i.e., areas of higher nutritional content) such as the rhizosphere and manure-treated soil (Perry and Wright, 2013). However, the prevalence of horizontal gene transfer in native soil microbial communities and the effects it may have on soil processes are largely unknown and require further investigation (Fierer, 2017).

The study of the soil resistome has attracted considerable attention (Han et al., 2016; Ibrahim et al., 2016; McCann et al., 2019; Van Goethem et al., 2018) because it has been hypothesized that many ARGs found in clinical isolates can originate from soil or vice versa (that is, the soil acts as a natural environmental reservoir for ARGs). Therefore, investigating the soil resistome could enable the detection of clinically-relevant antibiotic resistance mechanisms (Forsberg et al., 2012; McCann et al., 2019; Walsh and Duffy, 2013). As it is known that the abundance of ARGs increases with human activity, most of these investigations have been conducted in anthropogenically impacted soils (Demaneche et al., 2008; Forsberg et al., 2012; Pehrsson et al., 2013). Tracking antibiotic resistance genes in less impacted or unimpacted (pristine) soils is also important because this would allow for the detection of background or intrinsic levels of antibiotic resistance in soil in order to estimate potential human health risks (Scott et al., 2020). Additionally, it might help to elucidate the extent of contamination of ARGs due to anthropogenic activity. For instance, studies in both Antarctica (Hernández and González-Acuña, 2016; Wang et al., 2016) and the high Arctic (McCann et al., 2019) revealed humanrelated ARGs showing that some of these soils are more impacted than expected. Conversely, a recent study in Antarctic soils of the remote Mackay Glacier region found that the ARGs present most likely represented functional background (historical) genes transferred vertically over generations (Van Goethem et al., 2018).

Much less is known about the antibiotic resistome of hot desert soils than of mesic and agricultural soils, with most previous studies limited to the screening, using cultured-based approaches, of antibiotic resistant bacteria (Belov et al., 2018; Rateb et al., 2018, and references therein). A recent metagenomic study (Saenz et al., 2019) revealed the presence of ARGs in Atacama Desert soils, although the main focus of the work was on functional traits such as genes responsible for oxidative stress co-occurring with mobile genetic elements.

Here, using shotgun metagenomics, we characterized the soil resistome and mobilome from two different zones (mid vs high rainfall) in the Namib Desert. The aims of this part of the study were to investigate the following: 1) the diversity and composition of ARGs and MRGs, 2) whether the diversity and composition of the resistome (ARGs and MRGs) was influenced by rainfall regime (i.e., water availability/aridity), 3) if there is a link between microbial community composition and the antibiotic resistome, 4) whether or not horizontal gene transfer (HGT) affected the distribution of the resistome and 5) if there is co-selection of resistance with metals/biocides and antibiotics.

3.3. Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Sampling, soil chemistry and climate data

Eighteen surface soils (0 to 5 cm deep) were collected in two zones (mid-rainfall (MR, 9 samples) and high-rainfall (HR, 9 samples)) of the xeric gradient across the Namib desert. The 18 sampling sites were spaced 5-10 km apart and at each site four aliquots of 50g of soil were taken at 100 m spacing and combined in a composite sample. Soils were collected using sterile methods and stored in sterile 50 ml polypropylene Falcon tubes (Grenier, Bio-One) at -80°C within 5 days after collection. Soils were analysed for soil pH, total carbon, nitrogen phosphorous and major cations (K, Na, Mg, Ca) at Bemlab, South Africa, using standard procedures. Rainfall and soil temperature data were accessed from two weather stations of the SASSCAL network (http://www. sasscalweathernet.org/) in the mid-rainfall area (Vogelfederberg station) and the high-rainfall area (Ganab station) (Table 1, Appendix 1).

3.3.2 DNA extraction and sequencing

Metagenomic DNA was extracted from the soil samples using the DNeasy Powersoil Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) as per the manufacturer's instructions. DNA samples were submitted for sequencing at a commercial supplier for both metagenome and 16SrRNA sequencing (MR DNA Lab, Shallowater, TX, USA, http://www.mrdnalab.com). Shotgun metagenomic sequencing was performed on a HiSeq 2500 Ultra-High-Throughput Sequencing system (IlluminaInc., San Diego, CA, USA) using paired-ends (2 × 250 bp) for 500 cycles as per the manufacturer's instructions.

Targeted sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene amplicons were amplified using primers 515F (5'-GTGYCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA-3') and 806R (5'-GGACTACNVGGGTWTCTAAT-3'). Paired-end 2 × 250 bp sequencing was performed on an Illumina MiSeq instrument according to manufacturer's instructions (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) with the parameters as described (<u>https://support.illumina.com/16s-metagenomic-library-prep-guide-15044223-</u> <u>b.pdf</u>). The metagenome sequence data and 16S amplicon sequence data are available on NCBI (PRJNA592367).

3.3.3 Metagenome assembly and ARG annotation

Raw reads were quality filtered using FastQC (Andrews, 2010), and trimmed using PrinSeq (Schmieder and Edwards, 2012). Quality reads were assembled using SPAdes v3.12 (Bankevich et al., 2012), with default settings and the "meta" parameter specified. The quality of each assembled metagenome (n = 18) was assessed using QUAST v5.0.2 (Mikheenko et al., 2018). Gene prediction was performed using Prodigal v2.6.3 (Hyatt et al., 2010) with the "meta" parameter specified. To identify antibiotic resistance genes that may have been acquired by HGT, predicted genes were compared against the ResFinder database (Zankari et al., 2012) by means of BLASTn with an E-value threshold of 1x10⁻⁶. The filtering parameters used were: 100% similarity and a minimum query length of >50 %. Genes predicted by prodigal were also compared to the comprehensive antibiotic resistance database (CARD) (McArthur et al., 2013) by means of BLASTp with an E-value threshold of 1x10⁻⁶. Results were filtered for hits with a minimum percentage similarity of 87% and a minimum query length of >40%. These parameters were set with BLAST against all other databases used subsequently.

3.3.4 Mobile genetic elements, metal resistance genes and ARG host phyla annotation

To identify mobile genetic elements flanking ARGS, contigs were compared to the Mobile Genetic Elements Database (Pärnänen et al., 2018) by means of BLASTn. Detected plasmids were confirmed with the PlasmidFinder database (Carattoli et al., 2014). Metal and biocide resistance genes were detected by running BLASTp with these contigs against the BacMet database (Pal et al., 2014). The BacMet database is a manually curated database of antibacterial biocide and metal resistance genes, collectively abbreviated as MRGs in this study. In order to link the ARGs detected to specific taxonomy (i.e., inferring ARG hosts) the assembled contigs were compared against the proGenomes Database V2 (Mende et al., 2017) using DIAMOND v0.7.9.58 with the previously mentioned parameters. Only those contigs that were larger than 1,000bp were annotated.

3.3.5 16S rRNA amplicon sequence analysis

Sequence reads were demultiplexed using Sabre (https://github.com/najoshi/sabre) and primers were removed with cutadapt 2.10 (Martin, 2011). Amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) were resolved using DADA2 version 1.14 (Callahan et al., 2016) in R version 3.6.2 (R Core Team, 2013). Quality filtering and trimming were done using MaxEE = c(2,2), truncLen = c(220, 1)200), all other parameters were set to default. The error rates were estimated by learnErrors sequences dereplicated using derepFastq with default and were parameters. removeBimeraDenovo was used to remove chimeric sequences. Taxonomy was assigned against the SILVA non-redundant database version 138 (https://www.arb-silva.de).

3.3.6 Data analyses

The analyses were done in R version 3.6.2 using the packages phyloseq (McMurdie and Holmes, 2013), microbiome (Lahti et al., 2019), tidyverse (Wickham et al., 2019) and vegan (Oksanen et al., 2007). ASV alpha-diversity (richness, Shannon, Inverse Simpson, Chao1) were calculated using the vegan package in R. Community data matrices were centre log-ratio transformed and the Euclidian distance measure was used to generate an Aitchison dissimilarity matrix. In addition to comparing the assembled contigs against the proGenomes database (with the use of BLASTp), probable ARG and MRG hosts were inferred using correlation analysis with sparCC (Friedman and Alm, 2012). To reveal the relationship between microbial

composition and the resistome the pairwise Pearson's rank correlation (correlate alphadiversity) was calculated and a Mantel test was conducted directly from the distance matrices (correlate beta-diversity). A permutational analysis of variation (PERMANOVA) (Anderson, 2006) was carried out to test for differences in composition between samples from the two desert rainfall zones using the 'adonis' function in vegan.

3.4. Results

3.4.1 Characterization and distribution of ARGs

Using shotgun metagenomics, a sequence depth of 5GB with an average of 660, 000 ORFs per sample was obtained. Resulting assemblies had an average N_{50} of 620 bases. The annotation of those ORFs against the CARD database resulted in a total of 6045 ORF hits with the identification of 46 ARGs. The identified ARGs spanned 26 ARG families exhibiting 17 resistance mechanisms (Table 3.1). Most of the ARGs detected were rare, with 39% (18 of 46) of them occurring in a given sample (Figure 3.1a). A total of 48 % of ARGs were shared between the two rainfall zones, with 30 % unique to high rainfall and 22% unique to mid rainfall (Figure 3.1b). There were no significant differences in the diversity and composition of ARGs between the two zones.



Figure 3.1. The number of occurrences of unique ARGs at each sample site (a) and a Venn diagram showing the distribution of the ARGs between the high-rainfall (HR) and mid-rainfall (MR) zones (b).

ARG family Description	Resistance mechanism	Number of
		AROS
rifampin phosphotransferase	antibiotic inactivation by phosphorylation	1
antibiotic resistant isoleucyl-tRNA	antibiotic target alteration or replacement	1
synthetase (ileS)		
rifamycin-resistant beta-subunit of RNA	antibiotic target alteration or replacement	3
polymerase (rpoB)		
aminosalicylate resistant dihydrofolate	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	1
synthase		
antibiotic resistant inhA	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	1
antibiotic resistant kasA	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	1
antibiotic resistant ndh	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	1
antibiotic resistant rpsL	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	1
daptomycin resistant beta prime subunit of	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	1
RNA polymerase (rpoC)		
elfamycin resistant EF-Tu	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	4
elfamycin resistant EF-Tu kirromycin self-	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	1
resistant EF-Tu		
ethionamide resistant ethA	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	1
flouroquinolone resistant gyrA	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	7
fluoroquinolone resistanct gyrB	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	3
fluoroquinolone resistant parE	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	1
isoniazid resistant katG	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	1
murA transferase	antibiotic target alteration by mutation	1
RbpA bacterial RNA polymerase-binding	antibiotic target protection	1
protein		
ritamycin-resistant beta-subunit of RNA	antibiotic target replacement gene	1
polymerase (rpoB)	duplication	1
TEM β -lactamase	class A β -Lactamase	1
RND antibiotic efflux pump	efflux pump complex	1
$AAC(3^{\prime})$	inactivation by acetyltransferase	l
AAC(6')	inactivation by acetyltransferase	l
ritampin phosphotransferase	inactivation of ritampin	1
ND antibiotic efflux pump	MES - Class	1
NIFS antibiotic efflux pump	MFS ennux	2
RND antibiotic efflux pump	multidrug elliux	1
glycopeptide resistance gene cluster vank	restructuring of bacterial cell wall	1
chuster	restructuring of bacterial cell wall	1
elformation resistant EE Tu	Pibosomal alteration	1
tatracycline resistant ribosomal protection	ribosomal protection proteins	1
protein	noosomai protection proteins	1
RND antibiotic efflux pump	RND efflux transporter	1
in a minimum officer pump		1

Table 3.1. The number of each ARG detected in the study according to the antibiotic resistance gene family and the corresponding resistance mechanism.

The most common resistance mechanism was target alteration by mutation, followed by target protection, inactivation mechanisms and various efflux mechanisms (Figure 3.2). The most abundant group of ARGs, based on the drug resistance class, were those that are known to confer resistance to aminoglycosides (Figure 3.3), followed by those ARGs known to confer resistance to the elfamycins, glycopeptides, rifamycins and those that were multi-drug-resistant. Analysis of the contigs against the ResFinder database (Zankari et al., 2012) revealed the presence of horizontally acquired ARGs (i.e., *aac3'-la*) conferring resistance to aminoglycosides at two of the sample sites (Appendix 2, Table 1). However, mobile genetic elements flanking these ARGs were not detected.

Many of the multi-drug resistant ARGs conferred putative resistance to fluoroquinolones, tetracycline and cephalosporins. Class A β -lactamases were detected on a plasmid containing a metal resistance gene (MRG) encoding arsenate reductase and a bacteriophage in four of the sample sites (see chapter 4). MexK (an ARG that has also been classified as an MRG) was detected in 5 of the sample sites (Appendix 2, Table 1).



Figure 3.2. Prevalence plot for ARG resistance mechanisms. Each point corresponds to a different ARG, the y-axis measures the number of occurrences while the x-axis measures the number of reads.

3.4.2 Linking the microbiome and the antibiotic resistome

The number of ARGs (richness) did not differ between the two rainfall zones. However, the ARGs Shannon diversity, which includes richness and evenness information, was higher in the high rainfall zone (Figure 3.4). Similarly, there were no significant changes in ARG composition (beta-diversity) between the two zones (Appendix 2, Figure 1). There were no significant correlations, either for alpha-diversity (Pearson r = 0.061 P > 0.05) or for beta-diversity (Mantel r = 0.2 P > 0.05) between the resistome (ARGs) and microbiome (ASVs derived from 16S rRNA gene sequences).



Figure 3.3. The relative abundance and distribution of ARGs between the two rainfall zones. The error bars represent the standard error of the mean. HR – high-rainfall, MR – mid-rainfall.



Figure 3.4. The observed ARG alpha diversity indices measured between the two rainfall zones. The asterisk represents significance between the high-rainfall (HR) and mid-rainfall (MR) zones

3.4.3 Identification of probable ARG hosts

To identify potential ARG hosts in the desert soil samples, assembled contigs were compared to the proGenomes database. Unfortunately, most contigs could not be annotated as they were less than 1000 bp in length.

Correlation analysis was then performed between the relative abundances of ARGs and the major phyla in these soils. ARGs conferring resistance to two drug classes (i.e., aminoglycosides (ARO:3003395) and elfamycins (ARO:3003361)) showed strong positive correlations with *Actinobacteriota and Chloroflexi* (Figure 3.5). In addition, *Proteobacteria* had positive correlations with ARGs conferring multi-drug resistance (ARO:3003368) and *Acidobacteriota* showed a positive correlation with ARGs conferring resistance to rifamycin antibiotics (ARO:300444). No positive correlations with the abundances of *Bacteriodota* and *Firmicutes* for any of the ARGs detected were observed.



Figure 3.5. Plot displaying the correlation of relative abundance of ARGs and relative abundance of phyla inferred by 16S rRNA data.

3.4.4 Metal and biocide resistance genes (MRGs)

The annotation of prodigal predicted ORFs against the BacMet database resulted in a total of 143 ORF hits with the identification of 29 MRGs. The MRGs spanned 16 families with 4 known resistance mechanisms (Table 3.2). The most abundant MRGs were those that are known to confer resistance to iron (Fe) and Triclosan (biocide) (Figure 3.6). This was closely followed by MRGs that are known to confer resistance to three or more compounds (multi-compound resistance).

Five different MRGs (*arsM*, *arsC*, *arsB*, *arsH* and *arsT*) conferring resistance to arsenic were also identified. Correlation analysis (Figure 3.7) between the MRGs and the major phyla showed that *Proteobacteria* were positively correlated with MRGs conferring resistance to iron (BAC003), arsenic (BAC0584), triclosan (BAC0242) and copper (BAC0205) and was negatively correlated with MRGs conferring resistance to silver (BAC0077) and multi-compound resistance (BAC0565, BAC0203). The *Firmicutes* and *Myxococcota* showed positive correlations with multi-compound resistance and iron resistance, respectively.

Metal/biocide resistance gene family	Resistance mechanism	Number of
		MRGs
ABC superfamily	Enhanced Efflux	1
arsB family	Enhanced Efflux	1
RND superfamily	Enhanced Efflux	5
Aconitase family	Enzymatic detoxification	1
arsC family	Enzymatic detoxification	1
Cation transport ATPase	Enzymatic detoxification	5
Cation transport ATPase (P-type) family	Enzymatic detoxification	1
Methyltransferase family	Enzymatic detoxification	1
Multi-copper oxidase family	Enzymatic detoxification	3
NADPH-dependent FMN reductases family	Enzymatic detoxification	1
RuvB family	Enzymatic detoxification	1
Sodium-solute symporter (SSF) family	Membrane transporters	1
Contains 1 HTH arsR-type DNA-binding domain	Regulatory transporters	2
Contains 1 HTH dtxR-type DNA-binding domain	Regulatory transporters	1
Contains 1 response regulatory domain	Regulatory transporters	1
RND superfamily	Regulatory transporters	2
arsT family	Not yet determined*	1

Table 3.2. The number of each MRG detected in the study according to the metal/biocide resistance gene family and the corresponding resistance mechanism.



Figure 3.6. The mean relative abundance and distribution of MRGs between the two rainfall zones HR – high-rainfall, MR – mid-rainfall.



Figure 3.7. Plot displaying the correlation of relative abundance of MRGs and relative abundance of phyla inferred by 16S rRNA data.

3.4.5 The Mobilome

A total of 146 ORF hits were detected with the Mobile Genetics Elements database and 13 of those were identified as mobile genetic elements (MGEs). In all metagenome sequence datasets, insertion sequences were the most abundant MGEs (61%), followed by transposases (34%), integrons (2.5%) and plasmids (2.5%). The insertion sequences detected were from two families (i.e., *IS91* and *IS10*) and a variety of transposases were identified. The presence of class 1 (int1) and class 2 (int2) integrons and ColE1-like plasmids were detected. The only MGEs linked to any of the ARGs were plasmids (e.g., ColE1 with TEM-116).

3.5. Discussion

3.5.1 Low diversity and abundance of ARGs across the transect

Shotgun metagenome sequencing was used to characterize the soil resistome across two zones of a natural rainfall gradient in the Namib Desert. Shotgun metagenomics allows the deep interrogation of resistomes, which can be very important in understanding the increase in antimicrobial resistance among clinically relevant isolates (Forsberg et al., 2014; Noyes et al., 2016). The results show that Namib Desert soils appear to have a limited number of ARGs, which were in low abundance and did not differ between the two zones. This was not unexpected, as similar results have been found in other desert studies (McCann et al., 2019; Van Goethem et al., 2018). There are different factors that may be contributing to the low diversity and abundance of ARGs in these environments. First, it has been hypothesized that microbial competition is less important in desert microbes due to the allocation of most of the resources to their survival in stressful environmental conditions and/or to their response to moisture availability (Fierer et al., 2012). This is in agreement with the stress gradient hypothesis that states that facilitation (positive interactions) should be more common in high stress environments, compared with benign environments (Bertness and Callaway, 1994).

Second, compared with other edaphic environments, desert areas generally have a very low density human (and animal) occupation and are less impacted by human activities, which have been shown to increase the diversity and abundance of elements of the soil resistome (Wang et al., 2016). Third, while shotgun metagenomics provides the advantage of being unbiased (i.e., by avoiding the use of gene-specific primers), it has been shown to be less sensitive than culture-based and other molecular methods (e.g., Sanger sequencing) in identifying ARGs (Bengtsson-Palme et al., 2017; Gweon et al., 2019). Fourth, sequencing depth may also have affected the profiling of ARGs in this study, as it has recently been shown that the number of sequences and profiling method critically affect the diversity of ARGs from environmental samples (Gweon et al., 2019). Furthermore, the parameters (minimum identity and minimum match length) used in the analysis were more stringent than in other desert studies (Saenz et al., 2019; Van Goethem et al., 2018), although the strategy used here leads to datasets that are more consistent and robust (Graham et al., 2020).

The most common mechanism of resistance detected was target alteration by mutation (Table 3. 1), which typically arises by chromosomal mutations and is therefore not laterally transferred. Mutations in the target-encoding genes often confer multidrug-resistance (D'Costa et al., 2006) and resistance to antibiotics such as cephalosporins (Demaneche et al., 2008) and fluoroquinolones (Riesenfeld et al., 2004). This resistance mechanism is essential for the continued evolution of ARGs to natural and synthetic antibiotics (Woodford and Ellington, 2007), especially in the case of clinically relevant isolates (Munita and Arias, 2016).

Several of the ARGs encoded proteins involved in the modification of antibiotics, most commonly, enzymatic modification of aminoglycosides. The production of enzymes capable of chemically changing antibiotic molecules is often a trait acquired by horizontal gene transfer in both Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria (Munita and Arias, 2016). Enzymatic modification (i.e., inactivation) usually results in high levels of antibiotic resistance (Riccio et al., 2003). Using the ResFinder database, horizontally acquired ARGs (e.g., AAC'3-*la*) encoding acetyltransferases that mediate enzymatic inactivation of aminoglycosides were detected. This database has been designed to detect the presence of resistance genes acquired via horizontal transfer and not those acquired via mutation (Zankari et al., 2012). The presence of bacteriophages or MGEs were not found nearby these genes, and therefore the vehicle for dissemination could not be established. A possible reason for this may be related to the contig assemblies which showed relatively small N₅₀ values (ranging from 600 to 650 bases). The length of the contigs is critical for co-localization analysis of ARGs and MGEs, as it is more likely that longer stretches of DNA produce a large enough sequence space to identify multiple co-localized elements (Slizovskiy et al., 2020).

The use of rifamycin antibiotics, such as rifampin (RIF), is a frontline treatment of tuberculosis and many other mycobacterial infections (Stogios et al., 2016). Interestingly, resistance to RIF was conferred by two different mechanisms (i.e., antibiotic target protection (RbpA) and enzymatic inactivation). The mechanism of action of rifamycin involves binding of the RbpA protein to RNA polymerase (RNAP) in bacteria, thereby disrupting transcription, rendering the bacteria resistant to rifamycin antibiotics (Xu et al., 2005). The enzymatic inactivation of RIF occurs via phosphorylation by rifampin phosphotransferases (RPH), which are widespread in pathogenic and non-pathogenic bacteria (Stogios et al., 2016). Rifampin phosphotransferases have the capacity to inactivate natural and semi-synthetic derivatives of the rifamycin family of antibiotics, which poses a threat to other environments should they be mobilized (Spanogiannopoulos et al., 2014).

Neither of the two mechanisms found in the Namib soil resistome has been associated with resistance to rifampin in clinical environments (Tomlinson et al., 2016). In clinical environments, resistance to rifampin is commonly due to point mutations in the drug target (Stogios et al., 2016). However, resistance to RIF in these desert soil samples demonstrates that environmental bacteria may also possess multiple mechanisms of resistance to the same

antibiotic (Spanogiannopoulos et al., 2012), which is an indication of bacterial adaptation to a rapidly evolving environment. Furthermore, it has been shown that bacteria adapting to high temperatures develop resistance to the rifamycin family of antibiotics (Grenni et al., 2018).

Another important group of ARGs are the β -lactamases, which inactivate β -lactam antibiotics by destroying the amide bond in the β -lactam ring and rendering the antibiotic ineffective (Munita and Arias, 2016). Several β -lactamases have been reported as native in both impacted (Donato et al., 2010; Forsberg et al., 2012; Udikovic-Kolic et al., 2014) and non-impacted soils (Allen et al., 2009; Bhullar et al., 2012; Durso et al., 2015), including those from polar deserts (McCann et al., 2019; Van Goethem et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2016). In contrast to these previous studies, native β -lactamases were not detected in this study. Since sequence depth plays such a large role in the profiling of ARGs, it is very possible that this could be the reason that native β -lactamases were not detected. However, the presence of an acquired β -lactamase TEM-116 (see chapter 4), which was encoded on a ColE1-like plasmid was detected. TEM-116 is a second-progenitor of the TEM β -lactamases and has been described in both clinical and non-clinical environments (Zeil et al., 2016).

3.5.2 Potential co-selection of resistance to metals/biocides and antibiotics

Microorganisms have evolved mechanisms of metal/biocide tolerance to avoid cellular damage (Seiler and Berendonk, 2012), and this tolerance can aid in the development and maintenance of antibiotic resistance (Pal et al., 2016). However, unlike antibiotics, which can be easily be degraded by a wide range of different mechanisms, metals are essentially non-degradable and therefore pose a long-term selection pressure. It has been suggested that metals and biocides might even exert a stronger selection pressure for antibiotic resistance than antibiotics themselves (Pal et al., 2017).

One of the key mechanisms by which bacteria become resistant to metals is via enzymatic reduction of metal ions (Ianeva, 2009; Oves et al., 2016). Here, enzymatic reduction was the most common mechanism, putatively encoded by *Proteobacteria*, mostly conferring resistance to Fe, Cu and As (Figure 3.7). Reportedly, several members of the phylum *Proteobacteria* carry a large number of genes associated with heavy metal tolerance and have been extensively studied, under heavy metal stress conditions, in bacterial genomes from different environments

(Johnson et al., 2019) and in metal-contaminated river sediments (Chen et al., 2018). It was found that *Proteobacteria* were also hosts of ARGs encoding multidrug resistance. Multi-drug resistant genes conferring resistance to clinically important antibiotics have been detected in several members of *Proteobacteria* (Jiang et al., 2017). This observation is consistent with the fact that *Proteobacteria* include several known clinical pathogens (e.g., *Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli*) (Forsberg et al., 2014). Interestingly, it has been demonstrated that the enrichment of multi-drug resistant *Proteobacteria* in soil increases the detection of shared resistance between the clinic and soil, suggesting that members of *Proteobacteria* could be a conduit through which ARGs and MRGs move between these environments (Forsberg et al., 2014, 2012) and making them important hosts in co-selection of resistance.

One of the most interesting findings was the detection of the resistance gene *MexK*, which is part of a two-component resistance nodulation cell division (RND) efflux system known as MexJK. This system is responsible for the efflux of triclosan and antibiotics such as macrolides and tetracycline (Chuanchuen et al., 2002). Resistance genes to triclosan were the second most abundant MRGs present in these soils however, resistance to tetracycline was also moderately present. Triclosan is a phenolic compound used in many personal care products as a biocide to stop bacterial spoilage. Triclosan is a compound that is not usually found in desert soils, which indicates a moderate anthropogenic impact in this environment. Since triclosan is a recalcitrant compound with antimicrobial activity in soils (Zaayman et al., 2017), it has the potential to compromise soil health (Dhillon et al., 2015). Alternatively, the presence of other compounds such as tetracycline would also explain the presence of *MexK*.

Evidence of co-selection between antibiotics and metals/biocides by both co-resistance and cross resistance were found. An example of co-resistance was the presence of an *ars*C gene on a plasmid that also contained the clinically relevant TEM-116 β -lactamase, suggesting possible co-selection of resistance with antibiotics and arsenic in *Rhodococcus* (Actinobacteria) (Naidoo et al., 2020). In this study, *Actinobacteriota* putatively host ARGs that also conferred resistance to aminoglycosides and elfamycins (Figure 3.5). This is not uncommon since actinomycetes produce a wide variety of antibiotics (Krause et al., 2016), and contain resistance genes to the compounds they produce as self-protecting mechanisms (Jiang et al., 2017). In addition to their antimicrobial activities, members of *Actinobacteriota* have also shown high

tolerance to a wide range of metals, potentially providing them with a competitive advantage in harsh environments (Tomova et al., 2015)

Cross resistance could occur via the MexJK system, which effluxes both triclosan and antibiotics (tetracycline and macrolides). While the ARGs conferring resistance to tetracycline were moderately abundant, co-selection of resistance (triclosan and tetracycline) would very likely enable the persistence of these ARGs. The levels of metals and triclosan in these samples were not measured, however an earlier report of metal concentrations at sites very close (<100 m) to our sampling sites, indicated that these soils contain high levels of metals such as Fe (17 290), Ni (29.35), Cu (25.36), Zn (59.63), As (3.02), Ag (0.20) and U (2.99) (mean concentration of metals were measured as mg/kg dry weight in soil) (Conti et al., 2018). Thus, it is possible that the metals and biocides present in this environment may add a selection pressure that could increase the antibiotic tolerance level of microbes via these co-selection mechanisms (Imran et al., 2019), which is a rising environmental concern.

3.5.3 The occurrence of mobilome-related antibiotic resistance determinants in desert soils

The most abundant MGEs identified were the insertion sequences (distributed in two different families, *IS91* and *IS10*) followed by transposons, integrons and plasmids (discussed in detail in the next chapter). Insertion sequences (IS) and transposons (Tn) are able to move themselves and their associated resistance genes randomly within a cell, while integrons use site-specific recombination to carry resistance genes between species and lineages over evolutionary time frames (Gillings, 2014; Partridge et al., 2018). Interestingly, among the two IS families, the relative abundance of IS91 was much higher (92%), which might explain the scarcity of MGEs flanking ARGs. Members of the IS91 family of bacterial insertion sequences have been reported to very rarely flank ARGs, as they are not suited for rapid dissemination mechanisms (Garcillan-Barcia and De la Cruz, 2002). Conversely, members of the IS10 family are more rapidly disseminated and are known to affect efflux mechanisms resulting in increased antibiotic resistance (Siguier et al., 2014). Mobile integrons have been a major driver in the spread of antibiotic resistance, specifically in clinical environments (Gillings, 2014). In addition, Class 1 integrons have been proposed as markers of anthropogenic pollution due to their common association with resistance to antibiotics and metals in both pathogenic and nonpathogenic bacteria (Gillings, 2014).

Although several mobile genetic elements were detected, their overall abundance was low. This is consistent with previous reports (Saenz et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2016), suggesting that only a fraction of resistance determinants may be mobilized. The horizontal acquisition of resistance genes is hypothesized to be rare in environments with both low anthropogenic influence and low nutrient levels (Forsberg et al., 2014). Furthermore, regulation of the genetic machinery is highly responsive to the environment, and therefore, parameters such as soil moisture and temperature, pH and soil type may affect the rates of horizontal gene transfer (Aminov, 2011). Desert environments experience extreme fluctuations in temperature and erratic precipitation patterns, and have low nutrient levels with low anthropogenic influence, compared to other edaphic environments (Makhalanyane et al., 2015). Thus, all these factors can be contributing factors to the low observed abundance of MGEs. Nevertheless, the presence of horizontally acquired resistance genes indicates that mobilization of ARGs might occur in Namib Desert soils. Like all deserts, the Namib also is affected by transient wildlife and birds that can act as propagators for the spread of these resistance determinants (Allen et al., 2010). It is also noted that over the past few decades there has been a substantial growth of tourism in the Namib Desert (Woyo and Amadhila, 2018), which may increase the possible routes of transmission for acquired ARGs.

3.5.4 Decoupling between the microbiome and the resistome

In the previous chapter it was shown that the two rainfall zones of the Namib Desert supported distinct microbial communities, more likely as a consequence of historical differences in water regime. In contrast, in this chapter it is evident that the abundance and type of ARGs detected did not show any spatial pattern. This suggests it is unlikely that environmental factors are driving the structure of ARGs in Namib Desert soils. Previous studies have led to proposals that bacterial community composition is a key driver that shapes the distribution and abundance of ARGs, for instance, in surface soils (Forsberg et al., 2014), underground coal mine soils (Dunivin and Shade, 2018) and in sewage sludge (Su et al., 2015). However, the results of the Mantel test showed that microbial community composition was not a major contributor to the variance in ARGs in Namib Desert soils. Since bacterial community composition may not be the key factor influencing ARG profiles, it is very likely that variation in ARG abundance across soils might be largely driven by other factors, possibly such as the mobilome. Mobile genetic elements play a very important role in shaping ARG dynamics, as they transfer genes

even between distantly related taxa, thereby causing a decoupling of bacterial community and ARG profiles (Fang et al., 2019).

Thus, although only a small variety of mobile genetic elements were detected and they were in low abundance the mobilome might be playing an important role in explaining the composition of ARGs. Alternatively, a decoupling between the microbiome and the resistome can also be expected if most of the mobile genetic elements are hosted by a limited number of taxa widely distributed across the soil. Further research would be necessary to confirm this. Culture-based methods remain the absolute standard for such analyses, although these methods overlook the majority of the microbial diversity in soils. In addition, since there are limitations associated with only using metagenomics, we suggest a multiphasic approach. Molecular methods in combination with culture-based methods can conclusively identify the taxa hosting MGEs in this population (Rice et al., 2020).

3.6. Conclusion

With the use of metagenomics, ARGs, MRGs and MGEs have been detected in low abundance in Namib desert soil. The co-selection of resistance with metals and/or biocides could allow for these ARGs to persist in the soil. Importantly and in contrast with other resistome studies from both impacted and non-impacted soils, which suggest a coupling between bacterial community composition and the antibiotic resistome. Evidence from this study points to a decoupling of bacterial community composition and the antibiotic resistome, possibly originating from horizontal gene transfer. The presence of acquired resistance genes supports the assumption that vectors such as animals, birds and humans are partly involved in the spread of resistance determinants in these soils. Overall, this study shows that antibiotic resistance genes are substantially distributed in these soils. The presence of these acquired genes does not necessarily pose a significant health threat to humans and animals living in or visiting this environment. However, the concern is that, like in other environmental settings, the mobilization of these resistance determinants and their expression in bacterial pathogens could present difficulty in treatment options.

3.7 References

- Allen, H.K., Donato, J., Wang, H.H., Cloud-Hansen, K.A., Davies, J., Handelsman, J., 2010.
 Call of the wild: antibiotic resistance genes in natural environments. Nat. Rev.
 Microbiol. 8, 251–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2312.
- Allen, H.K., Moe, L.A., Rodbumrer, J., Gaarder, A., Handelsman, J., 2009. Functional metagenomics reveals diverse β-lactamases in a remote Alaskan soil. ISME J. 3, 243– 251. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2008.86.
- Aminov, R.I., 2011. Horizontal gene exchange in environmental microbiota. Front. Microbiol. 2, 1-19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2011.00158.
- Anderson, M., 2006. Distance-based tests for homogeneity of multivariate dispersions. Biometrics 62, 245–253. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3695727.
- Andrews, S., 2010. Fastqc: A quality control tool for high throughput sequence data. http://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc.
- Bankevich, A., Nurk, S., Antipov, D., Gurevich, A.A., Dvorkin, M., Kulikov, A.S., Lesin, V.M., Nikolenko, S.I., Pham, S., Prjibelski, A.D., Pyshkin, A. V, Sirotkin, A. V, Vyahhi, N., Tesler, G., Alekseyev, M.A., Pevzner, P.A., 2012. SPAdes: a new genome assembly algorithm and its applications to single-cell sequencing. J. Comput. Biol. 19, 455–77. https://doi.org/10.1089/cmb.2012.0021.
- Belov, A., Cheptsov, V., Vorobyova, E., 2018. Soil bacterial communities of Sahara and Gibson deserts: Physiological and taxonomical characteristics. AIMS Microbiol. 4, 685– 710. https://doi.org/10.3934/microbiol.2018.4.685.
- Bengtsson-Palme, J., Larsson, D.G.J., Kristiansson, E., 2017. Using metagenomics to investigate human and environmental resistomes. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 72, 2690– 2703. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkx199.
- Bertness, M., Callaway, R., 1994. Positive interactions in communities. Trends Ecol. Evol. 9, 191–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(94)90088-4.
- Bhullar, K., Waglechner, N., Pawlowski, A., Koteva, K., Banks, E.D., Johnston, M.D., Barton, H.A., Wright, G.D., 2012. Antibiotic resistance is prevalent in an isolated cave microbiome. PLoS One 7, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034953.
- Callahan, B.J., Mcmurdie, P.J., Rosen, M.J., Han, A.W., Johnson, A.J.A., Holmes, S.P., 2016. DADA2: High resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. Nat. Methods 13, 581–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869.DADA2

- Carattoli, A., Zankari, E., Garciá-Fernández, A., Larsen, M.V., Lund, O., Villa, L., Aarestrup, F.M., Hasman, H., 2014. In Silico detection and typing of plasmids using plasmidfinder and plasmid multilocus sequence typing. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58, 3895– 3903. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.02412-14
- Carr, V.R., Shkoporov, A., Hill, C., Mullany, P., Moyes, D.L., 2020. Probing the Mobilome : Discoveries in the Dynamic Microbiome. Trends Microbiol. 3, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2020.05.003.
- Chen, J., Li, J., Zhang, H., Shi, W., Liu, Y., 2019. Bacterial Heavy-Metal and Antibiotic Resistance Genes in a Copper Tailing Dam Area in Northern China. Front. Microbiol. 10, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01916
- Chen, Y., Jiang, Y., Huang, H., Mou, L., Ru, J., Zhao, J., Xiao, S., 2018. Long-term and high-concentration heavy-metal contamination strongly influences the microbiome and functional genes in Yellow River sediments. Sci. Total Environ. 637–638, 1400–1412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.109.
- Chuanchuen, R., Narasaki, C.T., Schweizer, H.P., 2002. The MexJK Efflux Pump of Pseudomonas aeruginosa Requires OprM for Antibiotic Efflux but Not for Efflux of Triclosan. J. Bacteriol. 184, 5036–5044. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.184.18.5036.
- Conti, E., Costa, G., Liberatori, G., Vannuccini, M.L., Protano, G., Nannoni, F., Corsi, I., 2018. Ariadna spiders as bioindicator of heavy elements contamination in the Central Namib Desert. Ecol. Indic. 95, 663–672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.08.014.
- Cytryn, E., 2013. The soil resistome: The anthropogenic, the native, and the unknown. Soil Biol. Biochem. 63, 18-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.03.017.
- D'Costa, V.M., McGrann, K.M., Hughes, D.W., Wright, G.D., 2006. Sampling the Antibiotic Resistome. Science (80) 311, 374–377. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1120800.
- Dantas, G., Sommer, M.O.A., 2012. Context matters the complex interplay between resistome genotypes and resistance phenotypes. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 15, 577–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2012.07.004.
- Dcosta, V.M., King, C.E., Kalan, L., Morar, M., Sung, W.W.L., Schwarz, C., Froese, D., Zazula, G., Calmels, F., Debruyne, R., Golding, G.B., Poinar, H.N., Wright, G.D., 2011. Antibiotic resistance is ancient. Nature. 477, 457-461. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10388.
- Demaneche, S., Sanguin, H., Pote, J., Navarro, E., Bernillon, D., Mavingui, P., Wildi, W., Vogel, T.M., Simonet, P., 2008. Antibiotic-resistant soil bacteria in transgenic plant

fields. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 3957–3962. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0800072105.

- Dhillon, G.S., Kaur, S., Pulicharla, R., Brar, S.K., Cledon, M., Verma, M., Surampalli, R.Y., 2015. Triclosan : Current Status , Occurrence , Environmental Risks and Bioaccumulation Potential. Environ. Res. Public Heal. 12, 5657–5684. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120505657.
- Donato, J.J., Moe, L.A., Converse, B.J., Smart, K.D., Berklein, E.C., McManus, P.S., Handelsman, J., 2010. Metagenomic analysis of apple orchard soil reveals antibiotic resistance genes encoding predicted bifunctional proteins. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 4396–4401. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01763-09.
- Dunivin, T.K., Shade, A., 2018. Community structure explains antibiotic resistance gene dynamics over a temperature gradient in soil. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 94, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiy016.
- Durso, L.M., Wedin, D.A., Gilley, J.E., Miller, D.N., Marx, D.B., 2015. Assessment of Selected Antibiotic Resistances in Ungrazed Native Nebraska Prairie Soils. J. Environ. Qual. 45, 454-559. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2015.06.0280.
- Fang, P., Peng, F., Gao, X., Xiao, P., Yang, J., 2019. Decoupling the Dynamics of Bacterial Taxonomy and Antibiotic Resistance Function in a Subtropical Urban Reservoir as Revealed by High-Frequency Sampling 10, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01448.
- Fierer, N., 2017. Embracing the unknown: Disentangling the complexities of the soil microbiome. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 15, 579–590. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2017.87.
- Fierer, N., Leff, J.W., Adams, B.J., Nielsen, U.N., Bates, S.T., Lauber, C.L., Owens, S., Gilbert, J.A., Wall, D.H., Caporaso, J.G., 2012. Cross-biome metagenomic analyses of soil microbial communities and their functional attributes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109, 21390–21395. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1215210110.
- Forsberg, K.J., Patel, S., Gibson, M.K., Lauber, C.L., Knight, R., Fierer, N., Dantas, G., 2014. Bacterial phylogeny structures soil resistomes across habitats. Nature. 509, 612-616. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13377.
- Forsberg, K.J., Reyes, A., Wang, B., Selleck, E.M., Sommer, M.O.A., Dantas, G., 2012. The shared antibiotic resistome of soil bacteria and human pathogens. Science. 337, 1107– 1111. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1220761.

Friedman, J., Alm, E.J., 2012. Inferring Correlation Networks from Genomic Survey Data.

PLos Comput. Biol. 8, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002687.

- Garcillan-Barcia, M.P., De la Cruz, F., 2002. Distribution of IS 91 family insertion sequences in bacterial genomes : evolutionary implications. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 42, 303–313.
- Gillings, M.R., 2014. Integrons: Past, Present, and Future. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 78, 257–277. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00056-13.
- Gillings, M.R., Paulsen, I.T., Tetu, S.G., 2017. Genomics and the evolution of antibiotic resistance. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1388, 92–107. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13268.
- Graham, C.F., Boreham, D.R., Manzon, R.G., Stott, W., Wilson, Y., Somers, C.M., 2020. How "simple " methodological decisions affect interpretation of population structure based on reduced representation library DNA sequencing : A case study using the lake whitefish. PLoS One 15, 1–35. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0226608.
- Grenni, P., Ancona, V., Caracciolo, A.B., 2018. Ecological effects of antibiotics on natural ecosystems: A review. Microchem. J. 136, 25–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.microc.2017.02.006.
- Gweon, H.S., Shaw, L.P., Swann, J., De Maio, N., Abuoun, M., Niehus, R., Hubbard,
 A.T.M., Bowes, M.J., Bailey, M.J., Peto, T.E.A., Hoosdally, S.J., Walker, A.S., Sebra,
 R.P., Crook, D.W., Anjum, M.F., Read, D.S., Stoesser, N., 2019. The impact of
 sequencing depth on the inferred taxonomic composition and AMR gene content of
 metagenomic samples. Environ. Microbiome 1, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40793019-0347-1.
- Hernández, J., González-Acuña, D., 2016. Anthropogenic antibiotic resistance genes mobilization to the polar regions. Infect. Ecol. Epidemiol. 6, 32112-32119. https://doi.org/10.3402/iee.v6.32112.
- Hyatt, D., Chen, G.-L., Locascio, P.F., Land, M.L., Larimer, F.W., Hauser, L.J., 2010.
 Prodigal: prokaryotic gene recognition and translation initiation site identification. BMC Bioinformatics 11, 119. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-11-119.
- Ianeva, O.D., 2009. Mechanisms of bacteria resistance to heavy metals. Mikrobiol. Z. 71, 54–65.
- Imran, M., Das, K.R., Naik, M.M., 2019. Co-selection of multi-antibiotic resistance in bacterial pathogens in metal and microplastic contaminated environments: an emerging health threat. Chemosphere 215, 846–857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.10.114.
- Jiang, X., Ellabaan, M.M.H., Charusanti, P., Munck, C., Blin, K., Tong, Y., Weber, T.,

Sommer, M.O.A., Lee, S.Y., 2017. Dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes from antibiotic producers to pathogens. Nat. Commun. 8, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15784.

- Johnson, H., Cho, H., Choudhary, M., 2019. Bacterial Heavy Metal Resistance Genes and Bioremediation Potential. Comput. Mol. Biosci. 9, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.4236/cmb.2019.91001.
- Knapp, C.W., Callan, A.C., Aitken, B., Shearn, R., Koenders, A., Hinwood, A., 2017.
 Relationship between antibiotic resistance genes and metals in residential soil samples from Western Australia. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24, 2484–2494.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7997-y.
- Knapp, C.W., McCluskey, S.M., Singh, B.K., Campbell, C.D., Hudson, G., Graham, D.W., 2011. Antibiotic resistance gene abundances correlate with metal and geochemical conditions in archived Scottish soils. PLoS One 6, 27300-27310. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0027300.
- Krause, K.M., Serio, A.W., Kane, T.R., Connolly, L.E., 2016. Aminoglycosides : An Overview. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 6, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a027029.
- Lahti, L., Shetty, S., Blake, T., Salojarvi, J., 2019. Tools for microbiome analysis in R. Microbiome package version. Bioconductor.
- Makhalanyane, T.P., Valverde, A., Gunnigle, E., Frossard, A., Ramond, J., Cowan, D.A.,
 2015. Microbial ecology of hot desert edaphic systems. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 39, 203–221. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsre/fuu011.
- Martin, M., 2011. Cutadapt removes adapter sequences from high-throughput sequence reads. EMBnet.journal 17, 10–12.
- McArthur, A., Waglechner, N., Nizam, F., Yan, A., Azad, M.A., Baylay, A.J., Bhullar, K., Canova, M.J., De Pascale, G., Ejim, L., Wright, G.D., 2013. The Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 57, 3348–3357.
- McCann, C.M., Christgen, B., Roberts, J.A., Su, J., Arnold, K.E., Gray, N.D., Zhu, Y., Graham, D.W., 2019. Understanding drivers of antibiotic resistance genes in High Arctic soil ecosystems. Environ. Int. 125, 497–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.01.034.
- McMurdie, P.J., Holmes, S., 2013. Phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. PLoS One 8.
https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061217.

- Mende, D.R., Letunic, I., Huerta-Cepas, J., Li, S.S., Forslund, K., Sunagawa, S., Bork, P., 2017. ProGenomes: A resource for consistent functional and taxonomic annotations of prokaryotic genomes. Nucleic Acids Res. 45, 529–534. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw989.
- Mikheenko, A., Prjibelski, A., Saveliev, V., Antipov, D., Gurevich, A., 2018. Versatile genome assembly evaluation with QUAST-LG. Bioinformatics 34, 42–50. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty266.
- Munita, J.M., Arias, C.A., 2016. Mechanisms of Antibiotic Resistance. Microbiol Spectr. 4, 1–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-7743(08)60495-9.
- Murray, A.K., Zhang, L., Snape, J., Gaze, W.H., 2019. Comparing the selective and coselective effects of different antimicrobials in bacterial communities. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents. 53, 767–773. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2019.03.001.
- Naidoo, Y., Valverde, A., Cason, E.D., Pierneef, R.E., Cowan, D.A., 2020. A clinically important , plasmid-borne antibiotic resistance gene (β - lactamase TEM-116) present in desert soils. Sci. Total Environ. 719, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137497.
- Nesme, J., Simonet, P., 2015. The soil resistome: A critical review on antibiotic resistance origins, ecology and dissemination potential in telluric bacteria. Environ. Microbiol. 17, 913-930. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12631.
- Noyes, N.R., Yang, X., Linke, L.M., Magnuson, R.J., Cook, S.R., Zaheer, R., Yang, H.,
 Woerner, D.R., Geornaras, I., McArt, J.A., Gow, S.P., Ruiz, J., Jones, K.L., Boucher,
 C.A., McAllister, T.A., Belk, K.E., Morley, P.S., 2016. Characterization of the resistome in manure, soil and wastewater from dairy and beef production systems. Sci. Rep. 6, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24645.
- Oksanen, J., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., O'Hara, B., Stevens, M., 2007. The vegan package. Community Ecol. Packag. 10, 631–637.
- Oves, M., Saghir Khan, M., Huda Qari, A., Nadeen Felemban, M., Almeelbi, T., 2016. Heavy Metals : Biological Importance and Detoxification Strategies. J. Bioremediation Biodegrad. 7, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-6199.1000334.
- Pal, C., Asiani, K., Arya, S., Rensing, C., Stekel, D.J., Larsson, D.G.J., Hobman, J.L., 2017. Metal Resistance and Its Association With Antibiotic Resistance, in: Advances in Microbial Physiology. Elsevier Ltd., pp. 261–313.

https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ampbs.2017.02.001.

- Pal, C., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Kristiansson, E., Larsson, D.G.J., 2016. The structure and diversity of human, animal and environmental resistomes. Microbiome 4, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-016-0199-5.
- Pal, C., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Rensing, C., Kristiansson, E., Larsson, D.G.J., 2014. BacMet: Antibacterial biocide and metal resistance genes database. Nucleic Acids Res. 42, 737– 743. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt1252.
- Pärnänen, K., Karkman, A., Hultman, J., Lyra, C., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Larsson, D.G.J., Rautava, S., Isolauri, E., Salminen, S., Kumar, H., Satokari, R., Virta, M., 2018.
 Maternal gut and breast milk microbiota affect infant gut antibiotic resistome and mobile genetic elements. Nat. Commun. 9, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-06393-w.
- Partridge, S.R., Kwong, S.M., Firth, N., Jensen, S.O., 2018. Mobile Genetic Elements Associated with Antimicrobial Resistance. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 31, 1–61. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00088-17.
- Pehrsson, E.C., Forsberg, K.J., Gibson, M.K., Ahmadi, S., Dantas, G., 2013. Novel resistance functions uncovered using functional metagenomic investigations of resistance reservoirs. Front. Microbiol. 4, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2013.00145.
- Perry, J., Waglechner, N., Wright, G., 2016. The prehistory of antibiotic resistance. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 6, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a025197.
- Perry, J.A., Wright, G.D., 2013. The antibiotic resistance "mobilome": Searching for the link between environment and clinic. Front. Microbiol. 4, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2013.00138.
- Peterson, E., Kaur, P., 2018. Antibiotic resistance mechanisms in bacteria: Relationships between resistance determinants of antibiotic producers, environmental bacteria, and clinical pathogens. Front. Microbiol. 9, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02928.
- R Core Team, 2013. A language and environment for statistical computing. R Found. Stat. Comput.
- Rateb, M.E., Ebel, R., Jaspars, M., 2018. Natural product diversity of actinobacteria in the Atacama Desert. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 111, 1467–1477. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-018-1030-z.
- Riccio, M.L., Docquier, J., Amico, E.D., Luzzaro, F., Amicosante, G., Rossolini, G.M., 2003. Novel 3- N -Aminoglycoside Acetyltransferase Gene , aac (3) - Ic , from a

Pseudomonas aeruginosa Integron. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 47, 1746–1748. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.47.5.1746.

- Rice, E.W., Wang, P., Smith, A.L., Stadler, L.B., 2020. Determining Hosts of Antibiotic Resistance Genes : A Review of Methodological Advances. Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett. 7, 282–291. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.0c00202.
- Riesenfeld, C.S., Goodman, R.M., Handelsman, J., 2004. Uncultured soil bacteria are a reservoir of new antibiotic resistance genes. Environ. Microbiol. 6, 981–989. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2004.00664.
- Saenz, J.S., Airo, A., Schulze-Makuch, D., Schloter, M., Vestergaard, G., 2019. Functional Traits Co-Occurring with Mobile Genetic Elements in the Microbiome of the Atacama Desert. Diversity 11, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/d11110205.
- Schmieder, R., Edwards, R., 2012. Insights into antibiotic resistance through metagenomic approaches. Future Microbiol. 7, 73–89. https://doi.org/10.2217/fmb.11.135.
- Scott, L.C., Lee, N., Aw, T.G., 2020. Antibiotic Resistance in Minimally Human-Impacted Environments. Environ. Res. Public Heal. 17, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17113939.
- Seiler, C., Berendonk, T.U., 2012. Heavy metal driven co-selection of antibiotic resistance in soil and water bodies impacted by agriculture and aquaculture. Front. Microbiol. 3, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2012.00399.
- Siguier, P., Gourbeyre, E., Chandler, M., 2014. Bacterial insertion sequences: their genomic impact and diversity. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 38, 865–891. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6976.12067.
- Slizovskiy, I.B., Mukherjee, K., Dean, C.J., Boucher, C., Noyes, N.R., 2020. Mobilization of Antibiotic Resistance : Are Current Approaches for Colocalizing Resistomes and Mobilomes Useful ? Front. Microbiol. 11, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.01376.
- Song, J.S., Jeon, J.H., Lee, J.H., Jeong, S.H., Jeong, B.C., Kim, S.-J., Lee, J.-H., Lee, S.H., 2005. Molecular Characterization of TEM-type B-lactamases Identified in Cold-Seep Sediments of Edison Seamount. J. Microbiol. 43, 172–178.
- Spanogiannopoulos, P., Thaker, M., Koteva, K., Waglechner, N., Wright, G.D., 2012. Characterization of a Rifampin-Inactivating Glycosyltransferase from a Screen of Environmental Actinomycetes. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 56, 5061–5069. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01166-12.

- Spanogiannopoulos, P., Waglechner, N., Koteva, K., Wright, G.D., 2014. A rifamycin inactivating phosphotransferase family shared by environmental and pathogenic bacteria. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 7102–7107. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1402358111.
- Stogios, P.J., Cox, G., Spanogiannopoulos, P., Pillon, M.C., Waglechner, N., Skarina, T., Koteva, K., Guarne, A., Savchenko, A., Wright, G.D., 2016. Rifampin phosphotransferase is an unusual antibiotic resistance kinase. Nat. Commun. 7, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11343.
- Su, J.-Q., Wei, B., Ou-Yang, W.-Y., Huang, F.-Y., Xu, H.-J., Zhu, Y.-G., 2015. Antibiotic resistome and its association with bacterial communities during sewage sludge composting. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 7356–7363. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b01012.
- Thaker, M.N., Wang, W., Spanogiannopoulos, P., Waglechner, N., King, A.M., Medina, R., Wright, G.D., 2013. Identifying producers of antibacterial compounds by screening for antibiotic resistance. Nat. Biotechnol. 10, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2685.
- Tomlinson, J.H., Thompson, G.S., Kalverda, A.P., Zhuravleva, A., O'Neill, A.J., 2016. A target-protection mechanism of antibiotic resistance at atomic resolution : insights into FusB-type fusidic acid resistance. Sci. Rep. 6, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep19524.
- Tomova, I., Stoilova-Disheva, M., Lazarkevich, I., Vasileva-Tonkova, E., 2015.
 Antimicrobial activity and resistance to heavy metals and antibiotics of heterotrophic bacteria isolated from sediment and soil samples collected from two Antarctic islands.
 Front. Life Sci. 8, 348–357. https://doi.org/10.1080/21553769.2015.1044130.
- Udikovic-Kolic, N., Wichmann, F., Broderick, N.A., Handelsman, J., 2014. Bloom of resident antibiotic-resistant bacteria in soil following manure fertilization. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 15202–15207. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1409836111.
- Van Goethem, M.W., Pierneef, R., Bezuidt, O.K.I., Van De Peer, Y., Cowan, D.A., Makhalanyane, T.P., 2018. A reservoir of "historical" antibiotic resistance genes in remote pristine Antarctic soils. Microbiome 6, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0424-5.
- von Wintersdorff, C.J.H., Penders, J., van Niekerk, J.M., Mills, N.D., Majumder, S., van Alphen, L.B., Savelkoul, P.H.M., Wolffs, P.F.G., 2016. Dissemination of Antimicrobial Resistance in Microbial Ecosystems through Horizontal Gene Transfer. Front. Microbiol. 7, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00173.

- Walsh, F., Duffy, B., 2013. The Culturable Soil Antibiotic Resistome: A Community of Multi-Drug Resistant Bacteria. PLoS One 8, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0065567.
- Wang, F., Stedtfeld, R.D., Kim, O.-S., Chai, B., Yang, L., Stedtfeld, T.M., Hong, S.G., Kim, D., Lim, H.S., Hashsham, S.A., Tiedje, J.M., Sul, W.J., 2016. Influence of Soil Characteristics and Proximity to Antarctic Research Stations on Abundance of Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Soils, Environmental Science & Technology. 10, 1-25. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b02863
- Wickham, H., Averick, M., Bryan, J., Chang, W., Mcgowan, L.D.A., François, R.,
 Grolemund, G., Hayes, A., Henry, L., Hester, J., Kuhn, M., Lin, T., Miller, E., Bache,
 S.M., Müller, K., Ooms, J., Robinson, D., Seidel, D.P., Spinu, V., Takahashi, K.,
 Vaughan, D., Wilke, C., Woo, K., 2019. Welcome to the Tidyverse Tidyverse package.
 J. open source Softw. 4, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.01686.
- Woodford, N., Ellington, M.J., 2007. The emergence of antibiotic resistance by mutation. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 13, 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2006.01492.
- Woyo, E., Amadhila, E., 2018. Desert tourists experiences in Namibia: A Netnographic Approach. African J. Hosp. Tour. Leis. 7, 1–13.
- Xu, M., Zhou, Y., Goldstein, B., Jin, D., 2005. Cross-Resistance of Escherichia coli RNA Polymerases Conferring Rifampin Resistance to Different Antibiotics. J. Bacteriol. 187, 2783–2792. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.187.8.2783-2792.2005.
- Zaayman, M., Siggins, A., Horne, D., Lowe, H., Horswell, J., 2017. Investigation of triclosan contamination on microbial biomass and other soil health indicators. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 364, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsle/fnx163.
- Zankari, E., Hasman, H., Cosentino, S., Vestergaard, M., Rasmussen, S., Lund, O., Aarestrup, F.M., Larsen, M.V., 2012. Identification of acquired antimicrobial resistance genes. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 67, 2640–2644. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dks261.
- Zeil, C., Widmann, M., Fademrecht, S., Vogel, C., Pleiss, J., 2016. Network Analysis of Sequence-Function Relationships and Exploration of Sequence Space of TEM β-Lactamases. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 60, 2709–2717. https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.02930-15.
- Zhao, Y., Cocerva, T., Cox, S., Tardif, S., Su, J., Zhu, Y., Brandt, K., 2018. Evidence for coselection of antibiotic resistance genes and mobile genetic elements in metal polluted urban soils. Sci. Total Environ. 656, 512–520.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.372.

Zhu, Y., Zhao, Y., Zhu, D., Gillings, M., Penuelas, J., OK, Y.S., Capon, A., Banwart, S., 2019. Soil biota, antimicrobial resistance and planetary health. Environ. Int. 131, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105059.

CHAPTER FOUR: A CLINICALLY IMPORTANT, PLASMID-BORNE ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE GENE (β-LACTAMASE TEM-116) PRESENT IN DESERT SOILS

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Science of the Total Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Short Communication

A clinically important, plasmid-borne antibiotic resistance gene (β -lactamase TEM-116) present in desert soils



Yashini Naidoo^a, Angel Valverde^b, Errol D. Cason^c, Rian E. Pierneef^d, Don A. Cowan^{a,*}

^a Department of Biochemistry, Genetics and Microbiology, University of Pretoria, Lynnwood Road, Pretoria 0002, South Africa

^b Department of Microbial, Biochemical and Food Technology, University of the Free State, Nelson Mandela Drive, Bloemfontein 9300, South Africa

Department of minimal, Wildlife and Grassland Science. University of the Free State, Nelson Mandela Drive, Bloemfontein 9300, South Africa

^d Biotechnology Platform, Agricultural Research Council, Soutpan Road, Onderstepoort Campus, Pretoria 0110, South Africa

biotechnology 1 kajorni, rightanan kestaren ebanon, soarpan koua, onaerstepoort eampas, 11

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Shotgun metagenomics was used to investigate antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) in desert soils.
- A clinically relevant plasmid-borne ARG was detected.
- The plasmid also carries a metal resistance gene and a P7 enterobacteriophage.
- These findings have important implications for the One Health initiative.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history:

Received 26 September 2019 Received in revised form 20 February 2020 Accepted 20 February 2020 Available online xxxx

Editor: Ewa Korzeniewska

Keywords: Metagenomics Low anthropogenic impact Namib desert Mobile genetic element

ABSTRACT

The exhaustive use of antibiotics in humans, animal farming and other agricultural practices has resulted in the frequent appearance of antibiotic resistant bacteria in human-impacted habitats. However, antibiotic resistance in natural (less-impacted) habitats is less understood. Using shotgun metagenomics we analysed soils from relatively low anthropogenic impact sites across the Namib Desert. We report the presence of a clinically significant extended spectrum β -lactamase (TEM-116), on a ColE1-like plasmid also carrying a metal resistance gene (arsC). The co-occurrence of resistance to antimicrobial drugs and metals encoded on a single mobile genetic element increases the probability of dissemination of these resistance determinants and the potential selection of multiple resistance mechanisms. In addition, the presence of a P7 entero-bacteriophage on the same plasmid, may represent a new vehicle for the propagation of TEM-116 in these soil communities. These findings highlight the role of the environment in the One Health initiative.

© 2020 Published by Elsevier B.V.

1. Introduction

The One Health approach refers to the multidisciplinary collaboration on a local, national and global scale to ensure optimal health for people, animals and the environment. It recognises that antimicrobial resistance (AMR) has clear links to all components of this triad (Robinson et al., 2016). Most initiatives in understanding and combatting AMR have focused solely on human and animal sectors, while the extent of antibiotic resistance in the environment is poorly understood (Essack, 2018; Finley et al., 2013). However, recent studies have

* Corresponding author at: Department of Biochemistry, Genetics and Microbiology, University of Pretoria, Lynnwood Road, Hatfield, Pretoria 0002, South Africa. *E-mail address*: don.cowan@up.ac.za (D.A. Cowan).

reported that many of the resistance genes found in clinical pathogens originate from soil-borne bacteria (Finley et al., 2013; Martínez et al., 2015) and that soils act as a reservoir of resistance genes (Larsson et al., 2018). The potential mobilization (e.g., through plasmids and other mobile elements) of resistance genes within the soil reservoir and the extent to which soils provide transmission routes for the propagation of resistance determinants to humans and animals is therefore a matter of immediate concern (Bengtsson-Palme et al., 2017; Bengtsson-Palme and Larsson, 2016).

The persistent exposure of bacterial strains to a multitude of βlactam antibiotics has led to the production and mutation of β lactamases (Bush, 2018; Pitout and Laupland, 2008), known as extended-spectrum β -lactamases (ESBLs). ESBLs are generally plasmid-borne and have the ability to induce host cell resistance to newer β -lactam antibiotics, specifically to third and fourth generation cephalosporins and monobactams, but not cephamycins and carbapenems (Ur Rahman et al., 2018). ESBLs were primarily found in Klebsiella pneumonia and Escherichia coli in the 1980's, but have since been reported in several other species of bacteria, including Pseudomonas, Shigella and Salmonella (Mesa et al., 2006; Tissera and Lee, 2013). More recently, with the application of metagenomics screening methods, ESBLs have been reported to be ubiquitous in different natural environments, such as ancient soils (Allen et al., 2009; Perron et al., 2015), deep terrestrial sub-surfaces (Brown and Balkwill, 2009), isolated caves (Bhullar et al., 2012) and in cold deserts (Segawa et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2015). However, little is known about the presence of ESBLs in hot deserts, which represent 20% of the global land area (Ayal, 2007), are major and consistent sources of long-distance airborne particulates (Belov et al., 2018) and therefore of particular significance as reservoirs of these genes.

TEM-116 is an ESBL characterized by two amino acid substitutions at residues 84 and 184, (Usha et al., 2008) and thought to have evolved directly from the first-discovered plasmid mediated β -lactamase, TEM-1 (Usha et al., 2008). It has been demonstrated that TEM-116 has given rise to over 50 TEM variants (Jacoby and Bush, 2016; Zeil et al., 2016), and has been postulated that TEM-116 acts as a second-generation progenitor of TEM variants. TEM-116 is widespread in clinical (Jeong et al., 2004; Naiemi et al., 2005; Usha et al., 2008; Vignoli et al., 2005) and non-clinical environments (Balsalobre et al., 2010; Forcella et al., 2010; Maravić et al., 2016; Mondal et al., 2019), including agricultural soils (Anand et al., 2016; Demaneche et al., 2008). The reports describing TEM-116 in soils, suggest that this ESBL is native to soil resistomes and is chromosomally mediated (Jacoby and Bush, 2016). In this study we provide evidence, for the first time, of the clinically relevant plasmid-borne TEM-116 in desert soils.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study site and sampling

The central Namib is a hyper-arid desert located on the south west coast of Africa. The Namib Desert has scarce and unpredictable rainfall patterns with rainfall increasing gradually from the coast, inland, producing a variable west-east rainfall gradient (Eckardt et al., 2013). Previously, anthropogenic influences across the desert have been minimal and were mostly limited to scientific expeditions. However, nature based tourism has increased drastically in the last decade (Dowling and Grunert, 2018), possibly increasing the anthropogenic pressure in the Namib desert. Surface soils (0 to 5 cm) were collected across this west-east transect on the 10th April 2018 ($23^{\circ}11'76.1''S 15^{\circ}16'69.2'''$ E). The transect spans three xeric zones (fog, arid and rainfall), samples were collected from the arid (n = 3) and rainfall (n = 3) zones. Four aliquots of 50 g of soil were taken at each site at 100 m spacing, using sterile methods and stored in sterile 50 ml polypropylene Falcon tubes (Grenier, Bio-One). Soils were stored at -80° C for molecular analysis.

2.2. Sample preparation and DNA sequencing

Metagenomic DNA was extracted from the soil samples (n = 6), using the DNeasy Powersoil Kit (Qiagen) as per the manufacturers' instructions. Samples were submitted for sequencing at a commercial supplier (MR DNA Lab, Shallowater, TX, USA). Sequencing was performed on a HiSeq 2500 Ultra-High-Throughput Sequencing system (Illumina) using paired-ends (2×250 bp) for 500 cycles, as per the manufacturers' instructions.

2.3. Metagenomic assembly and acquired ARG identification

The number of reads per sample ranged from 9,868,998 to 11,726,910 (10,632,908 on average), with a sequence depth of 5GB. Raw reads were quality filtered using FastQC (Andrews, 2010), and trimmed using PrinSeq (Schmieder and Edwards, 2011). Reads were assembled using SPAdes v3.12.0 (Bankevich et al., 2012), with default settings and the "meta" parameter specified. The quality of each assembled metagenome (n = 6) was assessed using QUAST v5.0.2 (Mikheenko et al., 2018). The contigs were aligned using EPSript 3.0 (Robert and Gouet, 2014) to identify regions of similarity. To identify the acquired antibiotic resistance genes, contigs were compared against the ResFinder (Zankari et al., 2012) database by means of BLASTn with an E-value threshold of 1×10^{-6} and the following parameters: minimum identity 87% and minimum match length 25 bp. Similar cut-off values were used in a study carried out in Antarctic soil (Van Goethem et al., 2018) and in a more recent study analysing antibiotic resistance in sewage impacted environments (Karkman et al., 2019). In this study, these values were used to identify genes that do not stretch over the entire contig.

2.4. Mobile genetic elements and taxonomic identification

To identify mobile genetic elements associated with ARGS, contigs were compared to the Mobile Genetic Elements Database (Pärnänen et al., 2018) by means of BLASTn with an E-value threshold of 1×10^{-6} and the following parameters: minimum identity 87% and minimum match length 25 bp. The plasmid detected was confirmed with the PlasmidFinder database (Carattoli et al., 2014) using the same parameters. To identify taxonomic markers associated with ARGs, gene prediction was performed using Prodigal v2.6.3 (Hyatt et al., 2010). The genes predicted by Prodigal were compared against the ProGenomes database (Mende et al., 2017) using blastp in DIAMOND v0.7.9.58 (Buchfink et al., 2014) at an E-value cut off of 1×10^{-5} . Only contigs larger than 1000 bp were annotated.

2.5. Phage identification and metal resistance gene annotation

To identify bacteriophage sequences, contigs were compared to the MetaPhinder database, which contains whole bacteriophage genome sequences. BLASTn was run with an E-value threshold of 1×10^{-6} . Metal resistance genes were detected by running BLASTp with these contigs against the BacMet database (Pal et al., 2014) using DIAMOND v0.7.9.58 at an E-value cut off of 1×10^{-6} and the following parameters: minimum identity 87% and minimum match length 25 bp. The raw sequence data and contigs are available on NCBI (PRJNA592367).

3. Results and discussion

We used de novo assembled shotgun metagenomic sequences (contigs) from six surface soil sample sites in the Namib Desert. Analysis using ResFinder (Zankari et al., 2012) revealed the presence of an acquired ESBL, TEM-116, at four of the sample sites (Table S1). The length of TEM-116 reported here was 861 bp and showed 100% similarity to the reference TEM-116 gene (accession no: AY425988.1) (Table S2). TEM-116 has been globally reported in a number of gram negative organisms, it was first identified in clinical strains of *K. pneumonia* and *E. coli* in Korea (Jeong et al., 2004). Thereafter, on conjugate plasmids in *E. coli* isolates in Uruguay (Vignoli et al., 2005) and later, in *Acinetobacter baumanii* of both clinical and non-clinical origin (Maravić et al., 2016; Naiemi et al., 2005), indicating the widespread dissemination of this ARG. TEM-116 has an extended spectrum of activity against several third and fourth generation cephalosporins (Song et al., 2005; Usha et al., 2008), for this reason it is considered an ESBL.

A comparison of our contigs (Fig. S1) against the Mobile Genetic Elements (Pärnänen et al., 2018) and PlasmidFinder (Carattoli et al., 2014) databases revealed the presence of a ColRNAI replicon (with a length of 131 bp and 90% similarity to the reference replicon) (Table S2). Mapping of the contigs to the Col E1 plasmid pIGMS32 (accession no: DQ298019) indicates that TEM-116 reported here is carried on a plasmid similar to pIGMS32 (Fig. 1). pIGMS32 was initially identified as a narrow host range plasmid. However, it was later reported (Smorawinska et al., 2012) that this plasmid can contain different mobilization (MOB) modules which enables its dissemination among evolutionarily distinct bacterial species (that is, this plasmid has a wider host range than previously thought). Since then, pIGMS32 has been found in clinically relevant Gram-negative organisms, such as a K. pneumoniae strain implicated in a carbapenem-resistant infection outbreak (Espedido et al., 2013), and in Serratia marcescens, in a clonal multidrug resistant outbreak (Moradigaravand et al., 2016). Consequently, it has been suggested that pIGMS32 is a carrier of resistance mechanisms (e.g., efflux pumps) of clinical significance (Ares-Arroyo et al., 2018), and of genes conferring resistance to several antibiotics including β-lactams (Papagiannitsis et al., 2015).

Gene transfer and acquisition in nature occurs mostly between taxonomically homogenous groups (Courvalin, 1994; Kelly et al., 2009). However, the taxonomic annotation of all TEM-116 identified in the Namib Desert indicated that TEM-116 was found in *Rhodococcus ruber* strain Chol-4. *Rhodococcus* strains are considered good candidates for processes such as bioremediation and biocatalysis since they display wide metabolic versatility with an increased tolerance to varying stress conditions (Guevara et al., 2019). The Chol-4 strain in particular is a model organism for studying biodegradation of steroids to produce pharmaceutically active steroid drugs (Guevara et al., 2019). As far as we know, R. ruber has not been previously associated with antibiotic resistance to β -lactams. The presence of this ESBL in *Rhodococcus ruber*, a Gram-positive bacterium, indicates an "inter-Gram" gene transfer event. The first report of inter-Gram transfer was in 1987, where a plasmid present in E. coli was successfully transferred to several Grampositive bacterial strains (Trieu-Cuot et al., 1987). Initially, it was thought that this transfer could only occur via conjugation (Kelly et al., 2009), but most recently it has been demonstrated that it can also occur via transformation (Jiang et al., 2017). The presence of TEM-116 in a gram-positive organism implies that inter-Gram transfer in soil bacteria may be more common than previously thought (Popa et al., 2011). Soils are highly diverse and can act as hot spots for gene acquisition from phylogenetically distant groups (Popa et al., 2011), and therefore, facilitate a direct connection of a large part of the bacterial gene pool (Klümper et al., 2015).

Antibiotic resistance genes have been reported as wide-spread in both hot and cold deserts (Belov et al., 2018; Fierer et al., 2012; Van Goethem et al., 2018), and the ubiquity of TEM-116 in soil environments cannot be disputed (Jacoby and Bush, 2016). However, to the best of our knowledge, resistance genes of clinical relevance on conjugative plasmids have not been reported in desert soils. Hence, the presence of TEM-116 on a conjugative plasmid in this desert soil is unexpected since such soils are thought to be subject to low anthropogenic impact. However, the Namib Desert harbors highly transient populations of wildlife (Hedman et al., 2014), such as Springbok (*Antidorcas marsupialis*), Oryx (*Oryx gazella*), and several native and migratory species of birds (Stein et al., 2008). Consequently, these animals and birds in such natural environments are potentially at risk for the acquisition



Col E 1 - like plasmid

Fig. 1. Graphical representation of the part of the contigs (~90% of the total length) that contain the overlapping sequences for the ARG TEM-116, metal resistance gene ArsC and Bacteriophage P7 mapped to the ColE1-like plasmid profile (accession no: DQ298019). The ColE1 plasmid contains putative genetic modules (MOB: mobilization system, ColRNAI: origin of replication and TA: toxin-antitoxin stabilization system) which, are depicted in the figure. The figure showing the plasmid profile was determined using WebDSV2.0 and can be found at (www.molbiotools.com).

of antibiotic resistant bacteria (Allen et al., 2010; Literak et al., 2010). Although the routes of transmission are difficult to establish, direct contact with domestic livestock, via sharing drinking water and food sources, may be highly significant in transmission flows (Radhouani et al., 2014; Van den Honert et al., 2018). The spread of environmental ARGs mediated specifically by migratory birds, has been well recognized (Wellington et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2018). We note that, following sporadic rain events in the Namib Desert and the resulting growth and seeding of the dominant grass species Stipagrostis ciliate (Dean and Williams, 2004), very large numbers (millions) of Gray-backed Sparrow-larks (Eremopterix verticalis) invade the region. As groundfeeders, these populations have the capacity to support regional transport of soil microorganisms (and ARGs) via fecal deposits. High proportions of resistance determinants have been detected in feces of migratory birds across countries (Foti et al., 2011; Guenther et al., 2012; Radhouani et al., 2012), including pristine areas (Hernández and González-Acuña, 2016; Rabbia et al., 2016).

There is strong evidence that levels of human and animal fecal pollution correlate positively with the presence of antibiotic resistant organisms (Karkman et al., 2019; Sapkota et al., 2007). However, these studies are largely limited to aquatic environments, which are highly susceptible to anthropogenic contamination (Karkman et al., 2019). Detecting markers for fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) using metagenomics is problematic because of the low abundance of these marker bacteria in microbial communities (Bengtsson-Palme et al., 2017; Karkman et al., 2019). An alternative approach is the use of bacteriophages as indicators of fecal pollution (Ballesté et al., 2019; McMinn et al., 2017; Muniesa et al., 2018). Using MetaPhinder (Jurtz et al., 2016) we detected enterobacteria S-13 phages in these soil bacterial communities and a partial construct of an enterobacteria P7 phage encoded in the plasmid (Fig. 1).

The role of bacteriophages in the dissemination of ARGs in aquatic environments has recently been highlighted (Balcazar, 2014; Colavecchio et al., 2017; Ross and Topp, 2015). For example, the phage-mediated mobilization of quinolone resistance genes (qnrA) in urban wastewater (Colomer-Lluch et al., 2014) and their capacity to facilitate inter-species transfer of β -lactamase genes in hospital effluents (Marti et al., 2014) have both recently been reported. However, the extent to which bacteriophages facilitate the dissemination of ARGs in soil environments is currently unknown. S-13 bacteriophages are somatic coliforms which have been used as indicators of fecal contamination in domestic and municipal sewage as well as in primary and activated sludge (Syngouna and Chrysikopoulos, 2014). However, these phages have the ability to multiply in several species of Enterobacteriaceae, which means that their presence in these soil communities could be unrelated to fecal contamination (Leclerc et al., 2000). The P7 bacteriophage has the ability to replicate in its host as independent plasmidlike elements and reportedly harbors β-lactamases conferring resistance to various β -lactam antibiotics (Billard-Pomares et al., 2014). The presence of P7 on this Col E1-like plasmid may represent a new vehicle for the dissemination of TEM-116 in these communities. Although we cannot explicitly correlate the presence of wildlife to the impact of ARGs in the Namib Desert, our data does imply a link between fecal inputs and the acquired TEM-116 gene, probably mediated by birds.

Antibiotic resistance frequently co-occurs with resistance to heavy metals (Li et al., 2017). This is a result of the colocalization or comigration of genes conferring multiple resistance mechanisms (e.g., target inactivation, target protection, efflux pumps) (Li et al., 2017). Using the BacMet database (Pal et al., 2014), which contains metal resistance genes (MRGs), we demonstrated the presence of arsC genes (coding for arsenate reductase) in the Namib Desert soil metagenome contigs. The arsenate reductase reported here was 113 amino acid residues long (85% of the length of the reference arsC) with a 94% similarity to the reference protein (accession no: BAA24824.1) (Table S2). Interestingly, the arsC gene was encoded within the plasmid. Co-resistance to arsenic and β -lactams has been reported to frequently occur on the same mobile element (Pal et al., 2017). The co-selection potential of arsC and TEM-116 may have functional significance in this particular plasmid due to the presence of a toxin-antitoxin (TA) system (Fig. 1), which stabilizes the plasmid in the host by killing off any of the daughter cells that do not inherit the plasmid (Pal et al., 2015). Therefore, plasmids with ARGs and MRGs, together with a TA system would likely be more persistent in the environment even in the absence of antibiotic selective pressure (Di Cesare et al., 2016). Additionally, if resistance genes for both antibiotics and metals are physically located on the same plasmid, horizontal transfer of the entire gene cluster to other bacteria is likely (Knapp et al., 2011; Pal et al., 2015).

In summary, this work supports the evidence that clinically significant ARGs are widespread even in environments without obvious anthropogenic exposure to antibiotics. It is likely that in bacterial communities, the mobilization of existing resistance determinants happens continuously, although very few of these determinants are selected for and remain in the community. Consequently, resistance genes such TEM-116, which are already circulating between the clinic and the environment, may easily re-emerge in the clinic during antibiotic therapy further reducing treatment options. The likely exchange of resistance genes between soil dwelling bacteria and clinical pathogens highlights the crucial role of the environment in the emergence and re-emergence of these resistance determinants. The value of the One Health approach is undisputed, considering the dynamics of ARGs as they move from clinical environments to natural environments.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Yashini Naidoo Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing - original draft. Angel Valverde: Writing - review & editing, Supervision, Funding acquisition. Errol D. Cason: Software, Writing - review & editing. Rian E. Pierneef: Software, Validation, Writing - review & editing. Don A. Cowan: Supervision, Funding acquisition, Writing - review & editing.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful for funding provided by the National Research Foundation (NRF) of South Africa, supported through a Free standing and Research and Development Programme grants.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137497.

References

- Allen, H.K., Moe, L.A., Rodbumrer, J., Gaarder, A., Handelsman, J., 2009. Functional metagenomics reveals diverse β -lactamases in a remote Alaskan soil. ISME J 3, 243–251. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2008.86.
- Allen, H.K., Donato, J., Wang, H.H., Cloud-Hansen, K.A., Davies, J., Handelsman, J., 2010. Call of the wild: antibiotic resistance genes in natural environments. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 8, 251–259. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2312.
- Anand, T., Bera, B.C., Vaid, R.K., Barua, S., Riyesh, T., Virmani, N., Hussain, M., Singh, R.K., Tripathi, B.N., 2016. Abundance of antibiotic resistance genes in environmental bacteriophages. J. Gen. Virol. 97, 3458–3466. https://doi.org/10.1099/jgv.0.000639.
- Andrews, S., 2010. Fastqc: a quality control tool for high throughput sequence data. [WWW document]. http://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc.
- Ares-Arroyo, M., Bernabe-Balas, C., Santos-Lopez, A., Baquero, M.R., Prasad, K.N., Cid, D., Martin-Espada, C., San Millian, A., Gonzalez-Zorn, B., 2018. PCR-based analysis of ColE1 plasmids in clinical isolates and metagenomic samples reveals their importance as gene capture platforms. Front. Microbiol. 9, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmicb.2018.00469.

- Ayal, Y., 2007. Trophic structure and the role of predation in shaping hot desert communities. J. Arid Environ. 68, 171–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2006.05.013. Balcazar, J.L., 2014. Bacteriophages as vehicles for antibiotic resistance genes in the envi-
- ronment. PLoS Pathog. 10, e1004219. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004219. Ballesté, E., Pascual-Benito, M., Martín-Díaz, J., Blanch, A.R., Lucena, F., Muniesa, M., Jofre,
- J., García-Aljaro, C., 2019. Dynamics of crAssphage as a human source tracking marker in potentially faecally polluted environments. Water Res. 155, 233–244. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.02.042.
- Balsalobre, L.C., Dropa, M., de Oliveira, D.E., Lincopan, N., Mamizuka, E.M., Matté, G.R., Matté, M.H., 2010. Presence of blaTEM-1166 gene in environmental isolates of Aeromonas hydrophila and aeromonas jandaei from Brazil. Brazilian J. Microbiol. 41, 718–719. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1517-83822010000300023.
- Bankevich, A., Nurk, S., Antipov, D., Gurevich, A.A., Dvorkin, M., Kulikov, A.S., Lesin, V.M., Nikolenko, S.I., Pham, S., Prjibelski, A.D., Pyshkin, A.V., Sirotkin, A.V., Vyahhi, N., Tesler, G., Alekseyev, M.A., Pevzner, P.A., 2012. SPAdes: a new genome assembly algorithm and its applications to single-cell sequencing. J. Comput. Biol. 19, 455–477. https://doi.org/10.1089/cmb.2012.0021.
- Belov, A., Cheptsov, V., Vorobyova, E., 2018. Soil bacterial communities of Sahara and Gibson deserts: physiological and taxonomical characteristics. AIMS Microbiol 4, 685–710. https://doi.org/10.3934/microbiol.2018.4.685.
- Bengtsson-Palme, J., Larsson, D.G.J., 2016. Concentrations of antibiotics predicted to select for resistant bacteria: proposed limits for environmental regulation. Environ. Int. 86, 140–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2015.10.015.
- Bengtsson-Palme, J., Larsson, D.G.J., Kristiansson, E., 2017. Using metagenomics to investigate human and environmental resistomes. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 72, 2690–2703. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkx199.
- Bhullar, K., Waglechner, N., Pawlowski, A., Koteva, K., Banks, E.D., Johnston, M.D., Barton, H.A., Wright, G.D., 2012. Antibiotic resistance is prevalent in an isolated cave microbiome. PLoS One 7. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034953.
- Billard-Pomares, T., Fouteau, S., Jacquet, E., Roche, D., Barbe, V., Castellanos, M., Bouet, J.Y., Cruveiller, S., Médigue, C., Blanco, J., Clermont, O., Denamur, E., 2014. Characterization of a P1-like bacteriophage carrying an SHV-2 extended-spectrum S. -lactamase from an Escherichia coli strain. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58, 6550–6557. https://doi. org/10.1128/AAC.03183-14.
- Brown, M.G., Balkwill, D.L., 2009. Antibiotic resistance in bacteria isolated from the deep terrestrial subsurface. Microb. Ecol. 57, 484–493. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-008-9431-6.
- Buchfink, B., Xie, C., Huson, D.H., 2014. Fast and sensitive protein alignment using DIA-MOND. Nat. Methods 12, 59–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3176.
- Bush, K., 2018. Past and present perspectives on β-lactamases. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 62, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01076-18.
- Carattoli, A., Zankari, E., Garciá-Fernández, A., Larsen, M.V., Lund, O., Villa, L., Aarestrup, F.M., Hasman, H., 2014. In Silico detection and typing of plasmids using plasmidfinder and plasmid multilocus sequence typing. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58, 3895–3903. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.02412-14.
- Colavecchio, A., Cadieux, B., Lo, A., Goodridge, L.D., 2017. Bacteriophages contribute to the spread of antibiotic resistance genes among foodborne pathogens of the Enterobacteriaceae family - a review. Front. Microbiol. 8, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmicb.2017.01108.
- Colomer-Lluch, M., Jofre, J., Muniesa, M., 2014. Quinolone resistance genes (qnrA and qnrS) in bacteriophage particles from wastewater samples and the effect of inducing agents on packaged antibiotic resistance genes. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 69, 1265–1274. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkt528.
- Courvalin, P., 1994. Transfer of antibiotic resistance genes between gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 38, 1447–1451. https://doi. org/10.1128/AAC.38.7.1447.
- Dean, W.R.J., Williams, J.B., 2004. Adaptations of birds for life in deserts with particular reference to larks (ALAUDIDAE). Trans. R. Soc. South Africa 59, 79–91. https://doi. org/10.1080/00359190409519166.
- Demaneche, S., Sanguin, H., Pote, J., Navarro, E., Bernillon, D., Mavingui, P., Wildi, W., Vogel, T.M., Simonet, P., 2008. Antibiotic-resistant soil bacteria in transgenic plant fields. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 3957–3962. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0800072105.
- Di Cesare, A., Eckert, E.M., Corno, G., 2016. Co-selection of antibiotic and heavy metal resistance in freshwater bacteria. J. Limnol. 75, 59–66. https://doi.org/10.4081/ jlimnol.2016.1198.
- Dowling, R.K., Grunert, N., 2018. Namibia: geotourism in the arid zone. In: Dowling, R., Newsone, D. (Eds.), Handbook of Geotourism. Edward Elgar Publishing, pp. 1–520.
- Eckardt, F.D., Soderberg, K., Coop, L.J., Muller, A.A., Vickery, K.J., Grandin, R.D., Jack, C., Kapalanga, T.S., Henschel, J., 2013. The nature of moisture at Gobabeb, in the central Namib Desert. J. Arid Environ. 93, 7–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaridenv.2012.01.011.
- Espedido, B.A., Steen, J.A., Ziochos, H., Grimmond, S.M., Cooper, M.A., Gosbell, I.B., van Hal, S.J., Jensen, S.O., 2013. Whole genome sequence analysis of the first Australian OXA-48-producing outbreak-associated klebsiella pneumoniae isolates: the resistome and in vivo evolution. PLoS One 8, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0059920.
- Essack, S.Y., 2018. Environment: the neglected component of the one health triad. Lancet Planet. Heal. 2, e238–e239. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2542-5196(18)30124-4.
- Fierer, N., Leff, J.W., Adams, B.J., Nielsen, U.N., Bates, S.T., Lauber, C.L., Owens, S., Gilbert, J.A., Wall, D.H., Caporaso, J.G., 2012. Cross-biome metagenomic analyses of soil microbial communities and their functional attributes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109, 21390–21395. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1215210110.
- Finley, R.L., Collignon, P., Larsson, D.G.J., McEwen, S.A., Li, X.-Z., Gaze, W.H., Reid-Smith, R., Timinouni, M., Graham, D.W., Topp, E., 2013. The scourge of antibiotic resistance: the important role of the environment. Clin. Infect. Dis. 57, 704–710. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/cid/cit355.

- Forcella, C., Pellegrini, C., Celenza, G., Segatore, B., Calabrese, R., Tavío, M.M., Amicosante, G., Perilli, M., 2010. Qnr B9 in association with TEM-116 extended-spectrum betalactamase in Citrobacter freundii isolated from sewage effluent: first report from Italy. J. Chemother. 22, 243–245. https://doi.org/10.1179/joc.2010.22.4.243.
- Foti, M., Rinaldo, D., Guercio, A., Giacopello, C., Aleo, A., De Leo, F., Fisichella, V., Mammina, C., 2011. Pathogenic microorganisms carried by migratory birds passing through the territory of the island of Ustica, Sicily (Italy). Avian Pathol 40, 405–409. https://doi. org/10.1080/03079457.2011.588940.
- Guenther, S., Aschenbrenner, K., Stamm, I., Bethe, A., Semmler, T., Stubbe, A., Stubbe, M., Batsajkhan, N., Glupczynski, Y., Wieler, L.H., Ewers, C., 2012. Comparable high rates of extended-spectrum-beta-lactamase-producing Escherichia coli in birds of prey from Germany and Mongolia. PLoS One 7, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0053039.
- Guevara, G., Lopez, M.C., Alonso, S., Perera, J., Navarro-Ilorens, J.M., 2019. New insights into the genome of Rhodococcus ruber strain Chol-4. BMC Genomics 20, 1–17.
- Hedman, H.D., Alvarez, H.M., Kalifeni Hanghome, G.P., Eifler, M., Eifler, D., 2014. Reptiles of the Gobabeb Research and Training Centre. Reptil. Ampibians 21, 73–79.
- Hernández, J., González-Acuña, D., 2016. Anthropogenic antibiotic resistance genes mobilization to the polar regions. Infect. Ecol. Epidemiol. 6, 32112. https://doi.org/10.3402/ iee.v6.32112.
- Hyatt, D., Chen, G.-L., Locascio, P.F., Land, M.L., Larimer, F.W., Hauser, L.J., 2010. Prodigal: prokaryotic gene recognition and translation initiation site identification. BMC Bioinformatics 11, 119. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-11-119.
- Jacoby, G.A., Bush, K., 2016. The curious case of TEM-116. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 60, 7000. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01777-16.
- Jeong, S.H., Bae, I.K., Lee, J.H., Sohn, S.G., Kang, G.H., Jeon, G.J., Kim, Y.H., Jeong, B.C., Lee, S.H., 2004. Molecular characterization of extended-spectrum beta-lactamases produced by clinical isolates of Klebsiella pneumoniae and Escherichia coli from a Korean nationwide survey. J. Clin. Microbiol. 42, 2902–2906. https://doi.org/10.1128/ JCM.42.7.2902-2906.2004.
- Jiang, X., Ellabaan, M.M.H., Charusanti, P., Munck, C., Blin, K., Tong, Y., Weber, T., Sommer, M.O.A., Lee, S.Y., 2017. Dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes from antibiotic producers to pathogens. Nat. Commun. 8, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms15784.
- Jurtz, V.I., Villarroel, J., Lund, O., Voldby Larsen, M., Nielsen, M., 2016. MetaPhinder identifying bacteriophage sequences in metagenomic data sets. PLoS One 11, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163111.
- Karkman, A., Pärnänen, K., Larsson, D.G.J., 2019. Fecal pollution can explain antibiotic resistance gene abundances in anthropogenically impacted environments. Nat. Commun. 10, 80. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-07992-3.
- Kelly, B.G., Vespermann, A., Bolton, D.J., 2009. Gene transfer events and their occurrence in selected environments. Food Chem. Toxicol. 47, 978–983. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.fct.2008.06.012.
- Klümper, U., Riber, L., Dechesne, A., Sannazzarro, A., Hansen, L.H., Sørensen, S.J., Smets, B.F., 2015. Broad host range plasmids can invade an unexpectedly diverse fraction of a soil bacterial community. ISME J 9, 934–945. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ismej.2014.191.
- Knapp, C.W., McCluskey, S.M., Singh, B.K., Campbell, C.D., Hudson, G., Graham, D.W., 2011. Antibiotic resistance gene abundances correlate with metal and geochemical conditions in archived Scottish soils. PLoS One 6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0027300.
- Larsson, D.G.J., Andremont, A., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Brandt, K.K., de Roda Husman, A.M., Fagerstedt, P., Fick, J., Flach, C.F., Gaze, W.H., Kuroda, M., Kvint, K., Laxminarayan, R., Manaia, C.M., Nielsen, K.M., Plant, L., Ploy, M.C., Segovia, C., Simonet, P., Smalla, K., Snape, J., Topp, E., van Hengel, A.J., Verner-Jeffreys, D.W., Virta, M.P.J., Wellington, E.M., Wernersson, A.S., 2018. Critical knowledge gaps and research needs related to the environmental dimensions of antibiotic resistance. Environ. Int. 117, 132–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.04.041.
- Leclerc, H., Edberg, S., Pierzo, V., Delattre, J.M., 2000. Bacteriophages as Indicators of Enteric Viruses and Public Health Risk in Groundwaters. pp. 5–21.
- Li, L.G., Xia, Y., Zhang, T., 2017. Co-occurrence of antibiotic and metal resistance genes revealed in complete genome collection. ISME J 11, 651–662. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ismej.2016.155.
- Literak, I., Dolejska, M., Radimersky, T., Klimes, J., Friedman, M., Aarestrup, F.M., Hasman, H., Cizek, A., 2010. Antimicrobial-resistant faecal Escherichia coli in wild mammals in Central Europe: multiresistant Escherichia coli producing extended-spectrum betalactamases in wild boars. J. Appl. Microbiol. 108, 1702–1711. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2009.04572.x.
- Maravić, A., Škočibušić, M., Fredotović, Ž., Šamanić, I., Cvjetan, S., Knezović, M., Puizina, J., 2016. Urban riverine environment is a source of multidrug-resistant and ESBLproducing clinically important Acinetobacter spp. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 23, 3525–3535. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-5586-0.
- Marti, E., Variatza, E., Balcázar, J.L., 2014. Bacteriophages as a reservoir of extendedspectrum β-lactamase and fluoroquinolone resistance genes in the environment. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 20, 0456–0459. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-0691.12446.
- Martínez, J.L., Coque, T.M., Baquero, F., 2015. What is a resistance gene? Ranking risk in resistomes. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3399.
- McMinn, B.R., Ashbolt, N.J., Korajkic, A., 2017. Bacteriophages as indicators of faecal pollution and enteric virus removal. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 65, 11–26. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/lam.12736.
- Mende, D.R., Letunic, I., Huerta-Cepas, J., Li, S.S., Forslund, K., Sunagawa, S., Bork, P., 2017. ProGenomes: a resource for consistent functional and taxonomic annotations of prokaryotic genomes. Nucleic Acids Res. 45, D529–D534. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/ gkw989.
- Mesa, R.J., Blanc, V., Blanch, A.R., Cortés, P., González, J.J., Lavilla, S., Miró, E., Muniesa, M., Saco, M., Tórtola, M.T., Mirelis, B., Coll, P., Llagostera, M., Prats, G., Navarro, F., 2006.

Extended-spectrum β -lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in different environments (humans, food, animal farms and sewage). J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 58, 211–215. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkl211.

Mikheenko, A., Prjibelski, A., Saveliev, V., Antipov, D., Gurevich, A., 2018. Versatile genome assembly evaluation with QUAST-LG. Bioinformatics 34, i142–i150. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/bioinformatics/bty266.

Mondal, A.H., Siddiqui, M.T., Sultan, I., Haq, Q.M.R., 2019. Prevalence and diversity of blaTEM, blaSHV and blaCTX-M variants among multidrug resistant Klebsiella spp. from an urban riverine environment in India. Int. J. Environ. Health Res. 29, 117–129. https://doi.org/10.1080/09603123.2018.1515425.

Moradigaravand, D., Boinett, C.J., Martin, V., Peacock, S.J., Parkhill, J., 2016. Recent independent emergence of multiple multidrug-resistant Serratia marcescens clones within the United Kingdom and Ireland. Genome Res. 26, 1101–1109. https://doi. org/10.1101/gr.205245.116.

Muniesa, M., Ballesté, E., Imamovic, L., Pascual-Benito, M., Toribio-Avedillo, D., Lucena, F., Blanch, A.R., Jofre, J., 2018. Bluephage: a rapid method for the detection of somatic coliphages used as indicators of fecal pollution in water. Water Res. 128, 10–19. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.10.030.

Naiemi, N.A., Duim, B., Savelkoul, P.H.M., Spanjaard, L., Jonge, E. de, Bart, A., Vandenbroucke-Grauls, C.M., Jong, M.D. de, 2005. Widespread transfer of resistance genes between bacterial species in an intensive care unit: implications for hospital epidemiology. J. Clin. Microbiol. 43, 4862–4864. https://doi.org/10.1128/ ICM.43.9.4862–4864.2005.

Pal, C., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Rensing, C., Kristiansson, E., Larsson, D.G.J., 2014. BacMet: antibacterial biocide and metal resistance genes database. Nucleic Acids Res. 42, 737–743. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt1252.

Pal, C., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Kristiansson, E., Larsson, D.G.J., 2015. Co-occurrence of resistance genes to antibiotics, biocides and metals reveals novel insights into their coselection potential. BMC Genomics 16, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-2153-5.

Pal, C., Asiani, K., Arya, S., Rensing, C., Stekel, D.J., Larsson, D.G.J., Hobman, J.L., 2017. Metal resistance and its association with antibiotic resistance. Advances in Microbial Physiology. Elsevier Ltd, pp. 261–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ampbs.2017.02.001.

Papagiannitsis, C.C., Dolejska, M., Izdebski, R., Dobiasova, H., Studentova, V., 2015. Characterization of pKP-M1144, a novel ColE1-like plasmid encoding IMP-8, GES-5, and BEL-1 M. Jactamases, from a. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 59, 5065–5068. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00937-15.

Pärnänen, K., Karkman, A., Hultman, J., Lyra, C., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Larsson, D.G.J., Rautava, S., Isolauri, E., Salminen, S., Kumar, H., Satokari, R., Virta, M., 2018. Maternal gut and breast milk microbiota affect infant gut antibiotic resistome and mobile genetic elements. Nat. Commun. 9, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-06393-w.

Perron, G.G., Whyte, L., Turnbaugh, P.J., Goordial, J., Hanage, W.P., Dantas, G., Desai, M.M., 2015. Functional characterization of bacteria isolated from ancient arctic soil exposes diverse resistance mechanisms to modern antibiotics. PLoS One 10, 1–19. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069533.

Pitout, J.D., Laupland, K.B., 2008. Extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae: an emerging public-health concern. Lancet Infect. Dis. 8, 159–166. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(08)70041-0.

Popa, O., Hazkani-Covo, E., Landan, G., Martin, W., Dagan, T., 2011. Directed networks reveal genomic barriers and DNA repair bypasses to lateral gene transfer among prokaryotes. Genome Res. 21, 599–609. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.115592.110.

Rabbia, V., Bello-Toledo, H., Jiménez, S., Quezada, M., Domínguez, M., Vergara, L., Gómez-Fuentes, C., Calisto-Ulloa, N., González-Acuña, D., López, J., González-Rocha, G., 2016. Antibiotic resistance in Escherichia coli strains isolated from Antarctic bird feces, water from inside a wastewater treatment plant, and seawater samples collected in the Antarctic Treaty area. Polar Sci 10, 123–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. polar.2016.04.002.

Radhouani, H., Poeta, P., Gonçalves, A., Pacheco, R., Sargo, R., Igrejas, G., 2012. Wild birds as biological indicators of environmental pollution: antimicrobial resistance patterns of Escherichia coli and Enterococci isolated from common buzzards (Buteo buteo). J. Med. Microbiol. 61, 837–843. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.038364-0.

Radhouani, H., Silva, N., Poeta, P., Torres, C., Correia, S., Igrejas, G., 2014. Potential impact of antimicrobial resistance in wildlife, environment, and human health. Front. Microbiol. 5, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00023.

Robert, X., Gouet, P., 2014. Deciphering key features in protein structures with the new ENDscript server. Nucleic Acids Res. 42, 320–324. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku316.

Robinson, T.P., Bu, D.P., Carrique-Mas, J., Fèvre, E.M., Gilbert, M., Grace, D., Hay, S.I., Jiwakanon, J., Kakkar, M., Kariuki, S., Laxminarayan, R., Lubroth, J., Magnusson, U., Thi Ngoc, P., Van Boeckel, T.P., Woolhouse, M.E.J., 2016. Antibiotic resistance is the quintessential one health issue. Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg. 110, 377–380. https://doi.org/10.1093/trstmh/trw048. Ross, J., Topp, E., 2015. Abundance of antibiotic resistance genes in bacteriophage following soil fertilization with dairy manure or municipal biosolids, and evidence for potential transduction. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 81, 7905–7913. https://doi.org/ 10.1128/aem.02363-15.

Sapkota, A.R., Curriero, F.C., Gibson, K.E., Schwab, K.J., 2007. Antibiotic-resistant enterococci and fecal indicators in surface water and groundwater impacted by a concentrated swine feeding operation. Environ. Health Perspect. 115, 1040–1045. https:// doi.org/10.1289/ehp.9770.

Schmieder, R., Edwards, R., 2011. Quality control and preprocessing of metagenomic datasets. Bioinformatics 27, 863–864. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr026.

Segawa, T., Takeuchi, N., Rivera, A., Yamada, A., Yoshimura, Y., Barcaza, G., Shinbori, K., Motoyama, H., Kohshima, S., Ushida, K., 2013. Distribution of antibiotic resistance genes in glacier environments. Environ. Microbiol. Rep. 5, 127–134. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/1758-2229.12011.

Smorawinska, M., Szuplewska, M., Zaleski, P., Wawrzyniak, P., Maj, A., Plucienniczak, A., Bartosik, D., 2012. Mobilizable narrow host range plasmids as natural suicide vectors enabling horizontal gene transfer among distantly related bacterial species. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 326, 76–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2011.02432.x.

Song, J.S., Jeon, J.H., Lee, J.H., Jeong, S.H., Jeong, B.C., Kim, S.-J., Lee, J.-H., Lee, S.H., 2005. Molecular characterization of TEM-type B-lactamases identified in cold-seep sediments of Edison seamount. J. Microbiol. 43, 172–178.

Stein, A.B., Fuller, T.K., Marker, L.L., 2008. Opportunistic use of camera traps to assess habitat-speci W c mammal and bird diversity in northcentral Namibia 1 C 1 C. Biodivers. Conserv. 17, 3579–3587. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-008-9442-0.

Syngouna, V.I., Chrysikopoulos, C.V., 2014. Bacteriophages as faecal indicators in environmental systems: historical perspectives and recent uses bacteriophages as indicators. Wastewater Environ 1109–1119.

Tissera, S., Lee, S.M., 2013. Isolation of extended spectrum β-lactamase (ESBL) producing bacteria from urban surface waters in Malaysia. Malays. J. Med. Sci. 20, 14–22.

Trieu-Cuot, P., Carlier, C., Martin, P., Courvalin, P., 1987. Plasmid transfer by conjugation from Escherichia coli to Gram-positive bacteria P. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 48, 289–294.

Ur Rahman, S., Ali, T., Ali, I., Khan, N.A., Han, B., Gao, J., 2018. The growing genetic and functional diversity of extended spectrum beta-lactamases. Biomed. Res. Int. 2018, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/9519718.

Usha, G., Chunderika, M., Prashini, M., Willem, S.A., Yusuf, E.S., 2008. Characterization of extended-spectrum β-lactamases in salmonella spp. at a tertiary hospital in Durban, South Africa. Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 62, 86–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. diagmicrobio.2008.04.014.

Van den Honert, M.S., Gouws, P.A., Hoffman, L.C., 2018. Importance and implications of antibiotic resistance development in livestock and wildlife farming in South Africa: a review. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 48, 401. https://doi.org/10.4314/sajas.v48i3.1.

Van Goethem, M.W., Pierneef, R., Bezuidt, O.K.I., Van De Peer, Y., Cowan, D.A., Makhalanyane, T.P., 2018. A reservoir of "historical" antibiotic resistance genes in remote pristine Antarctic soils. Microbiome 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0424-5.

Vignoli, R., Varela, G., Mota, M.I., Cordeiro, N.F., Power, P., Ingold, E., Gadea, P., Sirok, A., Schelotto, F., Ayala, J.A., Gutkind, G., 2005. Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli strains carrying genes encoding the PER-2 and TEM-116 extended-spectrum β-lactamases isolated from children with diarrhea in Uruguay. J. Clin. Microbiol. 43, 2940–2943. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.43.6.2940-2943.2005.

Wei, S.T.S., Higgins, C.M., Adriaenssens, E.M., Cowan, D.A., Pointing, S.B., 2015. Genetic signatures indicate widespread antibiotic resistance and phage infection in microbial communities of the McMurdo Dry Valleys, East Antarctica. Polar Biol. 38, 919–925. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-015-1649-4.

Wellington, E.M.H., Boxall, A.B.A., Cross, P., Feil, E.J., Gaze, W.H., Hawkey, P.M., Johnson-Rollings, A.S., Jones, D.L., Lee, N.M., Otten, W., Thomas, C.M., Williams, A.P., 2013. The role of the natural environment in the emergence of antibiotic resistance in Gram-negative bacteria. Lancet Infect. Dis. 13, 155–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1473-3099(12)70317-1.

Wu, J., Huang, Y., Rao, D., Zhang, Y., Yang, K., 2018. Evidence for environmental dissemination of antibiotic resistance mediated by wild birds. Front. Microbiol. 9, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00745.

Zankari, E., Hasman, H., Cosentino, S., Vestergaard, M., Rasmussen, S., Lund, O., Aarestrup, F.M., Larsen, M.V., 2012. Identification of acquired antimicrobial resistance genes. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 67, 2640–2644. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dks261.

Zeil, C., Widmann, M., Fademrecht, S., Vogel, C., Pleiss, J., 2016. Network analysis of sequence-function relationships and exploration of sequence space of TEM βlactamases. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 60, 2709–2717. https://doi.org/10.1128/ aac.02930-15.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTION

Chapter 5: Conclusion and future direction

Previous research has shown that the structure (assess using T-RFLP analysis) and activities (assess using five extracellular enzymes) of soil microbial communities in the Namib Desert are affected by a precipitation gradient. Using both targeted (16S rRNA genes) and shotgun metagenomics this research provides a more detailed analysis on the taxonomic and functional attributes of these communities. The bacterial communities were dominated by Proteobacteria, Actinobacteriota, Bacteroidota and Acidobacteriota that together represented 76% of the sequences. The precipitation gradient shaped the functional diversity, and both the taxonomic composition and functional potential of these communities. Furthermore, the changes in microbial community composition and function were governed by a narrow range of phylogenetic taxa including several that were rare. Interestingly, the most noticeable difference between the rainfall zones was the increase in functions relating to competition in the highrainfall zone, more likely as a result of increased moisture and higher nutrient levels. In spite of these differences the core functions such as housekeeping and general homeostasis functions were evenly distributed. Microbial functional potential was shown to be largely determined by microbial community composition. Based on these results, it can be concluded that precipitation history alters both the composition and functional potential of bacterial communities in desert soils, which could help to predict the response of these communities to climate change.

Very little is known about the soil resistome of hot desert ecosystems and the present study, to the best of my knowledge, is the first to characterize the resistome and mobilome of Namib Desert soils. The analysis of soil metagenomes revealed that antibiotic resistance genes, metal/biocide resistance genes and mobile genetic elements were present in low abundance in Namib Desert soil. This was not unexpected since the direct anthropogenic impact in this soil is low. However, the detection of resistance to biocides such as triclosan, an antibacterial commonly used in personal care products, suggests a moderate human impact which could be as a result of increased tourism to the area. Evidence points to a potential co-selection of resistance genes to persist in the soil even in the absence of antibiotic selection pressure. The results suggest a decoupling between bacterial community composition and the antibiotic resistome, possibly originating from horizontal gene transfer in these soils which is further

supported by the presence of horizontally acquired resistance genes. This seems to indicate that vectors such as birds and humans might be partly involved in the spread of resistance determinants in these soils while highlighting the role that less impacted environments play in assessing the spread of antibiotic resistance globally.

The presence of a clinically significant ARG (i.e., TEM-116) in this environment with no obvious anthropogenic exposure to antibiotics provides evidence for the interchange of ARGs between human and environmental sectors at international scales. Furthermore, resistance genes which are already circulating between the clinic and the environment, may easily reemerge in the clinic during antibiotic therapy which has a direct effect on treatment options. Overall, this study emphasizes the need for better surveillance of ARGs in low impacted environments as part of the One Health Initiative.

Although this research has provided valuable information on the composition and function of microbial communities in desert soils, there are several questions that require further investigation, for example:

- Do other microbes (e.g., fungi, archaea) in the soil communities follow similar or different patterns across this gradient? It remains to be determined how other members of these microbial communities will react to the precipitation gradient and what the consequences will be for ecosystem functionality.
- 2. While metagenomics provides information on which microorganisms are present (i.e., *who is there?*) and what their potential functions are (i.e., *what might they be doing?*), an important question remains: how do the activities of microorganisms relate to ecosystem function? In an attempt to determine whether these communities are active, future research should include RNA analysis since RNA extracted from environmental samples provides valuable information in revealing active versus dormant communities.
- 3. Are there areas in the Namib Desert that can be classified as ARG hotspots? ARG hotspots can occur in any environment that is subjected to anthropogenic pressure. Given the increase in desert tourism, it would be interesting to analyze soil from those areas that are

frequented by tourists and compare it to areas that receive minimal human traffic to assess the impact in the Namib Desert. Additionally, since the levels of contaminants in these soils (e.g., heavy metals, biocides, antiseptics, biosurfactants) were not measured. Analyzing the levels of contaminants would also provide insight into the levels of anthropogenic pressure exerted in this environment.

4. How often are ARGs successfully conferred via horizontal gene transfer in these soils? New bioinformatics tools have enabled the accurate detection of horizontal gene transfer events, however the identification of the donor and acceptor candidates in these events has proven to be rather complex. The experimental verification of HGT events (e.g., conjugation assays) will ensure higher levels of accuracy and present a better understanding of how, when and why bacteria exchange ARGs.

APPENDIX 1

Sample site	Zone	Co-ordinates	Rainfall (mm)	Soil Temp (°C)	pН	P (mg/kg)	Na (mg/kg)	K (mg/kg)	Ca (mg/kg)	Mg (mg/kg)	NH4 (mg/kg)	NO3 mg/kg	% C
C142017sample10	MR	23°11'76 1"S 15°16'69 2"E	1 12	25.6	78	0 49	19.2	10.2	91.4	4 5	0.58	4 2	0 19
C142017sample12	MR	23°17'47 2"S 15°26'56 2"E	1.12	25.6	7.6	0.15	9.4	10.1	88.4	5.1	0.54	3.3	0.29
C142017sample14	MR	23°19'22 1"\$ 15°37'39 7"E	1.12	25.6	7.6	0.86	12.8	11 1	44 1	79	0.66	8.67	0.17
C142017sample16	HR	23°18'12 6"S 15°47'42 9"E	7.9	25.0	7.0	0.00	13.2	8.9	47.3	11.8	1.27	3.6	0.91
C142017sample18	HR	23°20'63 2"\$ 15°55'16 5"E	7.9	26.8	7.6	1.26	3.6	16.3	21.4	74	1.27	2.2	0.16
C142017sample20	HR	23°14'71 8"S 16°08'59 9"E	7.9	26.8	7.0	1.20	3.0	10.5	33.7	6 14	0.74	5.2	0.10
C142018sample10	MR	23°11'34 2"\$ 15°16'56 1"E	2.5	24.7	7.8	0.56	13.2	97	97.3	47	0.71	53	0.18
C142018sample12	MR	23°18'42 2"\$ 15°26'73 2"E	2.5	24.7	7.0	0.50	13.2	12.7	86.2	83	0.71	1.1	0.10
C142018sample14	MD	23 1042.2 5 15 2075.2 E	2.5	24.7	7.5	0.40	15.5	12.7	47.2	8.5 8.7	0.43	7.1	0.29
C142018sample14	MIK		2.5	24.7	7.0	0.50	13.7	12.5	47.2	0.7	0.55	7.1	0.10
C142018sample16	HR	23°18'52.8"8 15°47'55.2"E	9.2	26.3	7.6	0.56	8.4	7.9	65.4	11.2	1.13	5.6	0.64
C142018sample18	HR	23°19'47.2"S 15°56'17.5"E	9.2	26.3	7.8	1.66	4.5	11.4	28.0	5.3	1.01	3.1	0.30
C142018sample20	HR	23°11'67.8"S 16°07'53.1"E	9.2	26.3	7.4	1.08	2.1	6.5	44.8	3.8	0.54	3.7	0.62
C142019sample10	MR	23°11'57.2"\$ 15°16'35.3"E	0.2	25.7	7.7	0.39	20.12	12.3	95.4	4.4	0.63	2.7	0.22
C142019sample12	MR	23°17'65.3"\$ 15°26'78.5"E	0.2	25.7	7.5	0.68	12.2	10.8	77.2	6.5	0.45	7.3	0.30
C142019sample14	MR	23°19'22.1"S 15°36'42.7"E	0.2	25.7	7.6	0.78	11.6	11.4	48.7	7.2	0.71	8.4	0.13
C142019sample16	HR	23°18'63.3"S 15°47'57.2"E	2.9	26.1	7.7	0.58	7.9	8.4	59.8	11.0	1.11	4.5	0.38
C142019sample18	HR	23°19'53.2"S 15°56'27.5"E	2.9	26.1	7.2	1.31	4.0	19.2	30.4	8.2	1.0	2.4	0.26
C142019sample20	HR	23°15'67.8"S 16°08'35.7"E	2.9	26.1	7.5	1.32	2.5	9.1	36.46	4.7	0.64	5.2	0.67

Table 1. Physicochemical analyses for sample sites including rainfall and soil temperature measurements.

ASVs	log2FoldChange	Pvalue	Padj	Phylum	Genus	OTU (97%)
ASV1351	-5.557.700.148	0.00188863	0.022496537	Abditibacteriota	Abditibacterium	OTU47
ASV170	-8.624.350.128	7.75E-06	0.000533968	Bacteroidota Adhaeribacter		OTU02
ASV307	8.435.301.273	0.00010348	0.003989733	Bacteroidota Adhaeribacter		OTU02
ASV57	-1.002.387.741	7.07E-20	4.91E-17	Bacteroidota	Adhaeribacter	OTU02
ASV447	-7.443.811.792	0.00234992	0.025481965	Bacteroidota	Adhaeribacter	OTU08
ASV52	-3.037.371.741	0.00356632	0.033000919	Bacteroidota	Adhaeribacter	OTU08
ASV467	7.878.556.731	0.00036789	0.008802526	Actinobacteriota	Angustibacter	OTU34
ASV998	-5.958.935.784	0.00381971	0.034426994	Proteobacteria	Azospirillum	OTU51
ASV386	8.100.113.991	0.00109604	0.016903372	Firmicutes	Bhargavaea	OTU20
ASV510	7.793.483.203	0.00162064	0.020994777	Actinobacteriota	Blastococcus	OTU32
ASV723	-667.327.968	0.00478944	0.041035222	Actinobacteriota	Blastococcus	OTU37
ASV1026	6.469.105.239	0.00601348	0.048527125	Acidobacteriota	Bryobacter	OTU11

Table 2. Clustering of ASVs into OTUs showing the different ecotypes at the Genus level.

ASV439	7.924.458.799	0.00124586	0.018396402	Acidobacteriota	Bryobacter	OTU12
ASV675	7.194.339.537	0.00289598	0.029127665	Acidobacteriota	Bryobacter	OTU13
ASV287	8.723.238.877	5.82E-05	0.00252357	Acidobacteriota	Bryobacter	OTU14
ASV880	6.642.245.509	0.00513202	0.043434473	Acidobacteriota	Bryobacter	OTU15
ASV513	7.563.370.868	0.00188785	0.022496537	Acidobacteriota	Bryobacter	OTU16
ASV872	6.903.442.751	0.00409788	0.035998813	Acidobacteriota	Bryobacter	OTU17
ASV1029	-6.172.149.347	0.00319827	0.03082778	Acidobacteriota	Bryobacter	OTU61
ASV161	9.027.863.954	8.94E-06	0.000533968	Crenarchaeota	CandidatusNitrososphaer	OTU10
ASV86	9.764.208.628	1.63E-08	3.78E-06	Crenarchaeota	CandidatusNitrososphaer	OTU10
ASV144	-8.951.007.554	9.37E-06	0.000533968	Verrucomicrobiota	CandidatusUdaeobacter	OTU46
ASV468	7.593.605.443	0.00218553	0.024864917	Cyanobacteria	ChlorogloeopsisPCC-	OTU43
ASV402	8.055.803.783	0.00101077	0.016310257	Proteobacteria	Ellin6055	OTU52
ASV280	8.713.467.109	0.00025952	0.006927396	Bacteroidota	Flavisolibacter	OTU03
ASV504	-745.626.453	0.00061453	0.012185318	Bacteroidota	Flavisolibacter	OTU03

ASV518	7.554.872.067	0.00048728	0.010567932	Bacteroidota	Flavisolibacter	OTU03
ASV114	9.702.695.164	6.10E-07	0.000105751	Bacteroidota	Flavisolibacter	OTU05
ASV196	9.021.944.496	6.80E-09	2.36E-06	Bacteroidota	Flavisolibacter	OTU05
ASV644	-6.895.353.724	0.00389242	0.034632625	Bacteroidota	Flavisolibacter	OTU05
ASV113	970.713.387	0.00016530	0.004987895	Bacteroidota	Flavisolibacter	OTU26
ASV463	-7.328.995.525	0.00254983	0.026811935	Actinobacteriota	Klenkia	OTU06
ASV806	6.810.089.968	0.00138488	0.019827162	Actinobacteriota	Klenkia	OTU06
ASV12	-1.202.178.341	0.00025332	0.006927396	Actinobacteriota	Leifsonia	OTU35
ASV502	-7.207.834.559	0.00075478	0.012776035	Actinobacteriota	Marmoricola	OTU30
ASV601	7.552.738.577	0.00266575	0.027612474	Proteobacteria	Methylobacterium	OTU66
ASV742	7.076.849.883	0.00025664	0.006927396	Proteobacteria	Methylobacterium	OTU69
ASV177	9.056.765.351	1.00E-05	0.000533968	Proteobacteria	Microvirga	OTU01
ASV182	8.918.555.994	0.00013070	0.004471246	Proteobacteria	Microvirga	OTU01
ASV2	1.527.695.855	2.94E-06	0.000340176	Proteobacteria	Microvirga	OTU01

ASV937	-6.180.520.627	0.00015237	0.00480665	Proteobacteria	Microvirga	OTU09
ASV775	-6.559.330.281	0.00546198	0.045126356	Proteobacteria	Microvirga	OTU58
ASV765	6.915.299.199	0.00381535	0.034426994	Proteobacteria	Microvirga	OTU59
ASV691	7.154.190.819	0.00308195	0.03024589	Proteobacteria	Microvirga	OTU60
ASV577	7.475.465.138	0.00223038	0.024914392	Proteobacteria	Microvirga	OTU71
ASV372	8.295.817.404	0.00068680	0.012543214	Actinobacteriota	Modestobacter	OTU36
ASV268	-8.229.465.201	1.32E-05	0.000654396	Actinobacteriota	NA	OTU04
ASV340	8.403.517.665	0.00011636	0.004250329	Actinobacteriota	NA	OTU04
ASV612	7.496.848.776	0.00064923	0.01241893	Actinobacteriota	NA	OTU04
ASV559	7.478.541.671	0.00212096	0.02453249	Actinobacteriota	NA	OTU07
ASV642	-7.018.275.827	0.00348468	0.032680732	Actinobacteriota	NA	OTU07
ASV10	0.968837379	0.00241243	0.025757345	Proteobacteria	NA	OTU09
ASV575	7.386.712.367	0.00226168	0.024914392	Planctomycetota	NA	OTU18
ASV129	9.456.386.788	2.26E-06	0.000313502	Crenarchaeota	NA	OTU21

ASV832	6.770.665.791	0.00147459	0.02006611	Bacteroidota	NA	OTU23
ASV646	-6.830.087.267	0.00422138	0.03662055	Bacteroidota	NA	OTU24
ASV648	7.297.200.522	0.00075072	0.012776035	Bacteroidota	NA	OTU25
ASV792	-6.623.306.592	0.00058606	0.011962696	Bacteroidota	NA	OTU27
ASV600	-7.010.006.089	0.00103408	0.016310257	Chloroflexi	NA	OTU29
ASV411	-7.672.213.113	0.00041526	0.009296485	Actinobacteriota	NA	OTU41
ASV481	-7.338.886.645	0.00066210	0.01241893	Bacteroidota	NA	OTU45
ASV804	6.735.572.177	0.0013999	0.019827162	Acidobacteriota	NA	OTU48
ASV406	8.084.518.901	0.00100741	0.016310257	Proteobacteria	NA	OTU50
ASV359	8.207.643.783	0.00073949	0.012776035	Proteobacteria	NA	OTU62
ASV281	8.476.349.542	5.48E-06	0.000475323	Proteobacteria	NA	OTU65
ASV15	-1.065.445.622	0.00587510	0.047968488	Proteobacteria	NA	OTU70
ASV709	7.030.952.937	0.00332679	0.031627307	Proteobacteria	Psychroglaciecola	OTU57
ASV451	779.444.607	0.00145202	0.02006611	Proteobacteria	Psychroglaciecola	OTU63

AS	SV655	7.408.746.585	0.00275515	0.028118742	Proteobacteria	Psychroglaciecola	OTU64
AS	SV524	7.569.383.544	0.00052942	0.011134027	Proteobacteria	Psychroglaciecola	OTU67
AS	V516	7.825.403.349	0.00155321	0.020729421	Proteobacteria	Psychroglaciecola	OTU68
AS	V176	9.123.431.455	6.68E-06	0.000514944	Actinobacteriota	Quadrisphaera	OTU33
AS	SV71	3.497.859.615	0.0012116	0.01827935	Acidobacteriota	RB41	OTU49
AS	V452	7.859.349.339	0.00033163	0.008524141	Gemmatimonadota	Roseisolibacter	OTU19
AS	V389	-7.716.973.231	0.00039760	0.009197917	Actinobacteriota	Rubrobacter	OTU38
AS	V568	-7.166.044.301	0.00309432	0.03024589	Actinobacteriota	Rubrobacter	OTU39
AS	W751	-6.571.252.705	0.00538196	0.045000991	Actinobacteriota	Rubrobacter	OTU40
AS	W662	-6.765.090.733	0.00183513	0.022496537	Bacteroidota	Rufibacter	OTU22
AS	V275	-8.170.626.328	0.00013529	0.004471246	Bacteroidota	Segetibacter	OTU28
AS	W369	-7.858.933.945	0.00035644	0.008802526	Bacteroidota	Segetibacter	OTU44
AS	V213	-8.494.581.118	4.28E-06	0.000424301	Actinobacteriota	Solirubrobacter	OTU42
AS	V433	-7.572.910.795	0.00191253	0.022496537	Proteobacteria	Sphingomonas	OTU53

ASV219	9.035.643.333	1.86E-05	0.000860438	Proteobacteria	Sphingomonas	OTU54
ASV545	7.779.084.243	0.00166385	0.020994777	Proteobacteria	Sphingomonas	OTU55
ASV443	-7.503.883.142	8.83E-05	0.003605056	Proteobacteria	Sphingomonas	OTU56
ASV906	6.683.697.747	0.00165798	0.020994777	Actinobacteriota	Streptomyces	OTU31

APPENDIX 2

ARG	Resistance mechanism	Original ARG host	Number of ARGs	Number of occurrences	
AAC(3')-la	inactivation by acetyltransferase	clinical strain of Pseudomonas aeruginosa	1	2	
TEM-116 β- lactamase	class A β-lactamase, hydrolyses the peptide bond of β-lactam antibiotics	clinical strain of Escherichia coli	1	5	
MRG family Description	Resistance mechanism	Co-selection compounds	Number of MRGs	Number of occurrences	
MexK	enhanced Efflux	triclosan, tetracycline and macrolides	1	5	
arsC	enzymatic detoxification	arsenic, 3 rd generation cephalosporins	1	5	

Table 1. Acquired antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) and the metal resistance genes (MRGs) involved in co-selection of resistance determinants



Figure 1. PCA (principle component analysis) ordination of Euclidian distances between ARGs in the mid-rainfall (MR) and high-rainfall zones (HR).

APPENDIX 3

Supplementary material for:

A clinically important, plasmid-borne antibiotic resistance gene (β-Lactamase TEM-116) present in desert soils.

Yashini Naidoo¹, Angel Valverde Portal², Errol D Cason³, Rian E Pierneef⁴, Don A Cowan¹

¹Department of Biochemistry, Genetics and Microbiology, University of Pretoria, Lynnwood Road, Pretoria

0002, South Africa

²Department of Microbial, Biochemical and Food Technology, University of the Free State, Nelson Mandela

Drive, Bloemfontein 9300, South Africa

³Department of Animal, Wildlife and Grassland Science, University of the Free State, Nelson Mandela Drive,

Bloemfontein 9300, South Africa

⁴Biotechnology Platform, Agricultural Research Council, Soutpan Road, Onderstepoort Campus, Pretoria 0110,

South Africa

This file contains:

Table S1: TEM-116 and total ARG frequencies and relative abundances found across samples

Table S2. BLAST output values for antibiotic resistance gene TEM-116 (accession no: AY425988.1), metal resistance gene arsC (accession no: BAA24824.1) and plasmid replicon ColRNAI.

Figure S1: Blast Ring Image Generator (BRIG) representation of the contig alignment from all the samples reporting the acquired TEM-116 gene.

sampies					
Sample	Predicted genes*	<i>bla</i> TEM- 116	Total ARGs	Relative abundance TEM- 116 ^a	Relative abundance ARGs ^b
S102018	653 463	7	121	0.057	1.85e-04
S142018	655 042	5	159	0.031	2.42e-04
S182018	758 240	22	172	0.127	2.26e-04
S202018	749 007	9	135	0.067	1.80e-04

Table S1. TEM-116 and total ARG frequencies and relative abundances found across samples

*Genes were predicted using Prodigal v2.6.3. aRelative abundance is calculated as the total number of blaTEM-116 divided by the total number of ARGs per sample. bRelative abundance is calculated as the total number of ARGs divided by the total number of genes predicted per sample.

Sample	Query	Subject	% Identity	Alignment	Mismatches	Query	Subject	% Query	% Subject	E-value
	(contig)			length		length	Length	Length	gene	
				(bp)		(bp)	(bp)	aligned	aligned	
S102018	Contig 1	<i>bla</i> TEM-116	100	861	0	3425	861	25	100	0
	Contig 1	arsC	93.8	339 ^a	7	3425	393	9.8	86	5.12e-59
	Contig 1	ColRNAI	90	131	11	3425	131	4	100	4.34e-35
S142018	Contig 2	<i>bla</i> TEM-116	100	861	0	3374	861	25	100	0
	Contig 2	arsC	93.8	339 ^a	7	3374	393	10	86	5.4e-59
	Contig 2	ColRNAI	90	131	11	3374	131	3.83	100	4.27e-35
S182018	Contig 3	<i>bla</i> TEM-116	100	861	0	3072	861	25	100	0
	Contig 3	arsC	93.8	339 ^a	7	3072	393	11	86	5.27e-59
	Contig 3	ColRNAI	90	131	11	3072	131	4.26	100	3.89e-35
S202018	Contig 4	<i>bla</i> TEM-116	100	861	0	3425	861	25	100	0
	Contig 4	arsC	93.8	339 ^a	7	3425	393	9.8	86	5.12e-59
	Contig 4	ColRNAI	90	131	11	3425	131	3.82	100	4.34e-35

Table S2. BLAST output values for antibiotic resistance gene TEM-116 (accession no: AY425988.1), metal resistance gene arsC (accession no: BAA24824.1) and plasmid replicon ColRNAI.

^aMetal resistance genes were compared against a protein database, however the blast output for arsC was converted into nucleotides for the purpose of this table.



Figure S1. Blast Ring Image Generator (BRIG) representation of the contig alignment from all the samples reporting the acquired TEM-116 gene. The labels of the contigs in comparison to Figure 1. are as follows (S102018 – Contig 1, S142018 – Contig 2, S182018 – Contig 3, S202018 – Contig 4).